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CORPORATE INFORMATION
nEER
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HIGHLIGHTS
=]

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the year ended 31st March

MBERE

BE=HA=1—HIFFE

2018
—E-N\E

HK$ million

Revenue
Gross profit
Operating profit/(loss)

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of
the Company

Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary
share (HK cents)

Proposed final dividend per ordinary
share (HK cents)

Gross profit margin
Operating profit/(loss) margin

Net profit/(loss) margin

2019

—E-hE

HK$ million

BE#T

WA 2,882.6

EF 275.1

R (BE) 74.3

KNG B AN

wH (B8) 13.9
FREBBER

&F/(EE) CBI) 2.17
EHERLER

RERE B (BL) 2.00

ESE 9.5%

mERF (R % 2.6%

T A (EE) X 0.5%

REVENUE BY LINES OF BUSINESS

Construction Materials
@ Building and Design Solutions
® Engineering Plastics

® Property Investment and Project Management

@ Unallocated

BFEER ZWA

FREMFL
@ EHREMMRANE
@ LiZBR
o FHEREKRIAREE
o KnE

0.1%

3.5%

12.0%

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA

BEEET

3,032.9
197.6

(90.7)

(147.7)

(23.02)

1.57

6.5%

(3.0%)
(4.9%)

2018/19

-5.0%
+39.2%

N/ATE

N/AE

+25.19 cents 1Ll

+27.4%

+30p.p. B
+5.6 p.p. AN E
+5.4 p.p. BNE

75.1%



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEMBRE

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated AR ARBEAERERAR([ARTF]) REWE
financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings ANl AEE DR TISFEE 2 LB ZEEH
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the BHRERE -

“Group”) for the respective years as hereunder stated.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FeElEEK

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Bz BE Hz Bz BE

—§-nE -F-\F C—T+F -TAF "3-5f
SHSr=0 ZH=E—B ZEAZ=r—B ZHZ B8 ZH=—E

JI: 355 IEFE ILEE ILEE L&

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT FET FAT FET FET

Revenue BA 2,882,605 3,032,852 3,022,923 3,380,161 3,868,393

Operating profit/(loss) LERF/(B18) 74,268 (90,680) 400,749 212,535 347,968

Net finance costs FUBER (75,718) (65,698) (117,121) (63,339) (55,267)
Share of results of associates JEfRBE& N A2 4

— net — 38 — — — (7,364) (1,056)
Share of results of [EBILAE DR EE

joint venture — net — FE8 19,276 14,366 (36,511) 4,437 1,930

Profit/(loss) before income tax BT ERATEF,/ (EE) 17,826 (142,012) 247,117 146,269 293,575

Income tax (expense)/credit  FifEH (i) /H% (13,447) 1,772 (147,981) (75,005) (74,309)

Profit/(loss) for the year FERA/(BE) 4,379 (140,240) 99,136 71,264 219,266

Attributable to: JE{E -

— Owners of the Company ~ — AQRHAA 13,888 (147,712) 101,776 70,105 215,533

— Non-controlling interests ~ — ZE#ZH| 1 E (9,509) 7,472 (2,640) 1,159 3,733

4,379 (140,240) 99,136 71,264 219,266

Dividends %8 12,825 10,057 30,490 17,950 46,785

Annual Report 2018/19 £ 2§ 5



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEMBRE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL mE KRR E
POSITION
As at As at As at As at As at
31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2019 2018 2015
R-B-NE RZZ-NF S NZ—E—7 S
=ZA=+-B =R=+-H =+—H =f+—H o e =!
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE 1,907,672 1,604,281 1,581,056 2,110,217 1,549,725
Current assets MEEE 1,088,949 1,527,607 1,802,843 1,421,542 1,372,081
Current liabilities e EE (1,070,938)  (1,350,186)  (1,666,950)  (1,118,640)  (1,118,052)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (812,247) (694,261) (586,051)  (1,351,616) (731,653)
Net assets BEFE 1,113,436 1,087,441 1,130,898 1,061,503 1,072,101
Equity: B
Share capital P A 64,123 64,055 64,188 64,064 63,227
Reserves [ 926,223 993,648 1,045,323 995,360 1,007,954
Capital and reserves VNG
attributable to owners of BB AN
the Company BB K Gt 990,346 1,057,703 1,109,511 1,059,424 1,071,181
Non-controlling interests SIS 123,090 29,738 21,387 2,079 920
Total equity ERBE 1,113,436 1,087 441 1,130,898 1,061,503 1,072,101

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITREMES

Property value-added investor with regional niche
tapping into booming economic regions

EEETSER EHEREREE
R AL E

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRMEE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong
Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (“HKSHA”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), it is my pleasure to
present the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
year ended 31st March 2019 (the “Year”).

After taking time in its business transformation, the Group
has now become a real estate value-added investor with
outstanding capabilities and proven track record. Looking
back, the Group was able to dispose three real estate
projects, namely The Point Jing’an (disposed in March 2014),
Central Park Putuo (disposed in March 2017) and Park Lane
(disposed in September 2017), all at a gain with an internal
rate of return of not less than 20% and an equity multiple of
1.7 or above. Meanwhile, for the two projects on hand, namely
Central Park Pudong and Central Park Jing’an (formerly known
as Longyu International Plaza), the Group was able to raise
their occupancy rate and rental fee significantly after taking
over in management. While increased the occupancy rate of
Central Park Pudong from 0% to peak at approximately 91%
in 2 years, the Group was also able to boost the average
rental fee per square meter per day of Central Park Jing’an
from RMB6.31 to RMB7.04 after acquisition, with its maximum
rental fee reaching RMB8.6/sg.m. per day. Such track
record demonstrates the Group’s capability in real estate
revitalization, as well as market recognition of its presence
and effort.

Property value-added requires a wide range of network and
expertise, essentially forming a high entry barrier. It requires a
talent pool with an eye to undervalued projects, a proprietary
pipeline, a team to carry out the suitable upgrade and
improvement works, an array of staff members to market the
properties for rental income and tenant upgrade, and insightful
decision-makers to identify the best window and consideration
for disposals. Yet, the Group’s seasoned management team
has empowered it to drive forward, as some had previously
taken key roles at major real estate developers. Through their
active participation, the Group not only meets, but breaks
through the barriers, in terms of human capital.

Project financing represents another major hurdle for other real
estate value-added players. However, in HKSHA, the Group is
able to leverage its listing status to tap into various financing
channels. By considering its established presence in both
Shanghai and Hong Kong, the Group is also able to leverage
its regional resources, and seek strategic collaboration with
established players such as sovereign funds in meeting the
capital requirement. This is highlighted by the Group’s recent

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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success in establishing a co-investment venture with Reco
Wisteria Private Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of GIC (Realty) Private Limited which is wholly-owned by the
Minister for Finance of the Government of Singapore) in an
attempt to create opportunities for the Group to participate in
multiple, larger projects and further diversify its investment
portfolio.

With such solid foundation in place, the Group will continue
to explore more project opportunities in Shanghai and Hong
Kong in the future. Rooted in the two respective economic hub
in the Yangtze River Delta and the Greater Bay Area where
cumulative GDP reached approximately RMB28.66 trillion in
2018, the Group is well-positioned to pick out projects with
potential, seek further strategic partnerships, build on its
revitalization expertise, derive synergies from the two areas,
and eventually, to repay the faith from its shareholders in the
form of dividends.

Apart from the positive performance recorded for the Property
Investment and Project Management Business, the Group’s
Construction Materials Business also achieved a turnaround
for the Year and showed encouraging signs to trend upwards.
In the future, the Group will continue to drive market adoption
and transform the Hong Kong construction industry into a safer
and more efficient landscape. On the other hand, Building and
Design Solutions Business also performed well through the
successful tender of a list of premium commercial property
and hotel projects. Supported by other contributing segments
together with the thriving Property Investment and Project
Management Business, this would ensure the Group to have a
balanced, sustainable growth in the foreseeable future.

| would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude
to my fellow Board members for their contributions, to all staff
for their dedication and hard work, and to our shareholders
for their unequivocal support under the ever-changing market
environment. The Group will continue to embrace excellence,
and strive to deliver sustainable and greater returns to its
shareholders and stakeholders.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2019

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BRI W R D

Proven track record as property value-added investor
to drive sustainable return

EEHERERELBEERRESR
PREREVHERRZED

OVERVIEW HME

For the year ended 31st March 2019 (the “Year”), the Group RBEE-_ZE-NAF=A=1+—BLEE(LXE
recorded a profit attributable to owners of the Company of E1)  REBESER AL 2,882,600,000 7T © A&
approximately HK$13.9 million on revenue of approximately ANEHEAE A BTG F 49 513,900,000 7T %
HK$2,882.6 million, versus a loss attributable to owners FERS U ALY 3,032,900,00087C * RARIEESR A
of the Company of approximately HK$147.7 million on FEIRE51E 45 147,700,0008 7T  sm Mg = EH
revenue of approximately HK$3,032.9 million last year. The REMERE RTEB B1EEBWEIE A K EEN
increase in profit was mainly due to increase in revenue of BEBEPPTE - EMA % 275,100,000 87T » 12
Property Investment and Project Management Business and FRLIEMA39.2% » MEMEKAEFL6.5%
recovery of Construction Materials Business. Gross profit was MEX9.5% °

approximately HK$275.1 million, up approximately 39.2% year-

on-year while gross profit margin increased to approximately

9.5% from approximately 6.5% last year.

The basic earnings per ordinary share was HK2.17 cents for Y EFSREBEBREAREIEA23.028(l - AF
the Year, versus the basic loss per ordinary share of HK23.02 ErvEREEKRERENE217 B o
cents last year.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK2.00 cents EFxedZRRNAFEFRTAEK2.008I(=F
(2018: HK1.57 cents) per ordinary share for the Year. — )\ 157 B RAFRE ©

12 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

Established presence in major economic regions in China
to capture opportunities with quality and higher retum

REVERFEETEEE®WE
HEBERESRHR ZEE

During the Year, the Group has achieved great success in its
Property Investment and Project Management Business under
its project management arm Hongkong and Shanghai Land
Capital Ltd. (together with its affiliated companies, collectively
“HSL”). Based on its past excellent record in identifying
projects with great potential for upgrade and implementing
renovation and leasing plan impeccably, the Group is able to
attract other investors to explore cooperation opportunities.
During the Year, the Group has completed the formation
of a co-investment venture (the “JV”) with Reco Wisteria
Private Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of GIC
(Realty) Private Limited (“GIC”) which is wholly-owned by
the Minister for Finance of the Government of Singapore), in
order to further diversify its investment portfolio and provide
an opportunity for the Group to participate in multiple larger
size investment projects. GIC is a global long-term investor
and among the largest real estate investors worldwide.
Partnering with GIC would yield goodwill and enhance the
Group’s reputation, while providing flexibility to the Group’s
capital allocation. These achievements have demonstrated
the effectiveness of our Property Investment and Project
Management Business model, in which we have been devoting
our efforts in value-added renovation, offering design expertise
and product application knowledge, as well as cultivating
supplier relationship.

In addition, through our value enhancement and tenant
upgrade effort for our wholly-owned Central Park Pudong,
a 12-storey (plus basement level) office building with a
total gross area of about 33,191 sg.m. located in Pudong,
Shanghai, China, we were able to achieve an increase in rental
revenue, with its occupancy rate increased from approximately
76% as of 31st March 2018 to approximately 85% in June
2019.

MRAFE  AEEFAHBREEARESES
RERAFCGEREBB AR - SiEESE])
EEHMERERERE EEXBHEIVGFE KK °
ERTEMEEBEERELENNIEERTEEE
B REEHETH RIFES  AEEEHR
SIEMIREERREIEHRE - RAFE - X5E
EiReco Wisteria Private Limited (E /A& Minister
for Finance of the Government of Singapore &
B YA GIC (Realty) Private Limited ([GIC )&
THHEE2EMBRARKIARKRERX(EE
RNED  SEREENKREEAEEZ Tl - WIRHES
HZIERAREBENKE - GICRAKREKRE
EF OREHEANEHEREEZ — - HGICA
ER AR RSBy BEREE  AKAREEN
BERSERHEZN - SEAMRBATRMOEH
ERENRBEEBEBEANERMN  WRRTH
MG ERE RHEERTRERERMH - A
REEREEBEREZITENE S -

o - BBERARMEEEE 2P BEBR(GIR
FEESTHEREZ Bt -_EBEs(ER—BHTE)
ZEBAE - BREEMBELAIZ191FHK)ZE
BERECEBEFEAS  HASUNESHSKA - &
FHEERY - NF=ZA=+—HAPT76%EE —
E—NFRNALB5% o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE WK DA

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Investment and Project Management
Business

We are a leading real estate investor/manager. Our Property
Investment and Project Management Business consists of (i)
direct acquisitions of properties for investment such as our
wholly-owned Central Park Pudong which generates rental
income and appreciation in fair value to the Group; and (ii)
investments in properties via partnerships or investment funds
where the Group takes equity stake and HSL acts as a general
partner and/or investment manager to earn fee income.

The core value of our Property Investment and Project
Management Business lies on the ability of the property team
to generate and unlock value for property projects through
alternations and additions works and provision of active
property services. HSL has a team of industry veterans and
proven track record in asset revitalisation and optimisation.
HSL provides integrated value-add framework which involves
re-positioning, re-development, re-leasing and refurbishment
of commercial assets. It carries out value enhancement works
on the properties and their surrounding common areas at a
minimum renovation cost, while implementing successfully
leasing strategy to remix tenants in order to secure premium
tenants and drive up rental income, with the eventual target
of generating significant capital gains for the Group’s
investments. The team members of HSL have substantial
business experience in Greater China, and HSL has built a
strong business network with leading state-owned enterprises,
local governments and property developers in Mainland China.

The Group focuses on office properties in Shanghai, which is
the most developed, financial and economic center of China.
Its steady-growing GDP, driven by tertiary industries such
as finance, technology and advanced businesses, along
with initiatives such as Shanghai Free Trade Zone and the
Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect introduced by the Central
Government, have together generated sustainable demand
in premium-grade offices, which lead to an increasing rental
level.

The occupancy rate of our wholly-owned investment property
— Central Park Pudong increased from approximately 76% as
of 31st March 2018 to approximately 85% in June 2019. Based
on a valuation report issued by an independent international
property valuer, the carrying amount of this investment
property was approximately HK$1,404.9 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB1,206.0 million), resulted in a valuation gain
of HK$108.9 million and a deferred tax liability of HK$27.2
million for the Year.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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BMEERENREDETESERR 2 HAERH
TE—N\FZAZT+—HYTREE_T—NF
NB#185% - IRIEB BB EGERME AN
ERE  ZEEWENREEL A 1,404,900,000
BIT(HEE R AR 1,206,000,0007T) * BARE
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27,200,000 7T ©



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In June 2018, the Group successfully set up the JV with
Reco Wisteria Private Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of GIC, with an initial fund size of US$350.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$2.7 billion) for the purposes
of acquiring under-utilized office buildings in prime locations
in Shanghai with value-add potential, and implementing value
enhancement with efficient capital expenditure and other asset
management initiatives. As of 31st March 2019, the Group has
an effective equity stake of 9.3% in the JV. The JV completed
its first investment in Longyu International Plaza in September
2018 and subsequently rebranded it as Central Park Jing’an
(“Central Park Jing’an”). Central Park Jing’an, with a total
gross area of about 58,601 sq.m., is a Grade A-office building
conveniently located in Jing’an District, Shanghai with direct
access to 3 metro lines. HSL completed the renovation of
the project in May 2019 to uplift the quality and recruit new
tenants to enhance both rental yield and occupancy. The
Group shared profit of approximately HK$20.7 million from its
investment in the JV for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE WK DA

During the Year, our Property Investment and Project
Management Business recorded a profit before income tax of
approximately HK$82.5 million on revenue of approximately
HK$100.0 million, versus a profit before income tax of
approximately HK$33.9 million on revenue of approximately
HK$63.0 million last year. The year-on-year increase in
revenue was mainly due to the increase of occupancy rate in
our wholly-owned Central Park Pudong and our investment
management income from the JV for the Year. The increase of
profit before income tax was mainly due to fair value gain of
HK$108.9 million from Central Park Pudong and its valuation
was HK$1,404.9 million as of 31st March 2019.

Building and Design Solutions Business

Our Building and Design Solutions Business provides a
comprehensive value proposition that includes design,
installation, inventory management, logistics as well as
technical support of bathroom and kitchen products to
developers, architects, designers and distributor partners.
As one of the established players in the market, we offer
an expansive product portfolio covering various well-known
brands.

During the Year, the Building and Design Solutions Business
recorded a profit before income tax of approximately HK$21.9
million on revenue of approximately HK$346.8 million,
versus a profit before income tax of approximately HK$24.9
million on revenue of approximately HK$330.1 million last
year. The increase in revenue was mainly due to increase in
contributions from real estate and hotel projects in Hong Kong
and Macau for the Year. The decrease of profit before income
tax was mainly due to a bad debt provision of approximately
HK$2.2 million recorded for the Year.

Construction Materials Business

Construction Materials Business comprises Hong Kong
construction products processing and distribution, steel
recycling, reinforcing bar processing and assembly business
conducted through our wholly-owned VSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited, and PRC surface critical coil processing and
distribution business. During the Year, the Group continued to
encounter different challenges, both from the steel market as
well as the global economy, including the continuous adverse
fluctuations of steel price, the negative impact arising from the
trade conflicts between major trade nations, projects delay in
Hong Kong, as well as slow but ongoing transition from on-
site cut-and-bend to offsite prefabricated steel reinforcement
component.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Construction Materials Business recorded
a total revenue of approximately HK$2,164.6 million, down
approximately 3.0% compared with last year, main reason
being the decrease in tons sold by approximately 12.1% due
to infrastructure projects delay in Hong Kong.

Profit before income tax of Construction Materials Business
was approximately HK$20.6 million for the Year, versus a loss
before income tax of approximately HK$120.9 million last year,
mainly due to the increase in sales orders for our reinforcing
bar processing and assembly business and reversal of
provision for onerous contracts of approximately HK$40.7
million for the Year because of the recoup of profit margin for
our outstanding sales contract orders as of 31st March 2019.

Engineering Plastics Business

The Engineering Plastics Business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$268.7 million, down by approximately 29.0%
as compared with last year, with tons sold also decreased
by approximately 36.9%, as we moved away from customers
where margins were too low or credit risk was high, and
focused on high growth segments. This business recorded
a loss before income tax of approximately HK$7.4 million for
the Year, versus a profit before income tax of approximately
HK$14.8 million last year, primarily due to a translation loss
of HK$6.2 million resulting from RMB depreciation against
USD and HKD. Discounting this translation loss of HK$6.2
million for the Year (2018: translation gain of HK$5.2 million),
the Engineering Plastics Business achieved a loss before
income tax of about HK$1.2 million, down by HK$10.8 million
compared to a profit before income tax of HK$9.6 million last
year. This drop in profit before income tax was mainly due to
lower sales and re-organisation expenses of approximately
HK$0.8 million for the close down of our Guangzhou and
Xiamen sales offices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE WK DA

OUTLOOK

Property Investment and Project Management
Business

As Shanghai continues its transformation of becoming a
global hub, through upgrading its innovative manufacturing
and becoming the host of various international events, it is
expected that there will be a massive increase in demand for
commercial buildings. Targeting to unleash such potentials,
we will continue to focus on the Shanghai market for good
property investment opportunities. The Group will also
continue to provide one-stop solutions for revitalizing under-
performing commercial buildings to valuable assets under the
professional team of HSL.

Building and Design Solutions Business

We will continue to roll out our segment based growth strategy
for our Building and Design Solutions Business in Hong Kong
and Macau. Our latest line of sanitary products will allow us
to capture market opportunities arose from changing housing
size and needs in Hong Kong and the booming real estate
and hotel industry in Macau.

Our brand partners continue to have a strong market presence
and our project strategy has allowed us to capture large and
iconic projects in Hong Kong and Macau.

In the future, we will also explore opportunities outside of
Hong Kong, particularly in the Greater Bay Area, where its
GDP is expected to reach US$4.62 trillion by 2030, as its
infrastructure development would bring huge demand to our
Building and Design Solutions Business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Construction Materials Business

We expect the global steel market to continue its volatile
evolution, as China’s demand continues to slow down while
production output is reduced due to environmental initiatives.
China’s steel production consolidation and its drive for cleaner
air may lead us to continue to search for supply outside of
China.

Despite the negativities in the steel market, the Group remains
optimistic in the long-term development of the construction
industry in Hong Kong, as favourable policies and government
planning were recently announced. The setting up of HK$1
billion “Construction Innovation and Technology Fund”
together with the government’'s proactive promotion in
adoption of technology and innovative construction methods
to improve quality, productivity and cost-effectiveness should
expedite the transformation of the construction industry, and
specifically, encouraging the adoption of factory cut-and-bend
production, and create opportunities for the Group to capture,
as it continues its downward migration along the value chain
by providing one-stop solutions covering the processing,
logistics and new product needs.

Furthermore, to realise the vast potentials from the flourishing
Hong Kong construction sector and the Greater Bay area, the
Group has acquired the remaining stake of VSC Construction
Steel Solutions Limited from NatSteel Holdings Pte. Ltd. in May
2018. This allows the Group to further integrate its process
flow of combining steel trading and steel processing into one,
and to fully enjoy the upcoming infrastructure boom as well as
the increasing emphasis of off-site, pre-fabricated construction
materials in Hong Kong. The Group is able to streamline its
sales, marketing and operational function and further reduce
its overhead cost as to lay a solid foundation for its profit
margin. In addition, the Group will continue to actively pursue
other marketing and promotional activities to drive order
volume and utilization. These combined moves would lay a
solid foundation of rebound of this business in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN W R
Engineering Plastics Business

Our Engineering Plastics Business has been undergoing a
major re-organisation over the past three years, as we moved
away from segments such as toys, and moved towards to
segments such as home appliances, consumer electronics
and automotive, while changing our offer to include higher
margin products and services. We will continue to monitor our
costs and working capital closely.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial Positions

Compared with the financial year ended 31st March 2018, as
at 31st March 2019, the Group’s total assets decreased from
approximately HK$3,131.9 million to approximately HK$2,996.6
million. The Group’s inventories increased from approximately
HK$289.6 million to approximately HK$290.7 million. The
average inventory days of supply increased by 4 days to 41
days. The Group’s trade and bill receivables decreased from
approximately HK$528.2 million to approximately HK$480.5
million. The average overall day of sales outstanding
decreased from 61 days to 57 days. Net assets value of the
Group increased from approximately HK$1,087.4 million as
at 31st March 2018 to approximately HK$1,113.4 million,
equivalent to HK$1.74 per ordinary share as at 31st March
2019.

Compared with the financial position at 31st March 2018,
the Group’'s cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits, decreased by approximately HK$204.9 million to
approximately HK$165.7 million while the Group’s borrowings
decreased by approximately HK$66.3 million to approximately
HK$1,492.5 million as at 31st March 2019. Current ratio
decreased from 1.13 to 1.02, while gearing ratio (net debt,
which is total borrowings minus pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents, divided by capital and
reserves attributable to owners of the Company plus net
debt) increased from 53% to 57%. The Group will continue to
monitor its working capital closely and take various measures
on cost reduction and improvement of operational efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Resources

The Group’s financing and treasury activities are centrally
managed and controlled at the corporate level. The Group’s
overall treasury and funding policies focus on managing
financial risks including interest rate and foreign exchange
risks; on cost efficient funding of the Company and its
subsidiaries; and on yield enhancement from time to time
when the Group’s cash position allows. The Group has always
adhered to prudent financial management principles, including
the selection of investment securities according to the Group’s
treasury investment policy.

The Group’s trade financing remained primarily supported
by its bank trading and term loan facilities. As at 31st March
2019, about 55.1% of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings
for trade financing purpose and financing of investment
properties were denominated in HK dollar, about 37.2% in
RMB and about 7.7% in US dollar. These facilities are either
secured by the Group’s inventory held under short-term trust
receipts bank loan arrangement and/or pledged bank deposits
and/or corporate guarantee provided by the Company. All
of the above borrowings were on floating rate basis. Interest
costs of import bank loans were levied on interbank offered
rates plus very competitive margin. RMB loans of the Group
have been obtained from domestic and foreign banks in the
amount of RMB476.0 million. Interest costs of RMB banking
facilities were based on standard loan rates set by the
People’s Bank of China adjusted with competitive margin.

Charges on Assets

As at 31st March 2019, the Group had certain charges on
assets which included (i) bank deposits of approximately
HK$38.9 million which were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s bill payables; and (ii) an investment property of
approximately HK$1,404.9 million which were pledged as
collaterals for certain bank borrowings of the Group.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group’s businesses are primarily transacted in HK dollars,
US dollars and RMB. As exchange rate between HK dollars
and the US dollars is pegged, the Group believes its exposure
to exchange rate risk arising from US dollars is not material.
Facing the volatility of RMB, the Group will continue to match
RMB payments with RMB receipts to minimise exchange
exposure.

BEENWE DN

M EIR

AEBZRENERESHHHEANEPERERE
7o AEEERBEIEERRETNERMBE
2 BREMNERINERR - WAREREKERA]
RENAKRAB R BEN R - WREAKERS
ARAIT T AR REKREE - AEE-BERFEE
MBERRE - BRERBARBEEBREBRER
KBRS -

AEBCESRETEHERTESIREHERR
B -RN_ZT-—NFE=A=+—H AKEBU
BEIRMERKREMERERENZHMEBERLY
55.1% AB T AEE - H37.2% ANARE BE
BT 7% AETLAEE ZERERALER
RHEARERTERLZETEEZFEER SE
WIFIRITIFER N, AR EREZ A RERIEAE
18 LA EFBEBEYIRFEFEGTE - EOWRTE
HZAEEAURITRZEREXNIEBERFE N2
BENE - AEECEERARINERITESHES
AR 476,000,0007c2 ARBER - ARBIRTT
BEZFBBRIEFRARBITET 2EEER
FIEAEREZBFMATE -

AEERN

RZE—NWF=ZA=+—H A5EEETEE
EHK I8 - 8 #5 (i) 938,900,000 7T 2 R 1T 17 X
BEEARNEEMNEMNEE ZEBER  R>0)L
1,404,900,0008 7L 2 —BIEEMEBIFIEAERE
EETRITEEZEER -

BEE = 2 B % B K AH B e

AEBEZEBEIBAET  ETRARERS - #
RBTTEET MR ERE - KEBMBEEET
EENEXRRREZEEMN BHARE 2 IRE
REBFHEREAAREBRARIEAREMNR 1
AR LR E R o

Annual Report 2018/19 £ 2§

21



22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE WK DA

Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into
when suitable opportunities arise and when management of
the Group considers appropriate, to hedge against major non-
HK dollars currency exposures. It is the Group’s policy not to
enter into any derivative transaction for speculative purposes.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st March 2019, the Group’s had no material contingent
liability.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have
any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies during the Year.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We believe the Group’s financial condition, results of
operations, and business prospects may be affected by
certain risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining
to the Group’s businesses, some of which are beyond our
control. The followings are the major risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other possibly risks
and uncertainties which we are not aware of or which may not
be material at present but may turn out to be material in the
future.

Financial Risks

The Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus
on managing financial risks including interest rate, foreign
exchange and liquidity risks. The Group has always adhered
to prudent financial management principles. Facing the
volatility of RMB, the Group will match RMB payments with
RMB receipts to minimize exchange exposure. Forward foreign
exchange contracts would be entered into when suitable
opportunities arise and when management of the Group
considers appropriate, to hedge against major non-HK dollars
currency exposures. The Group always monitors cash flows
and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents
to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and
reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash flows to mitigate
liquidity risk.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operational Risk

The Group may face operational risk resulting from inadequate
or deficiency in internal processes, people and systems or
from external events. The Group has clear responsibility
and accountability rests with every function at divisional and
departmental levels. The Group are governed and guided by
good standard operating procedures, proper authorization
policies and reporting framework. Our management will
identify and assess key operational exposures from time to
time to adjust potential risk response.

Business Risk

The Group’s business performance will be affected by various
factors, including but not limited to economic conditions,
competitive environment of steel industry, performance of
property markets and regulatory changes in regions where our
business carry on or investments locate, which would not be
mitigated even with careful and prudent investment strategy
and strict procedure.

Human Capital and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract
and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and
required skills, experience and competence to meet the
business objectives and strategy. We will provide attractive
remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel.
Through training of existing personnel and hiring of new
personnel that raise the average, we continue to create a great
team capable of making sure we are one of the best long-term
investments for our shareholders and a great place to work for
our employees.

HUMAN CAPITAL

The Group is focusing on building an elite team to help lead
the Group to future success. Our growth strategy has always
included a strong sense of commitment to people. We provide
competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate the
employees. We always provide a safe and pleasant working
environment with constant learning and growth opportunities.

As at 31st March 2019, the Group employed 272 staff. Total
staff costs including contribution to retirement benefit schemes
incurred during the Year amounted to approximately HK$129.0
million. During the Year, no options have been offered and/
or granted to directors and our employees under the share
option scheme adopted on 11th August 2011.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to achieving environmental
sustainability. Our commitment to protect the environment is
well reflected by our continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in our daily business operations.

We encourage environmental protection and promote
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees.
The Group adheres to the principle of recycling and reducing.
It implements green office practices such as double-sided
printing and copying, setting up recycling bins, promoting
using recycled paper and reducing energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance.

Community Involvement

We care about the communities where we are active and
continuously support social initiatives. The Group has
sponsored and participated in a wide range of charitable
activities. Our employees have also participated in various
corporate social responsibility initiatives. We care about our
employees. We provide an enjoyable working environment
and an integrity platform to ensure employees’ well-being and
safety.

We were awarded as the “Caring Company” from The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service since 2007, as “Heart to Heart
Company” by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth Group in
2010.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has formulated a clear organisational structure
and accountability for implementation of procedures
and monitoring of risk, which help ensure adequacy and
effectiveness of controls over the reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

During the Year, as far as the Company is concerned, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish
an Environmental, Social and Governance Report within
three months after the publication of this annual report in
compliance with the provisions set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” in Appendix 27 to
the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We have a deep sense of obligation to our stakeholders.
We will consistently execute our strategies to provide
desired returns on investment and sustainable growth to our
shareholders. We recognise that employees are our valuable
assets. We hire people for attitude and invest in development
of our employees to create loyalty and love to the Company.
We understand the importance of maintaining good
relationship with our stakeholders (employees, customers,
suppliers and business partners) to achieve our long-term
goals. To accomplish this, we continue to get closer to our
stakeholders, build lasting relationship, and keep good
communication to understand their needs and share with them
our business development. During the Year, there was no
material and significant dispute between the Company and its
stakeholders.

APPRECIATION

We are grateful to our dedicated employees, loyal customers,
suppliers, banking partners and shareholders for their constant
support.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. It
believes that high standards of corporate governance provide
a framework and solid foundation for the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) to manage business
risks, enhance transparency, maintain high standards of
accountability and protect shareholders’ interest in general.
The Company has applied the principles and complied with
the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) except for CG
Code provision A.2.1 for the year ended 31st March 2019 (the
“Year”).

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to
ensure that business activities and decision making processes
are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time, as its own code of conduct (the “Company’s Model
Code”) regarding securities transactions by the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”). Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, they all confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Company’s Model Code
during the Year. The Company’s Model Code also applies
to other specified relevant employees of the Group who are
considered to be likely in possession of inside information in
respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the Year and
up to the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace (resigned on 13th December 2018)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

Mr. Li Yinquan (appointed on 5th July 2018)

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy (retired on 17th August 2018)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 57
to 60 of this annual report.

Board Process

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors
exceeding one-third of the Board. One of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. Each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent
in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. The Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material
relevant relationships with each other.

The Executive Directors are responsible for managing the
overall business. They are mainly involved in the formulation
and execution of the corporate strategies. The Independent
Non-executive Directors consist of eminent business
executives from Hong Kong and Mainland China, who provide
independent advices to the management through their wide
range of skills and experiences. The Executive Directors
have regular meetings with general managers of respective
business units and key staff of support units to discuss
major business plans and review operational and financial
performance. The Independent Non-executive Directors are
also invited to participate in special review meetings.

The Company has established four Board Committees,
namely Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee, to oversee various
aspects of the affairs.
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The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy,
annual operating budget, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the
recommendations made by the Nomination Committee),
material contracts and transactions, corporate governance
as well as other significant policy and financial matters. The
daily operations of the Group’s business are executed by
the management of the respective business units under the
instruction and supervision of the Executive Committee which
has its special written terms of reference.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group,
and to review and approve the Group’s annual and interim
results and other ad hoc matters which need to be dealt with.
Individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings
of the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee as well as general meetings during the
Year are set out below:

ﬁ% TEEEMAEERESE FEKLETE

CRERGHES  EEEORENE TR
TE%%%QE’UEE% BRAREXRS - REER

AREMEZRRNABEFTEERRLTR -
TZEERERHEMBERE  BEREERE
BB EEEREANSEER 2 BREE-

ExerHAReBNTmAREZ BEREIAL
BENUBRE  XEANMMERKREZ 2F LF
H}%%Z‘f&&ﬁ@b\ﬁﬁz%%'J%E RAFE  BE

ERNEFE  FHZES BERZEQMERZRE
gg% DA&H&%K’;Z(I%UﬁfuaﬁiﬁkﬁlJﬁDT :

Number of meetings attended/held

W/ BTEEZRY

Remuneration Audit  Nomination General
Name of Directors Board  Commitiee = Committee ~ Committee Meetings
BEEng B2 §MZEEE 2 EREEE REZEES RRAE
Executive Directors: HiTEF
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew TR 4 4/4 11 N/A NER 11 22
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) — (£EZEEHTE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Ryt 44 NATER  NATER  NATER 212
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace AL 33 NATEERE  NATER  NATEE 212
(resigned on 13th December 2018) (R=E-\E+-F1=FE)
Independent Non-executive Directors: — BUH#EH/TEE :
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny EREEL 404 11 212 11 202
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHERE 3/4 n 212 1 212
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BRAEE 44 NJATER 212 11 2/2
Mr. Li Yinquan FEIREE 33 NATER 1N NATER n
(appointed on 5th July 2018) (R=-F-\F+ARAEZE)
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy HEELE 17 17 1n NATER 212
(retired on 17th August 2018) (R=FE-N\E/\A+LHAEF)
Total Number of Meetings Held BIEREY 4 1 2 1 2
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Board meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to
give all Directors an opportunity to attend, and are structured
to encourage open discussion. At least 14 days’ notice of
a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are
given an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the
agenda. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman of the
Board in preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures that
all applicable rules and regulations are complied with. Draft
minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to all Directors
for their comment before being tabled at the following Board
meeting for approval. All minutes and resolutions of the Board
are taken and kept by the Company Secretary and these
minutes and resolutions, together with any supporting board
papers, are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

The Board members have access to appropriate business
documents and information about the Group on a timely basis.
The Directors are free to have access to the management for
enquiries and to obtain further information when required. The
Directors are encouraged to update their skills and knowledge,
and familiarity with the Group through ongoing participation at
Board and Board Committees meetings. All Directors also have
access to external legal counsel and other professionals for
independent advice at the Company’s expense if they require it.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors
shall participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company has been
encouraging the Directors and senior management to
participate in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules, applicable
regulatory requirements and corporate governance practices
organized by professional bodies and/or independent auditors
to further improve their relevant knowledge and skills.

All Directors have confirmed that they have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities
by attending seminar or conference relating to the Company’s
business or corporate governance and regulations or by
reading materials relevant to their duties and responsibilities
during the Year.
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SREARE

Participation of Directors in continuous professional
development activities for the Year is set out below:

Name of Directors

BEEfS
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew kAR e

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (T/E#EEHTE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 2 FERLE
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace BEm AL

(resigned on 13th December 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors: B UIHFHTEE :
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny EHRELE
Mr. Xu Lin Bao HMELE
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike PES S
Mr. Li Yinquan e REAE

(appointed on 5th July 2018)
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy
(retired on 17th August 2018)
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Reading Attending
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Under the
Policy, the Company recognizes and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, which would include but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional and industry experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

At present, more than half of the Directors on the Board are
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board composition
reflects various cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional development, length of service, knowledge of the
Company and a broad range of individual attributes, interests
and values. The Board considers the current composition has
provided the Company with a good balance and diversity of
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of its
business. The Board will continue to review its composition
from time to time taking into consideration specific needs for
the Group’s business.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers
within the Group.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
(i.e. the Chief Executive) is now Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew. CG
Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual. The Board believes
that the vesting of the roles of both Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in Mr. Yao will enable him to continue to
provide the Group with strong leadership, efficiency usage of
resources as well as allow for effective planning, formulation
and implementation of the Company’s business strategies
which will enable the Group to sustain the development of
its business efficiently. The day-to-day management and
operation of the Group will continue to be the responsibility
of the management team under the monitor of the Executive
Committee and Mr. Yao's leadership.

SPECIFIC TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

According to the CG Code, the non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election.
The Company’s Independence Non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of three years and shall determine upon
expiry subject to renewal by mutual agreement prior to the
expiry of the term. All Independent Non-executive Directors
(including all other Directors) are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting at least
once every three years according to the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Minutes of all committee
meetings and resolutions are taken and kept by the Company
Secretary and, together with any committee papers, are
available to all Board members. The committees are required
to report to the Board on their decision and recommendations
where appropriate.
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Executive Committee

Executive Committee has been established since March
2006 and now consists of two Executive Directors, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew as chairman and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu as a
member.

When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee
discharges the specific power and administrative functions
authorised by the Board. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the daily operations of the Group.

The Company has adopted a terms of reference of the
Executive Committee in order to conform with the provisions
set out in the CG Code and it is responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties as follows:

(i) implementing and compliance with the laws, regulations,
Listing Rules, Bye-laws and internal regulations
applicable to the Company;

(iiy providing a means for timely and accurate disclosure of
information;

(iii) ensuring effective communication with the Company’s
shareholders;

(iv) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board,;

(v) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(vii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(viii) reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Executive Committee has carried out the

duties on the corporate governance functions of the Company
in accordance with its terms of reference.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
July 2005 and as at the date of this report consists of
four members, including Mr. Xu Lin Bao (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr.
Li Yinquan, all being Independent Non-executive Directors,
and Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew, being an Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee’s role is to make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure for
Directors and senior management and to ensure that they
are fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to the
Group's overall performance, having regard to the interests of
shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee has to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management as
well as reviewing and approving management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’'s corporate goals
and objectives. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the Non-
executive Directors. No Director or any of his associates may
be involved in any decisions as to his own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of
reference that is in compliance with the CG Code. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee setting out its
authority, duties and responsibilities are available both on the
websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited (the “HKEX”").

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and determined the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and made recommendations to the Board as to the
remuneration policy and structure for senior management of
the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Remuneration Committee meeting is
stated in the table under “The Board” of this report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since December
1998 and as at the date of this report consists of four
Independent Non-executive Directors, including Mr. Tam King
Ching Kenny (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Lin
Bao, Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike and Mr. Li Yinquan. Mr. Tam
King Ching Kenny is an Independent Non-executive Director
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
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The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice
a year to review and discuss the various audit issues as
reported by the external auditor. It also reviews the interim
and annual financial statements. Additional meetings may also
be held by the Audit Committee from time to time to discuss
special projects or other issues, which the members consider
necessary.

Scope of the work of the Audit Committee is defined and
approved by the Board in relation to various internal control,
risk management and audit issues with a view to further
improve the Company’s corporate governance. The Audit
Committee has specific written terms of reference that is
in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the HKEXx.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31st March 2018 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

(i) reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the six months ended 30th September 2018 and
recommended to the Board for approval;

(iii) reviewed and discussed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company the accounting policies
and practices which may affect the Group and the scope
of the audit;

(iv) reviewed reports from the external auditor of the
Company regarding their audit on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2018 and their review on the Company’s
condensed consolidated financial statements for the six
months ended 30th September 2018;

(v) reviewed reports from the internal auditor of the Company
regarding their review on the internal control of the
Group; and

(vi) reviewed and approved the remuneration and the terms
of engagement of the Company’s auditors; and reviewed
and made recommendations to the Board on the re-
appointment of the Company’s auditors.
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The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee
meetings were held during the Year and the attendance record
of the Audit Committee meetings is stated in the table under
“The Board” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since
March 2012 and as at the date of this report consists of four
members, includes the Executive Director, being Mr. Yao Cho
Fai Andrew (chairman of Nomination Committee) and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, being Mr. Xu Lin Bao,
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating policy
and making recommendations to the Board on nominations,
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and Board
succession. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and accessing the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee has
specific written terms of reference that is in compliance
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities
are available both on the websites of the Company and the
HKEX.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the diversity, structure, size and composition of the Board,
reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
made recommendations to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Nomination
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Nomination Committee meeting is
stated in the table under “The Board” of this report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out
the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment
of Directors. Below are the criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship and nomination procedures and
the process.
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Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee shall evaluate potential
candidate(s) for election as member(s) of the Board on the
basis of the entirely of their credentials and in light of the
criteria set forth below:

(i)  character and integrity;

(iiy accomplishment, qualifications and experience relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

(iii) willingness to devote adequate time to participate in the
Board’s affairs such as attending meetings of the Board
and its committees to discharge his or her duties;

(iv) willingness and ability to represent the general best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole;

(v) diversity criteria set out in the Company’s Board Diversity
Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the
Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board;

(vi) requirements for the Board to have sufficient independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the Listing
Rules and the independence of the candidates,
if applicable, with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules; and

(vii) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

These aforesaid criteria are for reference only, and not meant
to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee
has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

Nomination and Selection Process

(i)  the Nomination Committee, based upon the needs of the
Board for additional or replacement Board members,
solicits ideas for possible candidates from a number
of sources, including capable individuals personally
known to and recommended by the members of the
Board and research undertaken by or on behalf of
the Nomination Committee or professional firms. The
Nomination Committee also considers recommendations
and nominations made by shareholders of the Company,
as described in (iv) below;
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(iiy  if one or more desirable candidate(s) is/are identified, the
Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate(s),
based on the criteria set out in above selection criteria,
and determine whether such candidate(s) is/are qualified
for directorship;

(iii) the Nomination Committee shall select and rank desirable
candidates by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company, and make recommendations to the Board
for directorship; and

(iv) for any person nominated by a shareholder for election
as a Director at any general meeting in accordance with
the Company’s Bye-laws, the Nomination Committee
shall apply the same criteria as set out in the above
selection criteria to evaluate and determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall make recommendations to shareholders in respect
of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy and make
necessary amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Nomination Policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

While the Board is and remains principally responsible for
the corporate governance functions of the Company, it has
delegated the relevant duties to the Executive Committee
to ensure the proper performance of corporate governance
functions of the Company. In this connection, the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee includes various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set out in
paragraph “Executive Committee” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, the Board and
Board Committees by ensuring good information flow within
the Board and that Board policy and procedures are followed.
The Company Secretary reports to the Board and assists the
Board in functioning effectively and efficiently. The Company
Secretary also advises the Board on governance matters
and facilitates the induction and professional development of
Directors. All Directors may call upon the Company Secretary
for advice and assistance at any time in respect to their
duties and the effective operation of the Board and the Board
Committees.
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Following the resignation of Ms. Lam Yee Fan as the Company
Secretary, Ms. Wong Yuen Sze was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 1st January 2019. She is a full time employee of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s
affairs. Ms. Wong is an associate of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries. During the Year, Ms. Wong undertook
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board and the Audit Committee are responsible for
developing and maintaining the system of internal controls of
the Group to protect shareholders’ interest and to safeguard
the Group’s assets by setting appropriate policies and
reviewing the effectiveness of major control procedures for
financial, operational, compliance and risk management areas.

During the Year, the Company has engaged an independent
professional firm to assist the Board and the Audit Committee
in ongoing monitoring and in performing the internal audit
functions for the Group. The Board and the Audit Committee
have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of
internal controls on all major operations, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions, and have considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial function, and their training programs
and budget, by reviewing the internal audit reports prepared
by the independent professional firm and management
letters submitted by external auditor. Also, the Board and the
Audit Committee met with the internal and external auditors
and management to discuss findings from their works and
recommendations.

The Company is aware of its continuing disclosure obligations
as to inside information and has a policy with regard to the
principles and procedures for handling and disseminating
the Company’s inside information in compliance with the
requirements under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and
the Listing Rules.

The Executive Committee and the designated executives
of the Company are responsible for assisting the Board in
reviewing potential inside information and assessing the need
for disclosure and to oversee the internal reporting system and
procedures. The Company has taken reasonable precautions
for preserving the confidentiality of the inside information,
including inter alia:
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(i) access to inside information is restricted to specific
persons on a need-to-know basis;

(ii) enter into appropriate confidentiality agreements when
negotiating on potential and significant transactions;

(iii) codify a strict prohibition on unauthorized use or
disclosure of inside information in employee handbook;
and

(iv) circulate reminder, from time to time, to the Directors
and specified relevant employees of the Group who are
considered to be likely in possession of inside information
their duties and obligations in respect of dealings in the
securities of the Company.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the
system of internal controls and risk management was operating
effectively during the Year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor
of the Company, provided the following services to the Group
and their respective fees charges are set out below:
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Types of services REER HK$’000

FET
Audit fee for the Group REB2EZER 2,800
Taxation services %R 128
Special engagements FRIEE 450
Total Rk 3,378

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts which were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
A statement by the auditor about its reporting responsibilities
is set out in the independent auditor’s report included in this
annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Group is committed to promoting transparency and
maintaining effective communication with shareholders,
investors, analysts and the press. The Company has
its shareholder’'s communication policy established to
ensure effective and timely dissemination of information to
shareholders and the investment community. The management
from time to time meets with existing and potential investors
to make corporate presentations. The Group also promotes
communications with non-institutional shareholders through
public announcements of key developments of the Company
as prescribed under the Listing Rules, annual general
meeting and other general meetings of the Company. Such
general meetings are presided over and led by the Chairman,
supported by other Directors. The Company’s user-friendly
website, http://www.hkshalliance.com, provides investors with
the latest news, corporate profile, business information and
financial information including announcements, circulars and
annual and interim reports.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders. The Company encourages the shareholders to
attend general meetings and the Chairmen of the Board and
the Board Committees should attend annual general meeting
(the “AGM”) to answer questions.

(A) Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If the Directors do not
within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the said date.
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A meeting convened under this section by the
requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to
be convened by Directors. Any reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists by reason of the failure of
the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall be repaid
to the requisitionists by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
shareholder(s) to make requisition to the Company
to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any
resolution which is intended to be moved at an AGM
or circulate a statement in respect of any proposed
resolution or business to be considered at a general
meeting of the Company. Under section 79 of the
Companies Act, at the expense of the requisitionists
unless the Company otherwise resolves, it shall be the
duty of the Company on the requisition in writing by such
number of shareholders:

(a) to give to the shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting;

(b) to circulate to the shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect
to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution
or the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The number of shareholders necessary to make the
abovementioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(a) either any number of shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights
of all the shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which
the requisition relates; or

(b) notless than one hundred shareholders.

(B)
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Notice of any such intended resolution shall be
given, and any such statement shall be circulated, to
shareholders entitled to have notice of the meeting sent
to them by serving a copy of the resolution or statement
on each such shareholder in any manner permitted for
service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any such
resolution shall be given to any other shareholder by
giving notice of the general effect of the resolution in
any manner permitted for giving him notice of meetings
of the Company, provided that the copy shall be served,
or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be given,
as the case may be, in the same manner and, so far as
practicable, at the same time as notice of the meeting
and, where it is not practicable for it to be served or
given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon as
practicable thereafter.

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions
to be met before the Company is bound to give any
notice of resolution or to circulate any statement.
Pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act, the
Company shall not be bound to give notice of any
resolution or to circulate any statement as mentioned in
the above unless:

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists,
or two or more copies which between them contain
the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited
at the registered office of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before the
meeting; and

(ii) in the case of any other requisition, not less
than one week before the meeting; and

(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures in the
above (i.e. the giving of notice of resolution and/or
circulation of statement).

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
registered office of the Company, an AGM is called
for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been
deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
above-mentioned time shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.
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(C) Making Enquiry

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited of 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. For other
enquiries, shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of Company Secretary by mail
to Rooms 1103-05, 11th Floor, East Town Building, 41
Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a

Director are made available at the Company’s website (http://
www.hkshalliance.com).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy which aims
to set out the approach with the objective of achieving right
balance of the amount of dividend and profits retained in the
business for various purposes.

In determining dividend payment ratio in respect of any
particular financial year or period, the Board will take into
account a desire to maintain a constant and stable dividend
level with an overall objective of maximising shareholders’
value over a longer term, and will consider the following factors
in declaring or recommending dividend to the shareholders
from time to time:

(i)  financial results of the Company and its subsidiaries;

(iiy shareholders’ interests;

(iii) general business conditions and strategies;

(iv) expected financial performance and market conditions;

(v) projected level of capital expenditures and future
investment plans;

(vi) level of cash and retained earnings;
(vii) possible effects on liquidity and financial position;

(viii) statutory and regulatory restrictions (including the laws of
Bermuda and the Company’s Bye-laws);

(ix) tax considerations; and

(x) any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

.I/J:\ g H‘-/l:l #&d:

(C) REEWN
%%ﬂ%ﬁ%%%%ﬁ$@ﬂ%@@ﬁ%%
BEEENR B BRRBSFELERA
B U ARBEFE Fkﬁ%mw%
M LATME - gt EMERME + WEA
NEEERBTHERRAG 2 ARIWE
it AR B BT T B FERANE11E
1103-05 E& ) °

RE-BESFAEZEFHIERARQ A AL
(http://www.hkshalliance.com) °

IR S BUR

RABETRMAR BB - 5 EHIAEBRE KX

RENBSRIFEEEGRERRGSFERE M
BREREY J7 & o

BT AR M REE RS R
B EFERERERENBENREKFRE
£ URAMEBEREEEERERRET LS TH
ZRATHERABRREIKSZZRRERS

(i) ARAIREMEBAFEIIEEE
(i) MR

(i) EEREEMAN B REE ;

(iv) TEERBAHSRIA RN ;

(v) FBRFEARRSKFRARKEEE,

(vi) REFMREBRBNKF,
(vii) HRBES MBI EEZE,

(vii) EZEREBERH(BEARELFIRARAE

FEHBAD;
(ix) MBEEE; X
(x) BEEZCRARPNTIAEMEZE -

Annual Report 2018/19 £ 2§

43



44

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The actual dividend that the Board may declare or recommend
in respect of any particular financial year or period will be
subject to the factors under the Dividend Policy and there can
be no assurance that dividend will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any particular financial year or period.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy and make necessary

amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
the Dividend Policy.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2019
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REPORECEEHEBRIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents its
annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March 2019 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in stockholding and
distribution of construction materials such as steel products;
trading of sanitary wares, kitchen cabinets and engineering
plastics; steel recycling and property investment and project
management businesses.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment information by
business segments and geographical markets are set out in
Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 70 of this annual
report.

The Board has recommended payment of a final dividend
of HK2.00 cents per ordinary share of HK$0.10 each in the
capital of the Company (the “Share”), totally approximately
HK$12,825,000 (2018: HK$10,057,000), for the Year. Subject
to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 14th August 2019
(the “2019 AGM”), the final dividend warrants are expected
to be despatched on or about Friday, 30th August 2019 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on Thursday, 22nd
August 2019.

During the Year, no interim dividend was declared and paid to
the shareholders by the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during
the following periods and during these periods, no transfer of
shares will be registered:

(i)  For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2019 AGM:

From Friday, 9th August 2019 to Wednesday, 14th August
2019, both days inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining
the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
2019 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the 2019 AGM, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the branch share registrar of the Company in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited (the “Branch Share Registrar”) of Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 8th August 2019.

(ii)  For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the final
dividend:

From Tuesday, 20th August 2019 to Thursday, 22nd
August 2019, both days inclusive, for the purpose of
ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the final
dividend. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Branch Share Registrar for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 19th August 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s business as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) covering an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators, the
future development in the Group’s business, the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group, the Group’s environmental
policies and performance and its compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations are provided in the “Highlights”,
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report, which shall form an integral
part of this “Report of the Directors”.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31st March 2019 and as at the date of this report, there
were 641,232,315 ordinary shares of the Company issued and
fully paid.

Details of share capital and share options of the Company are
respectively set out in Notes 32 and 33 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Movements in reserves and retained earnings of the Group
and the Company during the Year are respectively set out in
Notes 34 and 40 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31st March 2019, approximately HK$53,986,000 (2018:
HK$53,986,000) of the Company’s reserves and approximately
HK$30,198,000 (2018: HK$38,189,000) of the Company’s
retained earnings were available for distribution to its owners.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND
LAND USE RIGHTS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and land use rights of the Group during
the Year are set out in Notes 14, 15 and 16, respectively, to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 19, 20 and 21, respectively, to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31st March 2019
are set out in Note 31 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 8 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations of
approximately HK$659,000 (2018: HK$11,120,000).

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report are as follow:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace (resigned on 13th December 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

Mr. Li Yinquan (appointed on 5th July 2018)

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy (retired on 17th August 2018)

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Xu Lin Bao and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike will retire from
office by rotation at the 2019 AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at such meeting.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group

which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and options of the Company
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HEERD RERFPEE 2 EHS AR B (a) iR
BESFMAEEOEXVIE7TRESH FMEAN
BERRAREBEAEMERZMARDABAZAT])
(BERBFESFLAERINZ ZERERRRIE
B 2 Em kR ) ¢ 3 (b) BEIIAREE S K&
HEGRPIEI2GETUAFEZELMA « s (c)R
TRER A PRE 5 E AR BT B R AN D) s+ P2
FRBEITAEFETIEFRZHIRETA([1RLESF
Bl ) MR MG AR B KRB P 2 #Ea FOR B # I 40
T

ERBRAzRORBEREZFA

Number of
Attributable interest to Number of  Approximate share options Aggregate
Name of Directors Capacity the Directors Shares percentage (Note C) Interest
BREY
EEptA &t EZEhER Rt BAED )
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 89,337,806 13.93% — 89,337,806
Jogich Perfect Capital International Corp.
B (Note a)
S42 5|37 Perfect Capital WRIERR 2 BR (F%)
International Corp. 2 % (#iia)
Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 190,424,000 29.70% — 190,424,000
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (Note b)
% NEHuge Top Industrial Ltd. R /EEA 2 £ ()
LER(Hiitb)
Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 3,918,000 0.61% - 3,918,000
BRERA 100% (B )
283,679,806 44.24% — 283,679,806
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 2,246,622 2,246,622
Syt ERARA 100% (E)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 5,246,622 0.82% — 5,246,622
BHELE BHEAA 100% (E)
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Notes:

a. Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”) was beneficially interested in these
Shares through his wholly-owned company, Perfect Capital International
Corp. (“Perfect Capital”). Mr. Yao is a sole director of Perfect Capital.

b. Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in these Shares through his
controlling company, Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (“Huge Top”). Mr. Yao
directly held approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect Capital
owned approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top. Mr. Yao
is a sole director of Huge Top.

c. Details of the interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2019, none of
the Directors, chief executives of the Company and their
associates had any personal, family, corporate or other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
(a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(include interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required
pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the Year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the 18 years of age to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate, and no Directors or
chief executives of the Company or their respective spouses
or children under 18 years of age had been granted any right
to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor
exercised any such right.

PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
DIVISIONS 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, as at 31st March 2019,
according to the register of interests kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, the following entities had
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO:
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Number of Approximate
Capacity Shares percentage
&5 g Q| BABED L
Perfect Capital Beneficial owner 89,337,806 13.93%
EnEA A
Interest of controlled corporation a 190,424,000 29.70%
SN 2
279,761,806 43.63%
Huge Top Beneficial owner 190,424,000 29.70%
EnEE A
Mr. Wong Koon Chi Beneficial owner 38,224,000 5.96%
TRzt EnlEA A
Note: B -
a. These Shares were held by Huge Top. Perfect Capital owned a. ZE WD B Huge Top# A ° Perfect Capital #%5 Huge

approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top and therefore
was deemed to be interested in these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2019, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted since 12th November 2001
(the “2001 Share Option Scheme”) was terminated on 11th
August 2011. Upon termination of the 2001 Share Option
Scheme, no further options will be granted by the Company
thereunder but in all other respects the provisions of the 2001
Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and all options
granted prior to such termination shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance therewith. The Company has
adopted another share option scheme on 11th August 2011
(the “2011 Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the 2011
Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to participants
to contribute to the Group and/or to enable the Group to
recruit and/or to retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group. The 2011
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on the adoption date (i.e. 11th
August 2011) and will expire on 10th August 2021. Details of
the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme were contained in
the Company’s circular dated 8th July 2011.
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Details of the movements in the share options granted to the
Company’s employees (including Directors) under the 2001
Share Option Scheme and 2011 Share Option Scheme during
the Year were as follows:

2001 Share Option Scheme

RAERE  BE-TT—FRBEHBR-F——
FRRE 8IS T AL RIER (RIEEE) 2 HAE
BEFEMT

—EE-FRRETE

Number of share options
BhREHA
Name or Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
category of price Beginning of during during during during End of
participant Date of grant Validity period per Share  Note the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
BRELE
JEH RFEH BHH SRR KEEY  AEERT AEERR  AEEXN  AEEHE  REER
Director:
g3
Mr. Tam King Ching ~ 19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to HK$0.626 1 1,246,622 - - (1,246,622) - -
Kenny 18th June 2018
ERERE ZEENERATAR ZEENERATARE 0.6267%TC
ZE-N\ERRTAR
Employees:
E5:
In aggregate 18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to HKS0.470 1 937,458 - (311,65) - - 625,803
17th September 2019
it “TEAEARTR ZEIAEMATBE 0470%7
ZE-NEAATEE
In aggregate 13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to HK$0.404 1 9,089,528 - - - — 9,089,528
12th October 2019
ff CEENETATEE CEEAETRTZAE 0404 %7
ZE-NETATIA
Sub-total 10,026,986 - (311,655) - — 9715331
gt
Others:
B
In aggregate 13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to HK$0.404 1 3,116,553 - - - - 3,116,553
12th October 2019
Hit CEENETATSR ZEEAETATZAZ 040487
ZE-nETATIE
Total of 2001 Share 14,390,161 - (311,655)  (1,246,622) — 12,831,884
Option Scheme
“ER-EBRE
BEL ]
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2011 Share Option Scheme

—E-—FRRETE

Number of share options
BREsA
Name or Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
category of price Beginning of during during during during End of
participant Date of grant Validity period per Share the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
BRERE
pit4i) RFAH = SRR KEEY  AEERT  AEEAR  AEEAN  AEEHS KEER
Directors:
Bz
Ms. Luk Pui Yin 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1,2 2,493,244 — —  (2493244) - -
Grace 26th November 2023
(resigned on 13th
December 2018)
EffLt ZE-IEE-F CECET-ACTHRE O 10433T
(KZ§-11- 4B CECCET-AITRE
F+=08#)
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.98 3 2,000,000 - —(2,000,000) - -
19th January 2025
“E-n%-R “E-1-ATHE 092837
ZtH ZECRE-ATAE
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu~ 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.037 1,4 124662 - - - — 1,246,622
15th November 2022
Y1idsk 5Bt TE-CET-AREE 0 083TER
it “3CF+-R1ER
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,000,000 - - - — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
E-1E-R E-nE-RtHE 09287
g x “3-RE-ATAR
Mr. Tse Lung Wa  27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1 1,246,622 - - - — 1,246,622
Teddy 26th November 2023
(retired on 17th
August 2018)
ABERE “E-IEE-F CECET-AITHRE 1043ET
(KZE-N1E1f  —ttE CECCET-AITRR
FHAEE)
Sub-total 7,986,488 - —  (4493244) — 3493244
gt
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Number of share options
BRREE
Name or Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
category of price Beginning of during during during during End of
participant Date of grant Validity period per Share the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
SEENL
3EH SilE ERiTiR KEEY  AEERT  A%E KEEXN  AEEEE  2EER
Employees:
5
In aggregate 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 14 6,831,486 - (373,986)  (5,360473) — 1097021
15th November 2022
it ST-CET-A1RE ZE-ZET-ATABE 083TER
TRoET-AtIA
In aggregate 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 fo HK$1.043 12 5,734,459 - —  (5734,459) - -
26th November 2023
$it 5514 TECET-ACTEEE 103ER
ZttH e Sl
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 6,800,000 - —(5,700,000) — 1,100,000
19th January 2025
Hif Z5-15-AZtR  Z3-1E-A-1RE 09287
“ECRE-ATAR
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.98 5 1,000,000 - - - — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
*it “F-Rf-A-ftH  ZE-mfE-A-fHE 092857
ECRE-ATAR
Sub-total 20,365,945 - (373,986)  (16,794,932) - 3197027
gt
Total of 2011 Share 28,352,433 - (373,986)  (21,288,176) — 6690271
QOption Scheme
“E--FEhRE
BE 5
Notes: Wi

The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to 17th
December 2014 under the share option schemes were adjusted for the
open offer completed in December 2014.

The share options were be vested in four tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent
of one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and
4th tranche becoming exercisable from 27th of November in the years
2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 respectively and the years onwards till 26th
November 2023.

The share options were vested in four tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent
of one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th
tranche becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years 2016,
2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively and the years onwards till 19th January
2025.
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REPORECEEHEBRIRECTORS

4. The share options were vested in five tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent of
one-fifth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th
tranche becoming exercisable from 16th of November in the years 2012,
2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively and the years onwards till 15th
November 2022.

5. The share options were vested in three tranches, with each tranche
covering one-third of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent
of one-third of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd and 3rd tranche
becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years 2016, 2017 and
2018 respectively and the years onwards till 19th January 2025.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they
may incur in connection with their duties. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party or were
parties and in which a Director or any entities connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions for the Year are set
out in Note 39 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or
may compete directly or indirectly with the businesses of the
Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

ESEHRE

4. BRESDTHSGE 5o RS HEBRENRASY 2
— (BB Z AT EEBERENES 2 —)  F— F=
F=Z FORFRAHIIIN-ZT——F - _FT—=F . =
T—NF  —T—RAFR=_FT—AFHN+— A+ BEH
FIE  EE_ZE-_—_F+—A+HABL -

5. BRES—HRE S HIRREEEEREN=SZ
—(RZATEHBBEREN =S 2 —)  F— F=R
E=HPRR T —RF  ZT—+FRZZT—\FH—
B-+BREAFIE HEE-_ZE-_RAF—A+AHI -

BEFFHRERX

REBEARRFZARAR - EFFETEBMM I
ERAKEE  HARESHE - ARFER/AR
SEEERSBBELHRENESRERBER
ERE -

EERRS RERSHZERES

ARA] - A B AR REZRARBER] L EME
EREEEAMENERNETEAEAEmAR
AEBEXEBEERKEZRE - MARKNFEERE
RIEAFERNTABHDABRZEARS « &
BEREH

HEBS RS

RAFE - HEH T 2 X S FSENBEN 2458 8
R MIFES9 ©

B

RAFE  BFSARAIEERERESA 2 HE
AT ER A B S sk AT R B R R %
A RSN AEE E S REER I EA

RIEHR -
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 16.3% of the Group’s total
revenue, while the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 38.1% of the Group’s total
purchases. In addition, the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 9.1% of the Group’s total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the
five largest suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicity available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for their
appointment as the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year
is to be proposed at the 2019 AGM. There was no change in
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2019
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew

aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in December 1994. He became the Chairman
of the Board in July 1999. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yao is an independent non-
executive director of Kader Holdings Company Limited which
is a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and
Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd. which is a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the main
board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Yao serves as
the Hong Kong Deputy to the 13th National People’s Congress
of the People’s Republic of China, the chairman of Hongkong-
Shanghai Economic Development Association, the vice-
chairman of Shanghai Federation of Industry & Commerce,
the deputy chairman of the council of Hong Kong Baptist
University and the board member of Fudan University. He
was awarded “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong” by
Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2004, Justice of Peace
by Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) in
2008 and “Bronze Bauhinia Star” by HKSAR in 2016. Mr. Yao
graduated from the University of California, Berkeley with a
bachelor’s degree in science and Harvard Graduate School of
Business with a master in business administration.

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2015. He joined the Group in June
1991. Mr. Lau is responsible for the daily operations of
the business of the Group and has held various sales and
marketing and supply chain positions in the plastics and steel
businesses of the Group. He was the general manager of
Group’s plastic business from April 2003 to November 2011
and the general manager of the Group’s steel business from
December 2011 to May 2013. Mr. Lau graduated from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia with a bachelor’s degree
in commerce (marketing and management).

EEREGREEANERERE

=
BITES
mRiEE T E

A+=5 R—NANAEF+ = AEZEAEERARH
TEZ - FR—ANANFELtAKAESTSER - &
MEARRFIREEZESEIRRFNEESKE - #
EEABREEBAERSMARAR ([ EEBRFT])
FREMZAZEEBERABI LN LEBESZ ST
REBBRLMERLEMZ EBRBRABEX(ER)
BHOERARZEBILIENITES » thht 2 NBAR
BEEERET=EZBEAAREK  EELERR
gk LEMIAXMASRIER BERY
REREGRNEFREBABRE - FR-ZZTZTMN
FREFBEIXEBERBE(EESFIERE] R
ZET N\FEFEFHTREBN([EBERRK
FNEFAFHEETER T NFLREFTEFRK
IR MR 282 | - Phot AR ERIATH MK
BITHSEES BN - WHRKBEHESHERIET
EEBIETSA -

g rFHERE

A+ RZE—RF+— AEZEALRRQFH
TEF - BR—NAN—FSAMARER - 2584
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BREVEBETHERTSHEE  REERES
FEER R _EE=FNAE T ——F+—
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REZZT—=FRAARARSEMMEBBLIE -
250 A R ZRORIMNEHIAEZ (Curtin University of
Technology) WHUSHE L2 (MG RER) °
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EEREREEAEER
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny

aged 70, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2004. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent non-
executive director of other listed companies on the main
board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, BeijingWest
Industries International Limited, CCT Fortis Holdings Limited,
Greater Bay Area Investments Group Holdings Limited,
Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord
Grand (Group) Limited, Starlite Holdings Limited, West
China Cement Limited and Wisdom Education International
Holdings Company Limited. He is a practising Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr.
Tam serves as a member of the Restructuring and Insolvency
Faculty Executive Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He was also a Past President
of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr.
Tam graduated from Concordia University, Canada with a
bachelor’s degree in commerce.

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

aged 70, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2006. He is also the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr.
Xu is currently the vice chairman of the Institute of Real Estate
Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences. He served as the
standing executive of China Real Estate Association (the 4th
and 5th session), the chairman of operation and management
professional committee of China Real Estate Association (the
4th and 5th session), the chairman of Shanghai Housing and
Land Group, the vice chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Trade
Association (the 5th and 6th session) and the chairman of
executives of Yi-ju China Real Estate Research Center. He
graduated from Fudan University, Shanghai with a degree in
EMBA. Mr. Xu is a senior qualified economist.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

aged 66, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2014. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Yeung is an independent non-executive director
of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He has
over 40 years’ working experience in the banking industry of
Hong Kong and the mainland China. Mr. Yeung began his
career with the HSBC Group in 1972 and advanced himself
in the organisation by taking up different positions under
various business streams including personal banking, sales
and services, operations as well as branches, reginal network
and personal wealth management. Since 2001, Mr. Yeung
was relocated to Shanghai and took up the role of Branch
Manager Shanghai and Head of Personal Financial Services
China of HSBC. In June 2006, he was seconded to Hang Seng
Bank (China) Limited and appointed as the Head of Personal
Financial Service and Wealth Management China. Mr. Yeung
was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Head
of Personal Financial Services and Wealth Management in
May 2007. He retired from HSBC Group in January 2014.
Mr. Yeung is the Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber
of Commerce in Shanghai. He was a member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Committee (the 11th
and 12th session) in Shanghai. Mr. Yeung was awarded the
“Magnolia Gold Award” presented by the Shanghai Municipal
Government to recognise his outstanding contributions to
the economic and social development, and international
exchanges of Shanghai. He was also awarded a Professional
Diploma in Company Direction by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.
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EEREREEAEER
Mr. Li Yinquan

aged 64, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2018. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. Li serves as an independent non-executive
director of other listed companies on the main board of Hong
Kong Stock Exchange namely, Genertec Universal Medical
Group Limited and Millian Cities Holdings Limited. He also
served as an executive director of China Merchants China
Direct Investments Limited which is a company listed on the
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and as a non-
executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. which is
a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Prior to joining
China Merchants Group, Mr. Li worked in Agricultural Bank
of China and was the vice general manager of its Hong Kong
branch. Mr. Li is a Hong Kong Deputy to the 13th National
People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China. He
graduated from Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics
(BRPEEF &R Z2F7 ), China with a bachelor’s degree in economics.
Mr. Li was also awarded a master degree in economics from
the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University ()&% A2
FEALRERT) (formerly known as Graduate School of the
People’s Bank of China (FEIARRITEITERMFFT)) and
a master degree in banking and finance for development
from Finafrica Institute in Milan, Italy. He is a qualified senior
economist in China.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The abovementioned Executive Directors are members of
senior management of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 70 to 204, which comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
March 2019;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st March 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B A2 EN

BUBEM A ERARAFRR
(REREZEZMHAIHBRAE])

=R
RAEFITHAR

BEBMAIERAERARATEBI ERR ) REH
BRARATHREIEEE)IIFHNETOE204 8
MR mE - B3

e NR-ZE—NF=ZA=+—HOEEFBHHKR
=

s HBEZALFENGEBESR

B

Sk
o)

o

£5

i
I\

HILFEMZEa R

B

Bl

BamK

. BEZALFEHBARRED

S

° HEZRLFENGERERER R

s HRAUBHmERNE BRIZSTBRME -

EMANER

BARE  ZEHRAMBHRREBEFT LS
SUATHRIBESHAE ) RGEKEEMB
HBEERDATER BEMBERELENDEEM
hERET BRER-_Z-NF=A=+—H
MEFA MR R EBEZ B L FENGEARMBER
BRGaEERE B EREFBC(RBMEDDHH
BREZLDEME -

RRVER

BAERESZESFTMASBMAKEBEERD
(AT ST BA R ER ) ETER - BRAEZE
EH T AN EEEEARSZBEI L EA RS
MBREAENRE B DR EE— M -

HAIAEE - BAMESHEREETE LEE I
REMNET B RREER -

Annual Report 2018/19 42

61



62

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2 R RS
Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

° Valuation of investment properties
o Recognition of deferred income tax assets

o Purchase price allocation of the acquisition of VSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited

o Onerous contract provision relating to unfulfilled rebar
sales contracts
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

B A2 EN

REETEE(R)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEETER B ESTNAEERRETSEE
Valuation of investment properties Our procedures in relation to management’s valuations
REMENGE of the investment properties included:

Refer to notes 4(a) and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements

Bt B REN T 4(a) & 15

As at 31st March 2019, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) was approximately HK$1,413.2
million and a fair value gain of approximately HK$108.9
million was recognised in the consolidated income
statement during the year. Also, the Group’s joint
venture had an investment property with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$4,112.5 million was
recognised as at 31st March 2019 and a fair value gain
of approximately HK$226.3 million was recognised
during the year. The Group performed valuations on
the investment properties of the Group and its joint
venture as at 31st March 2019, with the assistance of
independent professional valuers, based on the income
capitalisation approach and the direct comparison

approach.
RZB-NF=A=+—H  ESKEEPEARKLNEA

T%ﬁﬁawﬂlJ)Eﬂﬁiéf%%E’Jﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ% 413,200,000 i
* M#J 108,900,000 B T A R BEKBENAFENEGE
?a SRPER - N=ZZE—NF=A=+—H  BEELZ
NEIEA MEREEEL 4,112,500,0008 T 2 I EWE -
FRNERALE ﬁuﬁz \?’]226 300,000 7T ° MBI HE(E
B2 HET - EERRABE AR EELLBORH R

C—NFE=A EJr*EI R E Y HEEITRIAS o

We focus on this area because the valuations are
dependent on certain key assumptions including market
rents, term and reversionary yields and market prices
etc., which require significant management judgement.
BAZINZEE - BAFMETERNE THRERR - 8215
mEHEE HR - WaXLkHES  EF2EEENEAH
B o

B EREHREMENGENLETNREFRE
- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers;

- FHEBMINEMAEROER - B RFERE

- Assessing the methodologies used and the key
assumptions with the assistance from our in-house
valuation specialist; and

- EHRFMAFEEZEROHET
ERFERER

AHE S EMER T

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions, including market rents, term and
reversionary yields and market prices etc.,
adopted by the valuers by comparing with relevant
comparable market data and industry research.

- BBLEBMEBET LR TS8R RITERRE - b
ERMFTERANEEREINGEN  BEmSHE: B
PR~ WK RHESE -

We found the key assumptions were supportable by the
available and comparable market evidence.
HFIEIRF 2 ERRAES KA LA TISE R
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B R HERE

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
BRESEE)

REETSEE(R)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
BMWETNAEEBRETSEE)

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

EEFRSHEERR

Refer to notes 4(c) and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements

24 E BB AM T 4(c) R 22

As at 31st March 2019, the Group has recognised
deferred income tax assets of approximately HK$55.3
million in relation to the cumulative tax losses of certain
subsidiaries of the Company in different jurisdictions.
RZZ2E—NE=A=+—H0 ' E5EH} BE28URTH
AEBEERZETHEAR 2 25 KB EBRERELEMSH
& EE#£4955,300,000 4 7T

The recognition involved management’s judgement
on the estimation of whether there would be sufficient
taxable profits in future periods to utilise the tax losses.
Key assumptions adopted in management assessment
included forecasted revenue growth rates and
forecasted operating margins.
HRELEMSHEE SR EBERATTRRARRESHE RS
JERBUA MIAM BRI EIRE L K - BB AN
FERZBEFAWALRERIBRLEER

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on recognition of deferred income tax assets included:
B ERELEFENEE ERENEMETHNIEFE
1z

- Obtaining management’s profit forecast and
discussing with management about the key
assumptions considered in the profit forecast;

- BSEREZEMNIER K EE R E R i s N TR P
R FZ2REK

- Assessing the reliability of management’s profit
forecast by comparing the actual results for the
current year to prior year profit forecast; and

- BBAUBRATFEERREHEEFE&ENER - FE
EIRELE NIRRT EG - &

- Assessing the key assumptions applied in the
management assessment as to whether there will
be sufficient taxable profits in future periods to
support the recognition of deferred tax assets,
including comparing the forecasted revenue
growth rates and operating margins to historical
and recent performance.

- TEEREMARKREEES KA T IERT S X
BRREMSHEERANTIZERR  BRESEAK
AERRGEEENRBENTMREEEL LR -

We consider management’'s judgement in the
recognition of deferred income tax assets to be
supportable by the available information.

HARRERERBREFEHEERRB I HMERER X

5 o
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
BEREBEE)

B A2 EN

REETEE(R)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
BMWETNAEEBRETSEGE)

Purchase price allocation of the acquisition of VSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited

B VSC Construction Steel Solutions Limited 2B &
B

Refer to note 4(d) and 36(a) of the consolidated financial
statements.

BRI A B TSR 4(d) K 36(a)

On 9th May 2018, the Group completed the acquisition
of VSC Construction Steel Solutions Limited (“VSC
Construction”).

RZZE-—NFRAALB: E&EBTKKBEVSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited ([VSC
Construction]) e

Accounting for business combination requires the Group
to allocate the purchase price to the assets acquired,
liabilities assumed, and identified intangible assets
based on their estimated fair values at the date of
acquisition.

¥BEMHARER EXERBEREEHRZEFAREE
FFKREEE « IAEAEREINEBLEELERBEE -

Independent external valuation has been obtained
by the Group to support the fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The bargain
purchase related to the acquisition of VSC Construction
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the
year ended 31st March 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$18.6 million.

EEECREBINBEERFRWBEEERAZARE
ZAREE - BEMEEVSC Construction 2 & E Wz © R
HE_T-NFZA=+—BZHEERAGXRTER O5
18,600,000 /8T °

The fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed were determined using the discounted cash
flow (“DCF”) approach with various key assumptions
and estimates made including revenue growth rate,
discount rate and terminal growth rate.
FEBEEENMAEAGZAAEBE  NURASRE(R
BHeRE ) FEZBRI BRI MM BRkEEREK
BB RNEHMIERREETF o

The valuation methodology and the key assumptions
underpinning which require the use of significant
judgements and estimates. These estimations are also
subject to uncertainties.
EETERESRRER ZSER T RHE R MAT - tEh
SAEPEERETE -

Our procedures in relation to management’'s assessment
on purchase price allocation of the acquisition of VSC
Construction included:

R EREHUWE VSC Construction Z B BB B 271
HATETNRRF B

= Considering the competency, capability and
objectivity of the independent external valuer by
considering its qualification, relevant experience
and relationship with the Group;

- REEBUIIBEERMZER - EELERKE
B BAERREEEER e REEIML

=
55

- Involving our internal valuation specialist in our
discussion with the independent external valuer
and management to understand the rationale and
assess the appropriateness and consistency of
the methodology used and the assumptions and
estimates applied;

- ERMNABEEZREBLINHEMREEES
HET R 0 ABRARIRER - WP AT A R BT IR RER
a2 e & I R —3uE

= Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used by the independent external
valuer such as revenue growth rate and terminal
growth rate by comparing these assumptions
against relevant market data; and

- BEHEUL SRR E YRR T 5 BUR R (A B AN
BEERMAAEZRE  NREERERKIGEREK
ZEEME &

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the discount rate
used by considering the weighted average cost of
capital and the related risk profile.

- HEEBRERZ IR KA R R R B R 2R AT E B
RERREZIREN -

We consider management’s judgement in the purchase
price allocation of the acquisition of VSC Construction to
be supportable by the available information.

KR EEIEEEUEEVSC Construction 2B EEBHE 2
FIETRIS B R X FF o
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B R HERE

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
BRESEE)

REETSEE(R)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
BMWETNAEEBRETSEE)

Onerous contract provision relating to unfulfilled
rebar sales contracts

ERBITNRAGHETERRAZBRZORE

Refer to notes 4(b) and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements

BRI A BN 4(b) K 30

As at 31st March 2019, the Group had certain unfulfilled
rebar sales contracts. If these sales contracts were
fulfilled by purchases at prices higher than the
contracted selling prices, the Group would incur a loss.
As a result, management assessed if any provision for
these onerous contacts is required to be made based
on the expected purchase prices of inventories and
forecasted delivery schedules.
RZZE-—NE=A=+—H  EBEKEEETRETHMG
HERE - MR FHETENBEEERARRITENIHER
BEK - BERESELEE-RBAK - ERENEZEAE
RYARERERBEE 2 BHEEB KRB N RREELE
Al B4

As at 31st March 2019, no provision for onerous
contract was recognised by the Group.
R=T-—hE=A=+—H  BESEVEEIFEZNZ
Bt o

The estimate of the provision requires the estimation of
expected purchase prices of inventories to fulfil rebar
sales contracts and the expected dates of deliveries for
these sales contracts.

Rt AT EMENMSHE ENFENBEFENER
MZEHEREZ RN B -

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on onerous contract provision included:

B EEBH A ERNERE HEMETHRERF B

- Evaluating the basis adopted by management for
determining onerous contract provision relating to
unfulfilled rebar sales contracts;

- AEEEEREBEEABTHNGHEETERMAE
LUV BABPTER A 2 F A

= Obtaining management analysis and calculation
of onerous contract provision and assessing the
key assumptions adopted in the analysis, including
comparing the expected purchase prices of
inventories with the latest unit purchase price and
comparing the forecasted delivery schedules with
the historical trend and recent delivery;

- BEEEEBHAEROBBEIONAGE - AKFFHE
DITPARM TEZRR > BRELBEREEFEN
EERSMBEEEURMBEARIMNEHEEBER
R R B AT

- Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
the pre-agreed contractually stated selling prices
and the quantity of goods in the unfulfilled sales
contracts; and

- BT AREEEMEREGNTREZEEBRKRE
THETEREMBERERY - &

- Checking, on a sample basis, the management’s
computation of provision recognised for these
onerous contracts.

- MBI RAREEEBURSEAEROMBEREHE
X

We obtained management’s assessment of onerous
contract provision and considered it to be supportable
by the available evidence.

HPMSEREHAEROBREB TG ERREBERERX

5 o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the “Corporate Information”, “Highlights”, “Five-Year
Financial Summary”, “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report”,
“Report of the Directors” and “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” sections, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’'s report thereon, which
we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section, which
is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The-Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

B A2 EN

HfE R

BERREFAHEMESAR - HMEEEE
[REVER ] [RE] [AFHBRHE]  [ZFEH
SE [BEEEN®ESIT [RXER®RE ]
[EEgRE INEZLSRERABRE|DE
BTBREGEVHERRIZBERE - RAOINEZ
ZREN RS B AT RS E L HE M ERARR MR ZA
HREHABSEZIRE  HeRERRSE IV -

BAEBMBRAMBBRRNET - RAINEERE
BEMES - EUBRET - EEEMEE ST B
EMBERERIBMEETBRETATHNBERFE
BEABBREUFFEEAHRRANER -

ERHZMAEATHINE  MRBFR/EMERTF
EERERRL  ZAFTEREZETE-EES
| BAFPRE EAHRE

EENEREREENGEMBRRAEE
MEME

BERRERAAERBEEESTMASRHNE
AU HHREENRBRBRAGHNREREREE
EMPsRaMBHRE  UHERSRERAM
BHRENBRE T FERNMEFRERMEBMERN
HRRAFFHARMENEE -

ERBGRaMBREAE  EFRETE E5EE
BREMRED  YEERBATHREERELES
SR URERFECERSTER  RIFE
ZEER BEEEBRARLLE  HFIEHME
REOBERITER -

BERZBEQRAAERE ESENMKHREHEE-
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8 M AZ B E

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is lvan Au.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26th June 2019

B A2 EN
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

mERER

For the year ended 31st March 2019 & — = —

gL e = e e S

2019 2018
—E-hEF == )\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
HiaE FHETT F&ET
Revenue A ) 2,882,605 3,032,852
Cost of sales SHERA 7 (2,607,507) (2,835,235)
Gross profit EF 275,098 197,617
Selling and distribution expenses HE ko iHS 7 (19,226) (58,610)
Net impairment loss on financial SREEREEEFE
assets 7 (4,262) (1,218)
General and administrative expenses —#& R1TE X H 7 (298,720) (278,052)
Other gains — net Hitnllrzs — JF58 6 12,513 34,765
Fair value gain on investment BEMEZ AR BEKES
properties 15 108,865 14,818
Operating profit/(loss) RERA,(EE) 74,268 (90,680)
Finance income BSUA 10 4,920 5,010
Finance costs W% E A 10 (80,638) (70,708)
Share of results of joint ventures EIhEERE 2 %A
— net — FE 19,276 14,366
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRATEHADER (&) 17,826 (142,012)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTSR (), #Ex 11 (13,447) 1,772
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEBRAN(FE) 4,379 (140,240)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FELR T, (E18)
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ =N 13,888 (147,712)
Non-controlling interests FEAE Il M 2 (9,509) 7,472
4,379 (140,240)
Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share ZAAFEEABLEEASTRE
attributable to owners of the BREF(&#E)
Company for the year
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREXRF(EE) 13 HK2.17 cents#{ll  HK(23.02) cents 7l
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share FhEERMN, (BE) 13 HK2.15 cents 4l HK(23.02) cents &1l
The above consolidated income statement should be read in LiliiR & B R EEEM A9 M5 —OF B E -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEEEBERR

For the year ended 31st March 2019 #HZ=—ZFT—NF=ZA=+—HLFE

2019 2018
—ZE-h#F —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FEIT
Profit/(loss) for the year FEMN(BE) 4,379 (140,240)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: Ht2mE (EE) WA :
Items that have been reclassified or EEH P ERERTEHF I EABEZ
may be subsequently reclassified HH :
to profit or loss:
— Change in fair value of an — AN EEREE
available-for-sale financial ZAREE
asset poik) — (220)
— Change in fair value of financial — BARnBEFAEMEEWAZSH
asset at fair value through other BEAAEEE
comprehensive income (142) —
— Currency translation differences — EMEN =58 (74,415) 118,928
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FEH#2E(EE), WA
for theyear (74,557) 118,708
Total comprehensive loss for the FETHEELAR
year (70,178) (21,532)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE{E2ME(EE) WAEEE :
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company — RREHEE A (55,283) (32,114)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIE R A (14,895) 10,582
(70,178) (21,532)
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income LR e EEIE R ERE AT — G E -

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Annual Report 2018/19 42

71



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
aE IR R

As at 31st March 2019 R - ZE—h&F=A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZET-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaE FET FETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE K& 14 116,767 131,319
Investment properties WEME 15 1,413,227 1,389,377
Land use rights T+ Hb s A A 16 9,019 9,316
Intangible assets EmILEE 17 2,602 6,607
Investments in joint ventures RELRRIZIKE 21 299,747 19,931
Prepayments, deposits FENRIE - e
and other receivables Jo EAth fiE Uk BR 53R 27 19,084 22,628
Deferred income tax assets RIEFMGHEE 22 47,082 24,817
Financial asset at fair value through AL BEFAEMEEIKA
other comprehensive income e R EE 23 144 —
Available-for-sale financial asset AMHE s eREE 23 — 286
Total non-current assets EMBEEBTE 1,907,672 1,604,281
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits TERFUAE ~ &S
and other receivables T E i e U BR 3R 27 115,410 186,102
Inventories FE 25 290,659 289,566
Amount due from a joint venture R —R& & A a RN 21 — 17,593
Trade and bill receivables RUER R M 25 26 480,523 528,238
Financial asset at fair value through AR BET AEBZ
profit or loss ZEMBEE 24 36,698 135,535
Pledged bank deposits BEEMRITERK 28 38,884 57,807
Cash and cash equivalents RekRSEE 28 126,775 312,766
Total current assets MENE ERTE 1,088,949 1,527,607
Total assets EEHE 2,996,621 3,131,888
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREaE
Equity attributable to owners of the N2 F#EHA ABEGER
Company
Share capital & As 32 64,123 64,055
Reserves fE 34 926,223 993,648
990,346 1,057,703
Non-controlling interests FEFE I R S 123,090 29,738
Total equity B 1,113,436 1,087,441
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
e WA & ()

As at 31st March 2019 R=—Z—NF=A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Hiat F#ET FET
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Accrued liabilities JEETEE
and other payables R H i 5] BR 5K 30 15,246 11,813
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTEHAE 22 92,162 71,156
Borrowings BE 31 704,839 611,292
Total non-current liabilities IEmB B EERE 812,247 694,261
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bill payables FERTBR R K SR 29 189,093 284,811
Receipts in advance TEW IR 27,956 24,174
Accrued liabilities JEETEE
and other payables R H i e A5 BR SR 30 52,819 81,604
Current income tax liabilities BHIMSHAE 13,360 12,032
Borrowings BE 31 787,710 947,565
Total current liabilities mEBERRE 1,070,938 1,350,186
Total liabilities EEAE 1,883,185 2,044,447
Total equity and liabilities EEREERsE 2,996,621 3,131,888

The above consolidated statement of financial position should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 26th June 2019 and were signed on its

behalf.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
P18 1E

Chairman

F/E

bR & B HIR I 2R FE S BE B e B 5 — DB o

REMBRRER T NFRA-+TBEES

SHE - WRRERE -

Lau Chi Chiu

2r&

Executive Director

HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AN ¢y =
mEEREEIR
For the year ended 31st March 2019 H#E2 —ZT—hG&=A=+—HILtFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARA AELR
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves earnings Total interest equity
BRE  HikE  RERA BE kiR EREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT

(Note 32) (Note 34) (Note 34)

(Wit3e)  (W#2s4)  (Hi#34)

As at 1st April 2017 RZE-tEMA-A 64,188 525,836 519,487 1,109,511 21,387 1,130,898
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR)/ &l = —  (47712)  (147.712) 7472 (140,240)
Other comprehensive (loss)fincome ~ E#2E (5#8) /WA
— Change in fair value of — fthEZeREEL
available-for-sale financial AREEE
asset (Note 23) (Hii23) — (220) — (220) — (220)
— Currency transaction differences ~ — E¥ERZH - 115,818 - 115,818 3,110 118,928
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2ENA/(BR)EE — 115,598 (147,712 (32,114) 10,582 (21,532)
Transactions with owners in their BB ANEFEFAN
capacity as owners SRETNRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves RBE TR — 3,944 (3,944) — — —
Share-based payment R AER 2 2 — 2,861 — 2,861 — 2,861
Change on ownership interest in R—ERBA Rz HAEER
a subsidiary without change of BEmEtE g
control (Note 37) (Wiz£37) — (5,576) (56) (5,632) 8,109 2,477
Shares repurchased and cancelled AN G (133) 133 (940) (940) — (940)
Dividends paid to owners of the BERARAREEALZ
Company R E — — (15,983) (15,983) — (15,983)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling RS

RAEFHERIME

interest of a subsidiary BaRE — — — — (10,340) (10,340)

Total transactions with owners in their B ANEER AR SDETH

capacity as owners B8 (133) 1,362 (20,923) (19,694) (2,231) (21,925)
As at 31st March 2018 R=E-\$=h=1-H 64,055 642,796 350,852 1,057,708 29,738 1,087,441
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

o A HE 3L a5 =
meEngEk (8)
For the year ended 31st March 2019 HZE—ZT—NWF=ZA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARFAEENER
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling Total
capital reserves earnings Total interest equity
Rx Rt REEF BF FEHNER W BREAE

HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000

FET FET FEx TErx TErx TErx
(Note 32)  (Note 34)  (Note 34)
(Hit32)  (WaE34)  (HiE34)

As at 1st April 2018 R=Z2-NEMA-A 64,055 642,796 350,852 1,057,703 20,738 1,087,441
Change in accounting policy SEHER|E
(Note 2.2) (Hi#22) - - (4,672) (4,672) (518) (5,190)

Restated balance as at 1st April 2018 R=Z—\FNA—HEJEH 64,055 642,796 346,180 1,053,031 29,220 1,082,251

Profit/(loss) for the year EERFH/(BR) - - 13,888 13,888 (9,509) 4,379
Other comprehensive loss Hit2EER
— Change in fair value of financial — BAABEGARGZE
asset at fair value through KAZ2BEE
other comprehensive income ZAREEE
(Note 23) (Hi£23) = (142) = (142) - (142)
— Currency transaction differences ~ — SHER =5 - (69,029) - (69,029) (5,386) (74,415)
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome 2E(EE)WAEE - (69,171) 13,888 (55,283)  (14,895)  (70,178)
Transactions with owners in their ~ HEAUEEEANGHETH
capacity as owners R
Exercise of share options Tib iR 68 276 - 344 - 344
Lapse of share options R B R — (5,244) 5,244 - - -
Share-based payment IR BERZ 2 - 2,311 - 2,311 - 2,311
Capital injection from non- BIEE i e
controlling interests LR - - - - 110,036 110,036
Appropriation of statutory reserves RELERE = 1,275 (1,275) - - -
Dividends paid to owners of the BRARREEA
Company ZIRE — - (10,057) (10,057) - (10,057)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling B —FKB R AlEE 1
interest of a subsidiary ErnZiRE — - = = (1,271) (1,271)

Total transactions with owners in their BB ANLEBER AN FHET
capacity as owners MR 7 8HE 68 (1,382) (6,088) (7,402) 108,765 101,363

As at 31st March 2019 R=Z-n¥=A=t+-H 64,123 572,243 353,980 990,346 123,090 1,113,436

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should bt SRS R R FE BN A MR —ERIE o
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN IBZE
;4-17.5 (=] Eﬁﬁulbié‘%
For the year ended 31st March 2019 H#E2 —ZT—hG&=A=+—HILtFE

2019 2018
—E-AF —ZET-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
k23 FETT FAET
Cash flows from operating BT
activities ZEERE
Cash (used in)/generated from REER(ER)/EXE
operations 2B 35(a) (36,922) 19,399
Interest received 2 W F B 4,920 5,010
Interest paid BEAFLE (77,662) (67,254)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BENBEABREH (3,767) (6,970)
Hong Kong profits tax refund BBMNETRE 11 13,348
China corporate income tax paid BERHRBIEMEH (5,046) (69,520)
Net cash outflow from operating KRBT
activities 2HEFE (118,466) (105,987)
Cash flows from investing activities REFEHZHERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEVE BEK
equipment B (2,452) (11,833)
Proceeds received from disposals  HEWE - BENKRE
of property, plant and equipment Z TS RIA 35(b) 2,489 153
Capital expenditures for investment %&¥%
properties ZERRX 15 (6,040) (16,170)
Acquisition of a subsidiary, W i —FEIFfT B8 A &)
net of cash acquired (HBRFTERS) 36 47,497
Capital injection to a joint venture  JT&F—HAE QT 21 (289,590) —
Net proceeds received from B EWE AR
disposal of subsidiaries FT{S k38 FE 36 5,900 —
Payments for acquisition of Uk i — R BT B A Bl 2 A 3K
a subsidiary, net of cash acquired  (¥IERFTERS) 36 —_ (2,694)
Acquisition of a business ES e 17 — (4,703)
Distribution from a joint venture XN 21 — 167,123
Purchases of financial assets at fair AR AR BETAEZR
value through profit or loss JEREE (213,778) (232,987)
Proceeds received from disposal HERAR BB AR
of financial assets at fair value ZEREE
through profit or loss Fr1S 508 311,076 111,015
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from WEEEZ
investing activities RBe(OR)/MAFE (144,898) 9,904
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
SeaReRER (H)

For the year ended 31st March 2019 & ZE —F— NG =A=1+—HILFE

2019 2018
—Z2-hEF —T-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
it FET FEIT
Cash flows from financing Rl & EE
activities ZEERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERZFT5RE 310,369 331,617
Repayment of bank loans BERBITENK (250,214) (241,494)
Net decrease in trust receipt S WIESRITER
bank loans 2 FEE (90,962) (308,833)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits R T1F 7R D 20,079 10,852
Consideration received from non- HEFEPE S MR U R
controlling interests 2B 37 — 2,453
Capital injection from B Il i e
non-controlling interest ZEE 110,036 —
Dividends paid to owners of [EENPAVNCIEZE PN
the Company pd) &5\ (10,057) (15,983)
Dividends paid to B I M 2
non-controlling interests pd) &5\ (1,271) (10,340)
Repurchase of shares i 15 B ) = (940)
Exercise of share options iy 344 —
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BEEBHRERA CRE)
financing activities R 88,324 (232,668)
Net decrease in cash and cash RekBEeFEEZ
equivalents FoR A (175,040) (328,751)
Cash and cash equivalents, FUzHe Rk
beginning of the year REERE 312,766 628,382
Currency translation differences EHEIE =R (10,951) 13,135
Cash and cash equivalents, end of FRIZIBE K
the year REEE 126,775 312,766

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be iR B IR e nE R EEBENA M — =&
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

o
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General Information

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 12th January 1994 as an exempted
company under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since 18th February 1994. The address of its registered
office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
principally engaged in stockholding and distribution of
construction materials such as steel products; trading
of sanitary wares, kitchen cabinets and engineering
plastics; steel recycling and property investment and
project management businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified
by financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and investment
properties which are carried at fair values.

The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) New and amended standards adopted by

the Group

The Group has applied the following standards
and amendments for the first time for their
annual reporting period commencing 1st April

2018:

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKAS 40
HK (IFRIC) Int-22

Annual
Improvements
Project

Classification and
Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

Clarifications to HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

Transfers of Investment
Property

Foreign Currency
Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Annual Improvements
2014 — 2016 Cycle

The Group had to change its accounting
policies and make certain adjustments
following the adoption of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS
15, which are disclosed in Note 2.2. The other
newly adopted standards or amendments
listed above did not have material impact on
the amounts recognised in prior periods and
are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future period.

e SRR MR

2 FERETHRHEGE)

2.1 RREER)
(a) FEEFRAHTREIEETER
AEEER=-_FT—-N\FHA—A

BI%A 2 4 3R 55 SR 2 R AR A I
TRARAELT

ERMBREED  URHAERZ XS

B2 (BT BN E

BRUEREER BEVBREELNEIR

EEACH)) SRIARARENE
LR B 4HRR
AN—HRE

ARMEREEDN £RIA

Fo%

BETBHREEE RARPABZHMA

F15%

BRMEREED  BEyHESEL

F15%(E7]) F15FRERF
ANMBAZEE

AibgsrE| RANE &Y

F40%(B7])

B (ERYBRE MNEXFRERNE
REZEE)
REF 2%

FEXZEE —E-MEE-FERE
MR EERE

AEBANRAT BV B REE
AR M B EM B REERE
155 R B SR RR R AEE T 38
B(RME22FKE) - LFIEM
MRAERIRET S BEHRE
HMAZSRLEBBEATE MA
ERHRERERAB IS EKX
BEARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MY EE

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2

(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards not yet
adopted

The following new standards and amendments
have been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning on or after 1st April
2018 and have not been early adopted:

ETREBORBE (&)

2.1

mAEXE(HE)

(b)

1 AR R 2 FT AT R AAE TR

NHIE B2 AT R R EFT -
RZZF-NFOA—-HEBZHK
FREDRER  TAEAEER
GIEZSONE

Effective
for accounting
periods beginning

on or after

RUTBHR 2%

FmzE AL

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 1st January 2019

EAEGHERE 1958 (1ER]) sTEMERT ~ #REOBE —T-NAF—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and 1st January 2019
‘ ‘ Joint Ventures

HB G ERE 2858 (1&7]) REEE R & &N E 2 KRS —E-NF—-—H—H

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative 1st January 2019
\ \ Compensation

BERNBRELNEIR(ER]) EBFAMEZANKEY —ZE-NF—H—H

HKFRS 16 i Leases 1st January 2019

EAMBHREERNE 1658 HE —T-NF—H—B

HK (IFRIC) Int-23 \ Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1st January 2019

B (BERM RS2 R FRS TN E 1t 2 R 38 —ET-hhF—-—H—H
ZEg)REE 235

Amendments to HKFRSS Annual Improvements 2015 — 2017 Cycle 1st January 2019

ERMBHREERERT) —E-NFE_TLFHRCFERES —E-NF—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material 1st January 2020
and HKAS 8 \

BEREENE 1R RER BAZESE —T_FTF—H—H

SEHERIE 85 (125])

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

BEMGREEFEIHRER]) EBZESE

1st January 2020
—T-F5—HA—H

Conceptual Framework for Raised Conceptual Framework for 1st January 2020
Financial Reporting 2018 Financial Reporting

) \FUBWRERSER IS AT B TS M 5 A 4R —ZE_ZTF—-H—H

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1st January 2021

BRI EERE 1758 REE R —E-—F—H—H

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture \

EEMBHRESERE 105 & KEEEHBENRHEE AR ZANEELE BERERE

EEGERIE 28/ 2 FE FEE
HEHEB (EF])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards not yet
adopted (Continued)

The Group will adopt the above new standards
and amendments to existing standards when
they become effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the related
impact of adopting the above new standards and
amendments, none of which is expected to have
a significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, except the following:

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 was issued in May 2016. It will
result in almost all leases being recognised
on the consolidated statement of financial
position, as the distinction between operating
and finance leases is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the right to use the leased
item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are
recognised. The only exceptions are short-
term and low-value leases.

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments
of HK$58,009,000. Based on management’s
initial assessment, the initial adoption of
HKFRS 16 will result in an increase in the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities,
which is expected to result in an increase in
pboth assets and liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The adoption
will also front-load the expense recognition
in the consolidated income statement over
the period of the leases, as a result of the
combination of the interest expenses arising
from the lease liabilities and the amortisation
of the right-of-use assets as compared to the
rental expenses under existing standard.

e SRR MR

2 FERETHRHEGE)

21 wWEEE(E)

(b)

/5 R IR 2 F AT R AT E R
(4&)

AEBE SN L3 &R RIRA %
ANERT AR R - AEBEER
AR R L 3 B RER] 2
HEATE BHRIEHAKEL
AUBHRERBREATE  ET
5l BRI -

B B R AE 16 R HE

BEMBRELERNFE16HER-F
—ANFRAEM  ANE SRR
EMEZE D EREBK - Z£R
BEELFRERERNGE R
BN KR AR - RIBHER
EE(HERBMERE) KM
HMENETRABERERAR - #
REFANEHNEEERS -

= 55
2

ZEABY SR EAEBEH T E
HMEZSERE - RAREH
B AEBATARHECERE
A 558,009,000 78 7T © &K EIE
BYLE  VIRERE BTG
WMEEAF 165K - HSLME
AEEERTHERE EHES
DIFEUBRAR ENEERE
BERIFIG A - IRAFER 2 IRE
HEFH RNERHESERN
EECZHNBETHRFERAEEE Y
BEHp A - BAIRTE 9 AE R L -
RAIE ARG B R ERER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

2

B IR M

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards not yet

adopted (Continued)
Date of adoption by the Group

The Group will apply the standard from its
mandatory adoption date of 1st April 2019. The
Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative
amounts for the year prior to first adoption.
Right-of-use assets for property leases will
be measured on transition as if the new rules
had always been applied. All other right-of-
use assets will be measured at the amount of
the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any
prepaid or accrued lease expenses).

There are no other standards that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to have
a material impact on the entity in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 FEE2:BEME(E)
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 22 EHERZEE
The following explains the impact of the adoption LA s BR R AN 78 B 7% ¥ 5 22 I 25 9 5%
of HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 on the Group's RBBHBRELENEISTHAEE
consolidated financial statements and also FEMBRACTE  THREELE-ZT
discloses the new accounting policies that have —N\FUNA—RREAZHLFTBUR -
been applied from 1st April 2018, where they are ZEBRBIRBEFE ZEFTBUR °

different to those applied in prior years.

(a) Impact on consolidated financial statements (a) LB HRExcTE
The following table shows the adjustments TRINAHETERIE B R
recognised for each individual line item. Line B -BESFATEZEFHTEN
items that were not affected by the changes BRIIEE - At » Teeft 2 iRME
have not been included. As a result, the ZEFTENHEMERN/ N R
sub-totals and totals disclosed cannot be BEt o BARBRRATRERR
recalculated from the numbers provided. The ABFRER o

adjustments are explained in more detail by
standard below.

31st March
2018 1st April
Consolidated statement REMEIRR R As originally 2018
of financial position (extract) (#§&%) presented HKFRS 9 Restated
—E-NF —ZE-N\F
=A=+—H BARNE®RS mA—H
BIRAZ ZH|ZE 95 |
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Available-for-sale financial asset AJftHE&E 7 @& E 286 (286) —
Financial asset at fair value BRARBETA
through other comprehensive Hi 2EIKA
income LB REE — 286 286
Current assets REEE
Trade and bill receivables FE U IR R e = I 528,238 (5,190) 523,048
Total assets BEEHBEE 3,131,888 (5,190) 3,126,698
Equity ‘xR
Reserves e 993,648 (4,672) 988,976
Non-controlling interests FEIZ I M RS 29,738 (518) 29,220
Total equity SRR 1,087,441 (5,190) 1,082,251
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

2

B IR M

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2

(Continued)

ETREBORBE (&)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 — Impact on adoption

HKFRS 9 was generally adopted without
restating comparative information with
the exception of certain aspects of hedge
accounting. The adjustments arising from
the new impairment rules are therefore not
reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31st March 2018, but
are recognised in the opening of retained
earnings on the consolidated statement of
financial position on 1st April 2018.

HKFRS 9 replaces the provisions of HKAS 39
that relate to the recognition, classification
and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, derecognition of financial
instruments, impairment of financial assets and
hedge accounting. The adoption of HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” from 1st April 2018
resulted in changes in accounting policies.

The total impact on the Group’s retained
earnings and non-controlling interests as at 1st

22 BRBE 22D (E)
(b) BEHMBHEEZEREIN —

Hy &

wH

EAMBREEAER  — M
FEAL R B 5 AT R AR 2 T

Ry S
BR SN o Bt -

SR EREE T&HE
¥R E R R E &

ZHRBILLRENR-_F—-N\F=H

=+-AzEa
B MR =

BN KRS R
T-N\FHA-BZ

A BN R 2 RE B HY)

REFRTPHERR o

BREMBRELNEIFRAE
BB ERFEIOREBTRMEE

KE B EER
TR T AR IERER

BRI hE

- DREETE

‘iﬂé&ﬂ

FAREZRE - B

T-N\FHA-BRRABTEY
BREENFEFI SR T A E

W@ R

HAEEN -

—N\FHA—H

ZREBBNFFEH S 2 B

April 2018 is as follows: BESSENT :
Increase in
provision of
31st March impairment of 1st April
2018 trade and bill 2018
(HKAS 39) receivables (HKFRS 9)
—E-N\F —E-N\F
=A=t+—H FEWRRR MA—AH
(BBETER RERE (EERBEHRE
28395%) A m ZRIE9H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
& FET &
Retained earnings RERH 350,852 (4,672) 346,180
Non-controlling interests FEFE S MR 29,738 (518) 29,220
380,590 (5,190) 375,400
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 — Impact on adoption (Continued)

(i)

Classification and measurement

On 1st April 2018 (the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9), the Group’s
management has assessed which
business models apply to the financial
assets held by the Group and has
classified its financial instruments into
the appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. The
Group elected to present changes in the
fair value of all of its previously classified
as available-for-sale financial asset in
other comprehensive income.

The impact of classification is as follows:

e SRR MR
TEEHEEME ()

22 FHEREZ228(H)

(b) FEHMBEHEZERFEIN — RN
Hy & (&)

() DERFE

R—Z—)\FENA—HBH#
IRERB BT BHRE NS
O EH) AEEBEZEE
BEFEREARAEEAT#H
CREEZEREN  IEB
BESRTADEEEEH
EWRELEBFEIRE B A
Al REBEEREREME
HRAZINEEZHBESLE
AR ESRMEEZAAR
BEZE -

DRZEENT

Financial asset
at fair value

Available- through other
for-sale  comprehensive
financial asset income
BAREBERA
AHEE Hit2EWA
ZERMEE ZERMEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Closing balance as at RZZE-N\F=ZA=1+—H
31st March 2018 — ZHRMES — BB GRE
HKAS 39 A1 28 39 5% 286 —
Reclassify investment from &R ERAIEHEZ
available-for-sale financial CRIEESNNER
asset to financial asset at BRAAEBEGAEM
fair value through other ZHBAZ SREE
comprehensive income (286) 286
Opening balance as at RZZE-NFMA—A
1st April 2018 Z B
— HKFRS 9 — BAMBHREENFE IR — 286
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MY EE

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 FE23HREME(H)
(Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 BIBRZE2E(E)
(b) HKFRS 9 — Impact on adoption (Continued) (b) BEBHUBHEEREIH — HN
IR 2 (E)
(i)  Classification and measurement () SERHEE)
(Continued)
The impact of these changes on the L EFHHAEER D
Groups’ equity is as follows: ’EWDT
Financial asset
at fair value
through other
Available- comprehensive
for-sale reserve  income reserve
BAABERA
AHHE HipZE KA
3] SREEZRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Closing balance as at RZZE-NF=ZA=+— E
31st March 2018 — ZHRES — BEGS
HKAS 39 HERII5E 39 5% 203 —
Reclassify investment from R ERAIEHEZ
available-for-sale financial CRIBEESNNER
asset to financial asset at BARBEFARMEE
fair value through other WAZ SREE
comprehensive income (203) 203
Opening balance as at RZE—-NFMA—AH
1st April 2018 Z BARHE A
— HKFRS 9 — BEMBHREENFE IR — 203

(i) Impairment of financial assets
The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to HKFRS
9’s new expected credit loss model:

° trade and bill receivables;

° cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 — Impact on adoption (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

° other financial assets measured at
amortised costs (including deposits
and other receivables).

The Group was required to revise its
impairment methodology under HKFRS
9 for these classes of financial assets.
The impact of the change in impairment
methodology on the Group’s retained
earnings is disclosed in the below table.

While cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits are also subject
to the impairment requirements of HKFRS
9, the identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

For deposits and other receivables,
management considers that its credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and
current financial position. The impairment
provision is determined based on the
12-month expected credit losses and the
amount was immaterial.

For trade and bill receivables, the Group
applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade and bill receivables. To
measure the expected credit losses,
trade and bill receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.

e SRR MR
B ERRE ()

22 FHEREZ228(H)

(b) FEHMBEHEZERFEIN — RN
Hy & (&)

(i) ZEEEREE)

s HEBHEKAEZH
EMmEE(BRRE
R Eo At MR 3K ©

AEBEARBERBMBRSE
HHEIRETEZRER
BEZRERRN - BEERER
EHUARERERNZF
ENTIREE -

BERSRASZERDE
R N T B B
TR 2 0% 2 RIE R
o EE SR RIERE Y
TEX -

SR & N H b B AR K M
5 BEEERZ2ERZHT
BEEDERE R BN
VZHERIKR  RREERR
REMAIRIZN < BERHE
TRE12E A RBEEE
BEE  HERATEK -

SLEWERARRZRME @ A
SEERAFTEVHHREEA
FORBLITAFERBRE
EER - BT A R ER R
ERzHEMNERREE B
FAERBEEEER - BUER
RAERBEREAREERR
R a BB M o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

B IR M

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(b) HKFRS 9 — Impact on adoption (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

The Group has assessed the expected
credit loss model applied to the trade
and bill receivables as at 1st April 2018
and this resulted in an increase of the
provision for impairment of trade and
bill receivables on 1st April 2018 by
HK$5,190,000.

Trade and bill receivables are written off
when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient

2

ETREBORBE (&)

22 FHREZ2S8(H)

(b) BEHBIHREEREIR — BH
W E (&)
(i) HEEERE(E)
AEBHR-_ZT—N\FHEA

—HZERBERFREE - R
BIEBEERBEEXELRT
- BHEREREREEZ
BERBRN=_Z—/\FWMA
—H#505,190,000/8 7T °

R R R RN EAIETE
BT IS T AR - — A
mE - AEBEEBEBAL
BEEIMWARRAIELER
IR & =2 R(E R IR
BRNRYRREREAE

cash flows to repay the amounts subject s o
to the written-off.
The loss allowances for trade and bill RZE—NF=A=+—H
receivables as at 31st March 2018 ZJEHQEE AR EREERE
reconcile to the opening loss allowances H_T—N\FMA—HZH
on 1st April 2018 as follows: U ERESENT
HK$'000
TET
Closing loss allowance RZE—-N\E=A=+—H
as at 31st March 2018 ZHRERER
— calculated under HKAS 39 — BEA T EAERFE 17,536
Amounts restated through opening FRINRERFES
retained earnings e 4,672
Amounts restated through opening BRI IEEF RS
non-controlling interests x| 518
Opening loss allowances at 1st April 2018 R=Z— \FMN A — Bz BAYE B E
— calculated under HKFRS 9 — BEAVBREENEIRETE 22,726
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 FEE2:BEME(E)
(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 BIBRZEE(E)
(b) HKFRS 9 — Impact on adoption (Continued) (b) BEBHUBHEEREIHN — FA
IR 2 (E)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) ZFEEREE)
(Continued)
The amount of impairment of financial B 2 B 2R 39
assets in the current period and period SEARLL c ERAEBUB®mE
to date by the application of HKFRS ERIZE G - AHARI RS
9 as compared to HKAS 39 that was REHRAZeMEERES
previously in effect before the adoption of BIOR :

HKFRS 9 is as follows:

For the year ended 31st March 2019
BE-Z2-NE=A=1+-HLEE

Amounts
without the Effects of
Consolidated income adoption of the adoption Amounts as
statement (extract) REBRER(ER) HKFRS 9 of HKFRS 9 reported
I RPN E B RNE B
B & 2 Al B &2l
ke ok B9 HE 2HReHE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FEx FEr
General and —M Rk
administrative expenses  {THXH (294,458) (4,262) (298,720)
Profit attributable to: FEMERF :
— Owners of the Company — AR &EIHEA A 18,266 (4,378) 13,888
— Non-controlling interests — FE{Z |47 2% (9,625) 116 (9,509)
8,641 (4,262) 4,379
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MY EE

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(c) HKFRS 15 — Impact of adoption

2 EEETHRHEGE)

22 &

SRz EE (&)

(c) BRUMBHZERFISHE — &

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 from
1st April 2018 which resulted in changes
in accounting policies and adjustments to
the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. As such, the
comparatives would not be restated but
contracts which have remaining obligations
as of the effective date had resulted in an
adjustment to the opening balance of the
retained earnings as at 1st April 2018.

Outbound freight expenses have been
reclassified in the consolidated income
statement due to the more detailed
requirements under HKFRS 15 whereby
outbound freight expenses directly associated
with fulfilling performance obligations are
classified in cost of sales. During the year
ended 31st March 2019, outbound freight
expenses of HK$50,373,000 were reclassified
from “selling and distribution expenses” to
“cost of sales”, as follows:

Consolidated income

statement (extract) SEBEREXR(FER)
Cost of sales $HE KA
Gross profit E7
Selling and SHE K&

distribution expenses Poli= AN

47 o

REBEA T \FHA—HE
RABEM RS EAF 155 - &
S BREH RERAYBRE
THAZCBEFLAR - BRER
BFTEE)  ERBELEREH
MEFBRBETEEZALD -
T \FHA-—BZRERNHY
KEERIERE -

HRBEENBEHREELNFI5HH
Ei%ﬁm %ﬁﬁﬁamhmﬁ
BERNEFOE B HESRRE
TENETEENEER S
EHEXRA - BE-_T—NLF=
AZ+—BHLFER HEESB
50,373,000/8 LI E KD B X
H B AMEEKA] 1T -

For the year ended 31st March 2019
BEZ-Z-NF=ZA=+-BHLEFE

Amounts

without the Effects of
adoption of the adoption Amounts as
HKFRS 15 of HKFRS 15 reported

WERAE B RAEE

HBMELER P HEER
1528 H15Hz2HE EHReH
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FHET FET
(2,557,134) (50,373) (2,607,507)
325,471 (50,373) 275,098
(69,599) 50,373 (19,226)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

TREHBRBE (&)

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2
(Continued)
22 B BXRZ25H(E)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Change in classification (d) ZEZXE

During the year ended 31st March 2019, the
reversal of provision for onerous contracts
has been classified as cost of sales with
comparative information reclassified as
management considered it is in line with
market practice.

2.3 Subsidiaries

(a) Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has right to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

(i)  Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

HREEBR ST EEMGIED
— B REBEE_ZT-NAF=H
=t—HLEFEER BEROZ
BRBEROEIRIHEEKAN - £
FELL BB FIMEED -

2.3 MEBAQFAE
(a) &

P I 2 =) 5 AN 5% B S EL A 1 42
CER(BEEBLEER) - EX
SERZ2E-ZFZEBEBEMYA
BomAERBRIZERN &
BRNEBHZERBERNES
FERTOHRE - AIAKBEHZ
EREEIEGIE - NWEARME
EHREBIANKREZ BERA
AR WAZESER AR
RIEARR -

(i) RBEOf

AEBMETERSHERD
WEEFHEANR - BB
NEIZEBRRERERE
B HRWRET ZmA A
PTELARNIRAEEAAMET
BAtEsm 2 AREE - T8
EREERAAREBLHE
EZERAEERBEZAR
BE - REHS HERTKE
ZAHBEEREREZR
ERIRAE RRBEBEZ

AR A BERE

W RRIR AR E LR 5
FAST
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill
(Note 2.9). If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform
with the Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying amount of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

TREHBRBE (&)

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2
(Continued)
2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued) 2.3 BT (HE)

(a) Consolidation (Continued) (a) BOF(4&)

(iii)  Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. It means the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs.

(b) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
a dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

(b)

(i) M EREL F]

EARKENERREEDE
B - EAIRE SRR AT
HIEE B2 AR EBEEM
B AREEEZPHNES
TR - EoABEARR
ARIMEBE QA - a2h
XAETMEENREARESE L
YIHEBRE(E © BLHN - SRR
Hi 2B AR EZER
BERNEMSBERBIMALE
BoERHERHEERA
BT AARR - BRI E
b2 H WA RN S REF
DEEBRFRBEE BT
BEEAREEBER MK
O -

BB

KB R B2 RERK AR
Bk KABEKEERER
ZRRA - B AR ZEENARR
AR WA B R R A B B AR -

MR EBBEIRREHANNE A
AlZEZHBARRE  HWEBZ
MBHRER 2 RERE S REBL
EMBBRPBRERREEF
B(ERERB)2RESE AR
ERERERHAHNMEARZR
BIERERAR °
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.4 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise
the investor's share of the profit or loss of the
investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s
investments in associates include goodwill identified
on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the
aggregate fair value of the associate’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to “share of results of associates — net” in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.4 Associates (Continued)

25

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 — Joint
Arrangements to all joint arrangements. Under
HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature
of its joint arrangements and determined them to be
joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements
in other comprehensive income. The Group’s
investments in joint ventures include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in a joint venture, any difference
between the cost of the joint venture and the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint
ventures, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

n‘/-ﬁ

2.6 Segment reporting

2.7

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
Chief Operating Decision Maker (*“CODM”), who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions. Information relating to segment
assets and liabilities is not disclosed as such
information is not reported to the CODM.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. All foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “other gains — net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets, such as
equities classified as financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income,
are included in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANC|AL STATEMENTS
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TREHBRBE (&)

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2
(Continued)
2.7 HEBRE(E)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (c) ZEEAZA

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

(ify income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(iii) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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B IR M

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a joint venture that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that
do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange difference
is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 FEE2:BEME(E)
(Continued)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment 2.8 ¥ - BMERRE

Property, plant and equipment, is stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial year in which
they are incurred.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

WE -~ BB MRERE L RARITES
fR-BERABBERBEBEEREEZ
Fx °

HERANMEEREZIBB BB RRE
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FXABER] AT ER - s ABERE SR
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WE - BERREBEZFTERE G AL
RERRAERERKA D BERIRE
ETEWT

— Buildings 2% to 20% — BF 2% % 20%
— Leasehold improvements 20% to 33% — HEMEEE 20% %£ 33%
— Furniture and equipment 15% to 33% — R ERAE 15% £ 33%
— Machinery 10% to 25% — MBS 10% £ 25%
— Motor vehicles and vessels 5% to 20% — BB MM 5% % 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount
is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.12).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and
are recognised within “general and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.9 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the Group’s
interest in net fair value of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value
less costs of disposal. Any impairment is
recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.

Customer contracts

Customer contracts acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair values
at the acquisition date. Customer contracts
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the utilisation method to
allocate the cost of customer contracts over
their estimated useful life.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.10 Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are accounted for as operating leases. They are
recognised in the consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the periods of the land use
rights, or when there is impairment, the impairment
is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

2.11 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, are held for long-term
rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and
that is not occupied by the companies of the Group.
Land held under operating leases are classified
and accounted for as investment properties when
the rest of the definition of investment properties is
met. In such case, the operating lease concerned is
accounted for as if it were a finance lease.

Investment properties are measured initially at its
cost, including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined
at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair
value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location
or condition of the specific asset. If the information
is not available, the Group uses alternative
valuation methods such as recent prices on less
active markets or discounted cash flow projections.
Changes in fair values are recorded in consolidated
income statement.
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B IR M

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

2.13 Financial assets

(a) Classification

From 1st April 2018, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following measurement
categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), or
through profit or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(b) Recognition and measurement

(c)

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date
— the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed
in the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely
payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset.

The Group classifies all of its debt instruments
to be measured at amortised cost. Assets
that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in “other gains — net”
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

n‘/-ﬁ

2

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as
other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in “other gains —
net” in the consolidated income statement as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

From 1st April 2018, the Group assesses on
a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and bill receivables, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition
of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

For other receivables and deposits,
management considers that its credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition with reference to the counterparty
historical default rate and current financial
position. The impairment provision is
determined based on the 12-month expected
credit losses which is close to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31st March

2018

The Group has applied HKFRS 9
retrospectively, but has elected not to restate
comparative information. As a result, the
comparative information provided continues
to be accounted for in accordance with the
Group’s previous accounting policy.

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets
in the following categories: at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale. The
classification depends on the purposes
for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the
classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are financial assets held for
trading. A financial asset is classified in
this category if acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the short-term.
Derivatives are also categorised as held
for trading unless they are designated
as hedges. Assets in this category are
classified as current assets if expected
to be settled within 12 months; otherwise,
they are classified as non-current.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31st March
2018 (Continued)

(i)

Classification (Continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are
included in current assets, except for
the amounts that are settled or expected
to be settled more than 12 months after
the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise
“trade and bill receivables”, “deposits
and other receivables”, “amount due from
a joint venture”, “pledged bank deposits”
and “cash and cash equivalents” in
the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are
non-derivatives that are either designated
in this category or not classified in any of
the other categories. They are included in
non-current assets unless the investment
matures or management intends to
dispose of it within 12 months of the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31st March
2018 (Continued)

(ii)

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the
trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all
financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or
loss are initially recognised at fair value
and transaction costs are expensed
in the consolidated income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Available-for-sale financial
asset and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair values. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in
the fair value of the “financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss” category
are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, within “other gains
— net” in the period in which they arise.
Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in the income statement as
part of “other gains — net” when the
Group’s right to receive payments is
established.
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B IR M

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31st March
2018 (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Recognition and measurement
(Continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary
and non-monetary securities classified as
available-for-sale are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Impairment of financial assets
Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets is impaired.
A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses
are incurred only if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (a “loss
event”) and that loss event (or events)
has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or group
of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include
indications that the debtors or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation, and
where observable data indicate that
there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31st March
2018 (Continued)

(iif)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

For loans and receivables category,
the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’'s
carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced
and the amount of the loss is recognised
in the consolidated income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of
the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was
recognised (such as an improvement in
the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal
of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MY EE

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Accounting policies applied until 31st March
2018 (Continued)

(iii)  Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there
is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity
investments classified as available-for-
sale, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of the security below its
cost is also evidence that the assets are
impaired. If any such evidence exists
for available-for-sale financial asset,
the cumulative loss — measured as
the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss —
is reclassified from equity and recognised
in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in the consolidated income
statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the consolidated
income statement.

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on
future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade and bill receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade and bill receivables
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 26 for further information about the
Group’s accounting for trade and bill receivables
and Notes 2.2(b) and 2.13(d) for a description of
the Group’s impairment policies.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.18 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue

of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2.19 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and
other payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period.

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisitions, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in
which they are incurred.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current
and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in
the consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to item recognised directly
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting
date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred income tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from initial recognition
of goodwill. The deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

e SRR MR
2 TERHEEMER)

2.22 EHRIEFEFRE B

HAREAEX L BREMMRREMREH
MERGERERTER  EEERE
EEMEHABRASEEREESTRERZ
BB ABERI - EZIBERT - BIAT
DHEEMEE R AN E R EE D

27
Ao ©

(a) ERFFEH

SHIRBH X HREAR R ZH
BAAEENRELRRARPALZ
BRNBEBCEMAELRM
ZBBEDIEE - BHEE L E A
MG AR RBEARR 1B E H
FHE R R 2R - XEBAIB
LTS AR 4 T8 HA 28 (7] A 755 1 R S A
LR E B -

(b) EEFE
AEZEE

BIEFSEHRERABEENEER
BEZHEEENGS B BERE
ZEECEME CREEZNAE
EERER - AN WELEMFH
BEELAHRBZVRER
AR TFHER - WMEEMSHESL
BEXZ(TREXBE )Y
BESRBEZONTER  MER
AR E G SRR E A K
B BN - EBIEMRBH
RAERS ACEMKNE LB M
ZHRE(FED)  WHERRA M
BIEFSHREENENELRS
FMAERBNSERAMERE

EIEFT S I E EERA A REH R
RERDGN AT SHH 2 BEE
EEH BT NHER ©

Annual Report 2018/19 42

113



114

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Generally, the Group is unable to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
for associates and joint ventures. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the
Group the ability to control the reversal of
the temporary difference in the foreseeable
future, deferred tax liability in relation to
taxable temporary differences arising from the
associates and joint ventures’ undistributed
profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
on deductible temporary differences arising
from investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures only to the extent that it is
probable the temporary difference will reverse
in the future and there is sufficient taxable
profit available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension obligation

The Group operates defined contribution plan.
The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-
administered funds.

A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity. The Group
has no legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance plans
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once the contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee
benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before
the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy
in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to a termination
when the entity has a detailed formal plan
to terminate the employment of current
employees without possibility of withdrawal.
In the case of an offer made to encourage
voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number
of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after
the end of the reporting period are discounted
to their present value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MY EE

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)
(c) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonus. The Group recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or where
there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

(d) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting
date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.

(e) Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
long service payments to its employees
upon termination of their employment or
retirement when the employees fulfill certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plan that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group.

2.24 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

° including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2 FEE2:BEME(E)
(Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued) 224 UM ARERZ X ()

° excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for
the purposes of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement period and
grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertaking in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiary undertaking,
with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.

s TEEEMARBLITERAR
BIRM(HIMANEEN  HEER
BEEREERNFTRHERT 2R
BIzg8 Rk

o BREMIFERBGMEHIMESR
TFREIZHE -

ISR MRS R AR AR R
B2 BEREHE ZRR - HBERE
&R (AN A& 4 E 57 B IR 1 9 B m =
Z B NEER o

BEAN - EREERT - EERAEREA
Mz aRHRE - RkREBMZAR
EBETIHERREFHIGBHERH A2
HIR R ST B RT

EEBREHR  AREEREBEIFHIHER
B KBRS R IHERT LB HIER B 2 BB At
BHZfhEt - AEBEERABERAME
RETREE(ME) 2 FE > U EE
fELARETREE

R T (205 KD BT
B o B IR 2 B 1 3KIE (AR AE 1 4
FE A6 22 5 ) B AR A (T 18) R B9
s {E -

ARRAETHBARZEER THERE
s TAZBEE  RASEAKA-
ERESRENAAEE 2R
BEZ AR EBERE @ LHERB AR
R EREMBABIREZEN - WHH
AT AR RRIRE 2 -

Annual Report 2018/19 42

117



118

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2

B IR M

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.25 Provision

Provisions for environment restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination
payments. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for goods supplied
and service rendered, stated net of discounts,
returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group; and
when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities as described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has full discretion over channel
and price to sell the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customer’s acceptance of the products.
Delivery occurs until the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risk of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred
to the customers, and either the customers
have accepted the products in accordance
with sales contracts, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customers’
acceptance of the products.

Service income

Revenue from providing service is recognised
in accounting period in which the services are
rendered, by reference to stage of completion
of the specific transaction and assessed on
the basis of actual services provided as a
proportion of the total service to be provided.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received a consideration (or an
amount of consideration that is due) from the
customer. If a customer pays the consideration
before the Group transfers goods or services
to the customer, a contract liability is
recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract.

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant leases.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any
contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised goods or services to
the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.
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2

B IR M

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)

2.27 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.28 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.29 Leases

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases.

(a) The Group is the lessee under operating
lease other than land use rights

Payments made under operating leases (net
of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

(b) The Group is the lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases
are included in investment properties. Rental
income from operating lease is recognised
over the term of the lease on a straight-line
basis.

2.30 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s owners
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
the Company’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA

2 EEETHRHEGE)

2.27 R B A

MEBAA S B E ERMERERNE
fEatE - EERBEEEREZERE
ERAIRRIN - BEEREZEREE &
W?Dﬁ%)ﬁﬂ%%&%?éz/ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
RABRFARGTE

2.28 REWA

BT HETE B MR R TR B AR o

2.29 #HE

BEREREDE A&@i&ﬁﬂ HE AR
BrHEDHE Fﬂ“éa"ﬁ

(a) FEERELEHEMHFLBER
BEARBA

REHE T RBECGARRE H
MAZEMRE)NEERELRS
BRRTREGEENMR -

(b) FEEBHBEA

RIEEHERE 2 BEFARE
ME - KEHEHSBAREE
I ERELERER -

2.30 R E 9K

AARRRHEEADIRZEE - ERER
HANESAR THx%ii%(th ki
XA AR B R AR B Z A RRAER
REME -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Risk Management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including price risk,
foreign exchange risk, and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central
treasury department (group treasury) under
policies approved by the board of directors. The
Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges
financial risks in close co-operation with the
Group’s operating units. The board provides written
principles for overall risk management, as well as
written policies covering specific areas, such as
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit
risk.

(a) Market risk
(i) Price risk

The Group is subject to commodity price
risk because certain subsidiaries of the
Group are engaged in the trading of steel
products. As at 31st March 2019, the
Group had committed sales orders for
steel products of approximately 147,000
metric tonnes (2018: 125,000 metric
tonnes), for which the selling price is
fixed, which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories. Over the
coming year, the Group had committed
sale orders for steel product exceed the
aggregate amount of on-hand inventories.
As the prices of steel products can
fluctuate materially, the Group’s results
may be affected significantly by future
fluctuations in steel prices (Note 4(b)).
To manage its commodity price risk
arising from committed sales orders, the
Group is closely monitoring the market
price of steel products and adjusting its
procurement strategy accordingly.

e SRR MR

3 MEERER

3.1

PR EE

AEEZELRDMEZRYBREAR
35 E R (2R ERS R - IMEE B K
ﬁ%m RoanBENXERR)  F8

EREBEERER - AREZEEMR
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%iﬂéﬂﬁkm %5 2 ZETERIME
RERBEHSAEETHREEET
T2 -

R EE R BES(KERE)RR
i%Aﬁt/EZE&“ﬁm AEERES

PREFRLEEU L ETRAE AEMHE
© R A A0 O B 7 R e %%A%W

BEBREREEE/RIEE@BE

MEINERR - FXERREER ﬁi?

FrERS °

(a) TEEE
()  1EERE

HRAEE 2 ETHEB AR
HEMMERE S - BULE
%lﬁgﬁuufﬂ%ﬂ% o A
—NWEF=ZRA=+—8"

$EIEEEEIIE B 2 3
M E i $H & 5] B 49 147,000
AHE(=Z— )\ : 125,000
AB)EBBFEFE - K
F - ANEBEE BTN E®D
ZIHETEBBREFET
T o AR ER BB
ME?)@JJ C RNEBZEER

] Bt T 30 B AR 2R 80 A7 B 1%
/Bzibzwa(wuﬂ( )) o AR
EEZYERMMERZT

1B N AR FE 38 B H IR B SR g
MEE@ETJ@E% RIEEL
Z%DD{TT&H /~A

Annual Report 2018/19 42

121



122

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

Financial Risk Management (Continued)

n‘/-ﬁ

3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Price risk (Continued)

The Group also exposed to price risk
mainly arising from investments held
by the Group and classified on the
consolidated statement of financial
position as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. To manage its price
risk arising from investments, the Group
diversifies its portfolio and managed by
senior management on a case by case
basis. Diversification of the portfolio is
managed in accordance with the internal
limits set by the Group. As at 31st March
2019, if the price of these investments
increase/decrease by 5%, profit
before income tax for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,835,000 (2018: loss before income
tax for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$6,777,000) mainly
as a result of a fair value gain/(loss) on
these investments.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollar
(“US$”) and the Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to
require group companies to manage
their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currency.

The Group has certain investments in
foreign operations, of which the net
assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. Currency exposure
arising from the net assets of the Group’s
foreign operations is managed primarily
through borrowings denominated in the
relevant foreign currencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

3 MERRERE(E)

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March 2019, if HK$ had
strengthened/weakened by 3% against
RMB with all other variables held
constant, profit before income tax would
have been approximately HK$331,000
higher/lower (2018: loss before income
tax would have been approximately
HK$581,000 lower/higher), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/(losses)
on translation of RMB-denominated
monetary assets and liabilities.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates as
the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets except for cash and
bank deposits, which earn low interest
rate. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk
which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates.

At 31st March 2019, if interest rates on
floating rate borrowings had been 100
basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$14,925,000 lower/
higher (2018: loss before income tax for
the year would have been approximately
HK$15,589,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a result of higher/lower interest expenses
on floating rate borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade and bill receivables, deposits
and other receivables, amount due
from a joint venture and cash and cash
equivalents.

Management considers that the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks
which are leading and reputable with low
credit risk. The Group has not incurred
significant loss from non-performance
by these parties in the past and
management does not expect so in the
future. Therefore, expected credit loss
rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made
as at 31st March 2019.

The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to reputable
and creditworthy customers with an
appropriate financial strength, credit
history and appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

3 MERRERE(E)

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Risk management (Continued)

Majority of the Group’'s revenue is
received from individual customers in
relation to trading of sanitary wares,
kitchen cabinets, engineering plastics and
distribution of construction materials. As
at 31st March 2019, top 10 customers of
the Group accounted for approximately
28% (2018:19%) to the total trade
and bill receivables of the Group. The
Group has set up long-term cooperative
relationship with these customers. In
view of the history of business dealings
with these customers and the collection
history of the receivables due from them,
management believes that there is no
material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding receivable balance due from
these customers saved for the debtor
related to the impaired trade receivable
disclosed below. Management makes
periodic assessment on the recoverability
of trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length of
the overdue period, the financial strength
of the debtors and whether there are any
disputes with the debtors. The Group’s
historical experience in collection of trade
and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances and the directors are
of the opinion that adequate provision for
uncollectible receivables has been made
in these consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to the

expected credit loss model:

— trade and bill receivables;

3.1 B¥EMEEE)

(b) =EmEEE)

(1)

(ii)

mREE (&)

REBBABOWEREHR
BEARE  HERIES
BESREMDHZEA
EFP -RZZE—NLF=A
=+—H ' AEEHI0K
BEEEAEEERERR
ERATEA28% (ZFE— N\
F:19%) o AEEE H It
ERFEYEHAERBE -
ERENERFZEBER
48 M R R SR U Bl R 45
EREREAEEEKE L
ERPZEINESRIEEXR
EERR  ETXHEEH
BB e W BR R 2 B A BR
Hh o ERERBBENNKE
8%~ mEARSRE - B AMTS
BN REGEHEABGEAF
& EHFE KRR RE
fth FE UK BR SR 2 AT Y [E1 BE 7 o
7 £ B UG [B] i W AR 51 K B A
FERERR 2 BALERIIER
BECHE MEERAD
BT UL E 2 8 U BR SRR AR
RE MBS HmE P IERBE
1 o

EMEERE
AEBXBRREHEEERE
B E=EIESREE

DR

— RBUREREERRE:

Annual Report 2018/19 42

125



126
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Financial Risk Management (Continued)

n‘/-ﬁ

3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

— cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits; and

— other financial assets measured at
amortised costs (including deposits
and other receivables).

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss
was immaterial.

Trade and bill receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9
simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. The Group
measures the expected credit losses
on a combination of both individual and
collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on the nature of
customer accounts, shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

On the above individual and collective
basis, the loss allowance as at 31st

e SRR MR

MBREREE (&)
Bt 75 FE B R 3 (4])
(b) EEmEE)
(i) ZEEEREGE)

R BRI REREET -
R-EB—hE=B=+—H

3.1

March 2019 was determined as follows: ZEEBEETELOT
Over
1-60 days  61-120 days 121-180 days 181-365 days 365 days
Current past due past due past due past due past due Total
ES  8160R @M61-120R BH121100 @H181-3658 BAEE3G5A it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000
T FAT FAT T FAT FAT 7T
At 31st March 2019 R-B-1%=R
=t-A
Gross carrying amount - AR —
frade receivables RS 337,297 84,031 33,397 13,981 13329 21,762 503,737
Loss allowance BRRE (72) (697) (151) (51) (4,361) (17,682) (23,214)
Net carying amount - BEFE —
trade receivable R 337,165 83,334 33,246 13,930 8,968 3,880 480,523

Impairment losses on trade receivables
are presented as net impairment losses
within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line
item.

Previous accounting policy for
impairment of trade and bill receivables

In the prior year, the impairment of trade
and bill receivables was assessed based
on the incurred loss model. Individual
receivables which were known to be
uncollectible were written off by reducing
the carrying amount directly. The other
receivables were assessed collectively
to determine whether there was objective
evidence that an impairment had incurred
but not yet been identified. For these
receivables the estimated impairment
losses were recognised in a separate
provision for impairment. The Group
considered that there was evidence
of impairment if any of the following
indicators were present:
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Financial Risk Management (Continued)

n‘/-ﬁ

3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

o significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

° probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation; and

° default or late payments.

Receivables for which an impairment
provision was recognised were written off
against the provision when there was no
expectation of recovering additional cash.

Other financial assets at amortised costs

Management considers that its credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and
current financial position. The impairment
provision is determined based on the
12-month expected credit loss which is
zero.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in
the operating entities of the Group and
aggregated by group finance. Group finance
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs
while maintaining sufficient headroom on its
undrawn committed borrowing facilities (Note
31) at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of
its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes
into consideration the Group’s debt financing
plans, covenant compliance and compliance
with internal ratio of the consolidated
statement of financial position targets.
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Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

3 HERAKREE(E)
31 B¥EBEE(E)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) nEEZREEE)
Surplus cash held by the operating entities EREEREACHRE BB
over and above balance required for working EEEAREIEMEGER @8
capital management are transferred to the BEAKERE - X&EEAE
Group treasury. Group treasury invests BRBREEEREHRTAEE
surplus cash in time deposits, marketable BEH » Wi @& E ol 7808 P
securities, and choosing instruments with REEAEE DN EE KR AR
appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity to MeITH BHFEEER - RW
provide sufficient head-room as determined LH AEEFEReRASE
by the above-mentioned forecasts. At the {B%47126,775,0007870( —ZF—\F :
reporting date, the Group held cash and cash 312,766,000 7% 7t ) (fI 5% 28) R FE UL
equivalents of approximately HK$126,775,000 B 3 I F 4% 5 58 49 480,523,000
(2018: HK$312,766,000) (Note 28) and trade BIL(ZZF — J\4F : 528,238,000
and bill receivables, net, of approximately ST ) (M sE26) - TEHR AT BN B 2=
HK$480,523,000 (2018: HK$528,238,000) ERERANEERBDESRR
(Note 26) that are expected to readily generate
cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TERBINAEEZCRMERE &
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings BB BAERNRENREEES
based on the remaining period at the reporting WEmB 2R TNHABETON -
date to the contractual maturity date. The TREZBEZSEAEHRUIRIIR
amounts disclosed in the table are the B °
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
P E 1225 2E5%F BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET & TFET FET
At 31st March 2019 R=E-h&
=A=+—-H
Trade and bill payables EMEREHEER 189,093 — — 189,093
Other payables H i EER 35,354 7,740 7,506 50,600
Borrowings BE 788,145 91,593 615,420 1,495,158
Interest payable -7 8 74,330 37,132 75,017 186,479
1,086,922 136,465 697,943 1,921,330
At 31st March 2018 R-B-N\F
=B=+-A
Trade and bill payables REBRALTE 284,811 — — 284,811
Other payables H b T BR 3K 28,882 4,707 7,106 40,695
Borrowings fBE 947,948 128,562 483,580 1,560,090
Interest payable FET RIS 62,744 28,298 23,984 115,026
1,324,385 161,567 514,670 2,000,622

Annual Report 2018/19 42

129



NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 HERBEREGE)
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EsRKRER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital AEBEEES 2 BEARERSER
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue BRE 7 - NAIRERIRMER N A
as a going concern in order to provide returns for HA BB - RS —E&E
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders B AR LOR D E AR o

and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, BEFRFAHERNEE  AEE A
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid MRS 2R E S5 - BREIE KT
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, B BT MSHEEEARE -

issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group AERBZE - AEBREEREELL
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This REEREN o ZELR T FEERRIAE
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. NEENESTY - FEBEDUEERARE
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less pledged ﬂEﬁﬁfEﬁﬁ KARIRE RIRSEE
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents. o AR A ISR R KRR ézliéﬁ
Total capital is calculated as equity (excluding non- ﬁEJ/MZé (N EEIEEH R ) INFE
controlling interests), as shown in the consolidated BT HE o

statement of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2019 and at 31st R-ZE—NF=A=1+-—"HER=-_ZT—
March 2018 were as follows: E=H=+— EIZﬁZFEﬁtb?—ZZDT :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZF-N\EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FEIT
Borrowings (Note 31) BB (HZ31) 1,492,549 1,558,857
Less: Cash and cash B R RBEeEENK
equivalents and pledged BIIFRITER
bank deposits (Note 28) (H15t28) (165,659) (370,573)
Net debt RIETS 1,326,890 1,188,284
Total equity (excluding AR (T BE
non-controlling interests) FEFE MR RS ) 990,346 1,057,703
Total capital AR 2,317,236 2,245,987
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 57% 53%
Net debt includes borrowings that were subject to SEAE TR E%y\ﬁﬁgf\9|\4|§ B &3 =8~ (&
external financial covenants. As at 31st March 2018 E N =F —/\i&_i‘é hNE=H
and 2019, there was no breach in conditions as =+—H BMEERZHEFRITHZIG
specified in the covenants. 1=
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 WMKEKREREE)
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AAEEMRE
The tables below analyses the Group’s financial TERBBEGHERMBAZR 2R
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March EER T N\FEER-_FT—ALF=A
2018 and 2019, by level of the inputs to valuation == EHEQ/LME{E)KQEZ%@IE o
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs ﬁtiﬁé\ RARBEZEHESPEAEUT
are categorised into three levels within a fair value = :

hierarchy as follows:

e  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets e TMERMBHMECREAE)ZIE
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). REEREEE—[E) °

e Inputs other than quoted prices included s ROEEEE—EUBEZREEXSB
within level 1 that are observable for the asset Bz ®mBING A - 0] & E (B fI
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or WEWR)sxME(EIREEK)(F
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level —E)-

2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not e EBENAGBLIIFKEAEEMS
based on observable market data (that is, g zH A (BN BIREG A ) (5
unobservable inputs) (level 3). =)k

See Note 15 for the disclosures of the investment BREF=EB2REYHE  ERARE

properties that is measured at fair value which is BFfE2EBEER - B2HME15 -

included in level 3.

The following table presents the Group’s financial TRBEIAEBER=_ZTE—NLF=A
assets that are measured at fair value at 31st March == EIHZ’A/‘MET EJr%Z/i\E BEE °
2019.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—B E_E E=E HEE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

Assets BE
Financial asset at fair value 1ZA R BEFTA
through profit or loss BRsamEE
— Structured bank — R IERTT
products E — 36,698 — 36,698
Financial asset at fair BAREEETA
value through other Hin 2 EIA
comprehensive income ZEREE
— Shares listed on The — REB ’Péﬁ&
Stock Exchange SHERA
of Hong Kong Limited LFﬁZH%ﬁ 144 = = 144
e o 144 36,698 — 36,842
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3

B IR M

Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3 MERREE(E)

during the year.
Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the reporting date. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily
equity investment classified as available-for-sale,
investments in unit trusts, structured bank products
and corporate notes classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AAEEMEE)
The following table presents the Group’s financial TEERAEBER=ZZ—A\F=A
assets that are measured at fair value at 31st March =qF= EHE/&/LETETE Jr%Z/i\pﬂiﬁE o
2018.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E FE HEE @z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET
Assets BE
Financial asset at fair BAREERTA
value through profit or B
loss L EBEE
— Structured bank — EREIERTT
products Em 23,674 — — 23,674
— Investments in unit — BIE5FE
trusts KE 111,861 — — 111,861
Available-for-sale financial — AJft &
asset L EBEE
— Shares listed on The — REE ﬁﬁé?&
Stock Exchange ZFERA
of Hong Kong Limited LﬁZHﬁfﬁ 286 — — 286
Total HaE 135,821 — — 135,821
There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 RAFE F—E F_EBRE=EZ

fe] S S 4 3
RE-—EZZMTA

RERMSEEZEMIAZAAEE
TERHRERZ TS RETHE - HZR
BRRZ2NEHMER S - KHE
B TERAH  RERBHEEH
B MZERERRERREHRRF
REAET2MBERS - ZxmBRIERE
B ARBEREZeREEMERAZT
BHRERBITEAE - ZFTABREHE
FEB- BREF - EBEZITATERRE
ﬁiﬁi%—ﬂ#\tﬁ’iZH%f'@é&ﬁ BAER

KRE  BEBURTERRDOBERRAA
fETEqu)\?EmZimEéTFZ NSIES:



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximize the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3.

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The fair value
of investment properties was determined by using
valuation technique and management updates
their assessment of the fair value of each property,
taking into account the key valuation assumptions,
including adjusted market yield. Details of the
judgements and assumptions have been disclosed
in Note 15.

e SRR MR

M REREE(K)
3.3 AABEEMEEGE)
RE-FZ2BTA

WENERMISEER 228 T AP0
BIMTETR) RAABEERMGE
TAERE - %FHEARNEERT
BRzMSHE(E)  WAMREEE
ZEEME  WETE-HERMTAZA
REBEMBZMBERBAL SRR
HiE - AZEeMIABEEE_E -

M—IARZAEABW AL IFRIE AR
mEHE IZeRIABEES=

B o
=

EESTHEER A

RIBBEERRELAE(REERR TG
RRICE 2 ATRTEN) B 1 H R IR
3P

AEERARKELHERBRR - BREE
Bt T A 2 & T HEE SR D EARRE B R 45 RAE
[ TXwmll REEEAH T —EHRF
BrBEERABZEREASBELERRAELZ
BERRREERRE -

(a) REWMFWMEE

AEEEAARBESEIRENE K
ARBEEINGEAEERAERD
B - WEMFEZRAABEIREMGEES
& BEEBELHZMERAEBENF
EMmET  HPEEEE2MHERK
BRKHEMSWEE - HIE KRR
ABEERME15KE -
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e BRI

4

Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

(b) Onerous contract provision

(c)

As at 31st March 2019, the Group had committed
sales orders which exceeded the aggregate amount
of on-hand inventories and committed purchase
orders. If the cost of certain future purchases to
fulfil these sales orders exceeds the contracted
selling prices of the sales orders, a provision for
onerous contracts would be made. In estimating
the amount by which the cost of purchases are
expected to exceed sales prices of committed
sales orders, management takes into account the
cost of on-hand inventory and the forecast market
price of future purchases where this can be reliably
estimated.

As at 31st March 2019, no provision for onerous
contract was recognised by the Group (2018:
provision of HK$40,656,000).

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Significant
judgement is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred
income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised when management considers it is likely
that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. When the expectations are different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact
the recognition of deferred income tax assets and
income tax charges in the period in which such
estimates have been changed.
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4

EESHEER A (&)
(b) HHEBEQZRE

(c)

RZZE-NE=ZR=+—H AKEHE
BECHEEEEBTRAFTERDHE
ELZBEFTERRE - WAABITILFH
ERIE A TRRRBR AL HERTE
PRl EB AR @ RIERBERZOE
HEE - EHREEMREXABHC R
EHERECEBSREN - EEESS
RFBEEEZRARZAE#HEZHNE
Rig 2 S TERIER

NR-ZEBE—NE=A=+—H  &~EEL
BREREEZHZBE S —)\F
4% 40,656,000 77T ©

ELEFEHEERR

AEETRBEHNT B LT BEAM A
GH -HETZHRAEHERK &
ZEHBAHE - REFEKBRESD
MZ RGP NEHE 2 RETIRETE W AR
e AEBZBRE L BBMBEI
B KB AR GELERRE ©
ZEBHZRRRG/BRARICERZ
TENY - WEEERFERBE TR
N2 S H MR FT S T 34 -

i) 222 B 5 7 P B8 P R 2R B AR Tt 1| A
HHEEEZRYRABRE @ BSERE
ETHEEZRRRABEA B BT
BREE - HWAMBERERE 2 HET
R FERKEEIRTEHSHE ER
REBREELREHBREA 2 AEH
ERBREE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired through business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations, which
requires the Group to record assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at their fair values on the date
of acquisition. Significant judgement and estimate
are used to determine the completion date and fair
value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment in accordance with policy
stated in Note 2.9(a). The recoverable amounts of
CGUs have been determined based on value-in use
calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates (Note 17).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and variable selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market condition and the historical experience of
selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer
demand and competitor actions in response to
severe industry cycle. Management reassesses the
estimations at each reporting date.

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to
determine when trade and other receivables are
impaired. This determination requires significant
judgement and estimation based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. In
making this judgement and estimation, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration of
receivables and the financial health and collection
history of individual debtors and expected future
change of credit risks, including the consideration
of factors such as general economy measure,
changes in macroeconomic indicators etc. Details
of the assumptions and inputs used are discussed
in Note 3.1(b).

e SRR MR

4 ERETEERARGE)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

EREBEHUBZTRANEER
REZAIREE

AEBERURBEREEBAHAR &2
RAGERBEEHRERBEERE
AERERAABEREIE EEC
WEEEMEAEEBZEXRBAHEA
ABEFEEAHERESR -

BEREES

AEBBREN T 2.9(a) FHLBER - BF
EEETRENR - REELEM
AR EeEE BT EEREERE - %
EHEF2ERHEEMEA7) -

FEZUERFE

TTZT“EE@TE%EI BRBBREYZ
BEBEREE TR R AT ZHES
o ZEEETDENRRETRIALEE
BLUMEEMZBERLR HARXP
ZHERBELHFE T REMNBRIRITE
ﬂ,ﬁﬂ%HXZTT@JﬁﬁIFEEﬁZH cBEESR
REEFEAEEREHRE -

P W S o e Lt i R R M R 4

AEBKBEE BV REERNE WS
5| 7 E 7 W B A3 e B A R MK K 1T R O
8- WETREAENRRKFAEHRER
RZBRBRERERNHE REE - (FLLH

B R AER  AREFE(ETRE)E
Wk B - ERIEB AR BRE2ER

WRkasE - ARTEHRZEERKRE

ERE  BEERLBERRE  RELH

hﬁmﬁﬁlﬁ FTARREREAER
ZEEBERHIEE3.1(b) FERAT o
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4 Critical Accounting Estimates and 4 EEETHEERAE(E)
Judgements (Continued)

(h) Useful lives and depreciation expenses for (h)y ¥ BEERXEZALAFHER
property, plant and equipment HEXH
The Group’'s management determines the estimated AEECrEEEETEYE - MEMK
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for B2 bR ERFE  UREBITESE
its property, plant and equipment. This estimate R o ZMEsT BB e R EE L 27
is based on the historical experience of the actual % BEKMEEERAERFH 2B
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of TRt E - BERQES BRG]
similar nature and functions. Actual economic lives @Eﬁﬁi,ﬁﬂ?ﬂ o JEHAMR AT AT B B A] {3 A
may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic FHIRE - RREAR 2T E X HIrE ™
review could result in a change in useful lives and IR H) o

therefore depreciation expense in future periods.

5 Revenue and Segment Information 5 WAERDIER
The Group’s revenue consists of the following: REEZBWABENT :
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Sales of goods BmiHE 2,780,106 2,938,258
Service income BR S UL A 44,375 63,963
Rental income HeUA 58,124 30,631
Total revenue WA 4a g8 2,882,605 3,032,852
The Group's businesses are managed according to the AREEIRE L ETEKTREZEmMRE
nature of their operations and the products and services BIREH R o

they provide.
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Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”) that are used to making
strategic decisions. The CODM is identified as the
executive directors of the Company. The executive
directors consider the business from a customer
perspective and assess the performance of the
operating segments based on the segment assets,
segment revenue and segment results for the purposes
of allocating resources and assessing performance.
These reports are prepared on the same basis as these
consolidated financial statements. The CODM considers
the Group operates predominantly in four operating
segments:

(i)  Construction materials business;

(ii) Building and design solutions (“BDS”) business;

(iii) Engineering plastics business; and

(iv) Property investment and project management
business.

The CODM assesses the performance of operating
segments based on a measure of profit before income
tax.

The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property,
plant and equipment for the years ended 31st March
2019 and 2018.

e SRR MR

WARZEBER (&)

ERECRBEEELEARE([EBEER
“%D%M%*“W&ﬁmhﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
EEBNE - TBEBBRREATAEERR
WITESE - ﬁﬁi%&%ﬁ%?%g%%
WREDTEE « DEBURA KD EBELE AT
HEEDIRR  KMEEERKTHE
B o &t#&;:/\ﬁti Eﬁﬁkiﬁi§}iﬁ“F1 E%*i
fmEl o EBERRERABASEEETELE
@1ﬁ5§’ﬁﬁ :

(i) EEMBED

(i) EEERERTHE(EEE®R LR
ESDE/

(i) IiEBVBER &
(iv) EHERENIEEEEER o

TRLERREREAEHR
fHEEn iR -

Al A AR = 57

[[EBLERREEBOEINA - HFtE
TRE AR M RR B -
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B IR M

Revenue and Segment Information 5 WARZHER(E)
(Continued)
Analysis of the Group’s results by business segments for AEBEHEE T AEF=A=1+—"HILFE
the year ended 31st March 2019 are as follows: REBE DI 2 EEDWIT -
Property
investment
Construction Engineering  and project
materials BDS plastics  management
business business business business  Unallocated Total
BEMA BEERR TREE EHERER
2% RARRER %% HEERER AE &8
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
T FEn FEr FEr FEn T
Revenue from contracts with ~ REEFAXZ
customers LON
— Recognised at a point — 5K
in time E 2,164,649 346,775 268,682 - - 2,780,106
— Recognised over time — E-BERENRER - - - 41,911 2,464 44,375
— Rental income — AEWA - - - 58,124 - 58,124
2,164,649 346,775 268,682 100,035 2,464 2,882,605
Operating profit/(loss) TEEF|/ (BB) 52,895 26,051 (6,364) 97,624 (95,938) 74,268
Finance income BHBBA 4,180 69 99 78 494 4,920
Finance costs HHER (35,063) (4,252) (1,117) (35,861) (4,345) (80,638)
Share of results of N
joint ventures — net —5E (1,377) - - 20,653 - 19,276
Profit/(loss) before income tax B FiEHATER /(5518 20,635 21,868 (7,382) 82,494 (99,789) 17,826
Other gains/(losses) Hbas/ (B8)
— et — 5% 22,339 (939) (5,979) (7,162) 4,254 12,513
Fair value gain on investment  R&NEZ AL ER
properties Wz - - - 108,865 - 108,865
Capital expenditure ARR 1,376 107 2 87 859 2,452
Depreciation and amortisation 17 K B4 (6,099) (801) (80) (1,996) (35,932) (44,908)
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Revenue and Segment Information 5 WARZHEHR(E)
(Continued)
Analysis of the Group’s results by business segments for REERBEZZTE—N\F=A=1T—HLF
the year ended 31st March 2018 are as follows: EREB B2 EEDIITAT :
Property
investment
Construction Engineering and project
materials BDS plastics  management
business business business business Unallocated Total
B BEEDR THEE RFHERER
5 RARER 5% EAEREHK AP &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
AT T8 87 AT A7 AT
External revenue B 2,231,620 330,091 378,537 63,034 29,570 3,032,852
Operating (loss)/profit mE(B8)/6H (67,829) 28,096 15,231 24,551 (90,729) (90,680)
Finance income EWM 3,951 21 158 418 462 5,010
Finance costs HBER (31,921) (3,229) (553) (30,493) (4,512) (70,708)
Share of results of EHA%DaIEE
joint ventures — net — 35 (25,069) — — 39,435 — 14,366
(Loss)/profit before income tax BETEHAI(ER) /47 (120,868) 24,888 14,836 33,911 (94,779) (142,012)
Other gains — net Etolis — 58 11,081 2,166 5484 14,010 2,024 34,765
Fair value gain on RENRL
investment properties R BEEYE 3,671 — - 11,147 — 14,818
Capital expenditure BARY 1412 642 195 1,660 7,924 11,833
Depreciation and amortisation 7% J &8 (2,273) (808) (29) (1.210) (36,117) (40,497)
The Group is domiciled in Hong Kong and Mainland AEBRBAERTPEANMEE - AEBE 2K
China. Analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical AR TIZOMIAT
markets are as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)\%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong B 1,837,825 1,766,988
Mainland China R B A 1,044,780 1,265,864
2,882,605 3,032,852
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5 Revenue and Segment Information 5 WARZHER(E)
(Continued)
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and BREm TR RELEMSHEENINZ IERE
deferred income tax assets by geographical markets are BE - HgEms o |mm e
as follows:
2019 2018
—2-nE —2—\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Hong Kong BB 437,632 175,298
Mainland China HEAH 1,416,577 1,399,516
1,854,209 1,574,814
(a) Revenue recognition in relation to contract (a) FRASHEBZWARER
liabilities
As at 31st March 2019, receipts in advance ﬁé\:g*ﬂEEHEJF_*E ‘Tﬁi\”ﬁz%_fﬂﬁ
amounting to HK$27,956,000. The following table © R /27,956,000 Lo TRETR
shows how much of the revenue recognised in the A HA A B 2 FRGRMER &
current reporting period relates to carried-forward AR S -
receipts in advance:
2019
—E-hE
HK$’000
FET
Revenue recognised that was included in the RENE SR IENKIEA
receipts in advance at the beginning I EBRAA
of the year - 24,174

(b) Unsatisfied long-term contract

The Group selected to choose a practical expedient
and omit disclosure of remaining performance
obligations as all related contracts have a duration
of one year or less.
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e SRR MR

Other Gains — Net 6 Hfttsm — F8
2019 2018
—E-hE —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Unrealised fair value loss on financial BRAR TETE.:‘U\T@ v
assets at fair value through profit or TREEZARERAR
loss BEEBE = (2,133)
Realised loss on financial assets at fair % ’&‘*f Bt ABm 2
value through profit or loss PREECEFLER (1,559) —
Net exchange (loss)/gain @ER(ESTE)/W (21,155) 13,387
Impairment losses on property, plant Y - BB R ERE
and equipment (Note 14) EE (i 14) (1,181) —
Impairment losses on goodwill B REEE (2,494) —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MHB A Az Wk
(Note 36(c)) (K15t 36(c)) 5,313 —
Gain on bargain purchase from the REUWE— B A A
acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36(a)) Zm B (B3 36(a)) 18,554 —
Penalty income from tenants in relation REHEPRATA L
to early termination of rental THE e
agreements 2 SR 346 4,086
Disposal service income received from KE—FEERAIZHEE
a joint venture (Note 39(a)) BRI U A (B 7E 39(a)) — 11,703
Sundry income FETEYLA 14,689 7,722
12,513 34,765
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B IR M

Expenses by Nature

Expenses included in “cost of sales”,
“net impairment loss on financial
assets” and “general and administrative expenses” are

distribution expenses”,

analysed as follows:

“selling and

7 BRUHEEZzXH

ATATEERA]  [HERSHEXH ] [25
BEREBEFE | R —REITHERH AR
S EoWaT

2019 2018
—E-hE —N&E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost of finished goods sold SRk fhEH E KA 2,533,767 2,765,195
Provision for impairment of inventories GFEREREG
(Note 25) (Hzt 25) 1,594 1,007
(Reversal of provision)/provision for BERGZ (BERD),/
onerous contracts B (40,656) 26,656
Depreciation of property, plant and Mz - WEREE
equipment (Note 14) ZATE (KL 14) 43,195 39,705
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, HEWE - BEREE
plant and equipment Z (W), B8
(Note 35(b)) (K1z£35(b)) (1,006) 39
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 16) =+ Hb{& %~ 844 (4171 16) 202 202
Amortisation of intangible assets BT A B 2 BN
(Note 17) (K15E17) 1,511 590
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) EERNZ L (HiE8) 128,970 113,135
Operating lease rental expenses in TEEE  WAE
respect of retail outlets, offices and BEREEFEHEE
warehouses 2T 44,408 46,574
Property tax for investment properties KEMEZMED 7,557 7,098
Provision for impairment of FEUERS &mTF
trade and bill receivables — net BEEE — F8E
(Note 26) (K15 26) 4,262 1,218
Service fee paid to a joint venture m—EEE AR N RBE
(Note 39(a)) (H1a£39(a)) — 9,029
Professional fee associated with the M —HeEREN R
formation of a joint venture ZJEEEH 55,368 —
Auditor’s remuneration ZELRT BN
— Audit services — AR 2,800 2,320
Legal and professional fees FEERBEEER 12,890 14,408
Freight charges BE 81,542 72,368
Storage and handling charges EENEEE 7,869 7,890
Others E At 45,442 65,681
Total Rk 2,929,715 3,173,115
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Employee Benefit Expenses (Including BEEEFZH(BEESEHE)
Directors’ Emoluments)
2019 2018
—ZE-NEF —ZT—N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET
Salaries and allowances e KERL 93,994 79,621
Bonus TEAT 13,504 9,871
Pension costs — RIRE A
defined contribution plans — R EHFETE 7,349 7,406
Share-based payment VARt A B R 2 S A 2,311 2,859
Welfare and benefits 8 F) K M &= 11,812 13,378
128,970 113,135

The Group maintains two defined contribution pension
schemes for its employees in Hong Kong, the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme. The assets of these
schemes are held separately from those of the Group
under independently administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees make monthly contribution to the scheme at
5% (2018: 5%) of the employees’ salary. The unvested
benefits of employees who have terminated employment
could be utilised by the Group to reduce its future
contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% (2018: 5%) of the employee’s relevant income,
as defined in the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. Both the Group’s and the employee’s
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per
month. The contributions are fully and immediately vested
for the employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
the Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement
plans for employees of its subsidiaries established in
Mainland China. The employees are entitled to retirement
pension calculated with reference to their basic salaries
on retirement and their length of service in accordance
with the relevant government regulations. The Group has
no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions
or post-retirement benefits beyond these contributions.
The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible
for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
—employees.

AEERFAMELERASHRGTETEE
ZEE ARBEEFENBRESE - 1MW
EstB 2 EEDERAKRBEZEEDRREE
VTHBIESER -

REAERFE  AREREREATER
ZREEFH S 25% (=T —)\F : 5%) A&zt
EBAMS - RIELEAZEEREEZF
=9 i AR E B IER D ARG -

BEREESTE  AEERHEEEESHR
BERGEAE ST ERA A EIZZES
BBEWAZ5%(ZF—)\F : 5%) A Zt 2
EFARR - AEEREES ZHR ERY
B A1,5008 T(HRFRBHR KRB TE

8)-

N B A R A BOX R ARE - NEEA
RERIIN P E A2 B AR ESRHE
REBRKEEIHK - BEEEEESERIN
& HR2REERKK ZEXFH S MR
FHRABBRMERFESH - RZFHK
S AEBBARTXNEMNERERAS K
BARERRHN - 2FERXEMRAKFTEAERE
FIRRE B X 28RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

B IR M

Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 8 REERANZH(EBSEE=MS)(E)
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued)
During the year ended 31st March 2019, the BE—_ET—hE=A=+—HIFE ' =
aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions to the SEH FMERESFEELE ZERABEY
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately /7,349,000 ;o(=F — J\F : 7,406,000
HK$7,349,000 (2018: HK$7,406,000), net of forfeited BIT) - HBRIR KM TR A) 283,000 T(ZF
contributions of approximately HK$283,000 (2018: —\F :51,0008L)  c R=ZZE—\FER=
HK$51,000). As at 31st March 2018 and 2019, there is no T—NE=ZA=1+—8 FEXRFHERK
unutilised forfeited contribution which could be utilised to SRR BER D AREBREK 2k o
reduce future contributions of the Group.
Directors’ and Senior Management’s 9 ESRKaEREEAENS
Emoluments
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=
The remuneration of every Director for the year BE_T—NF=ZA=1+—HILFE -
ended 31st March 2019 is set out below: BUESEFHMOT :
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Discretionary  Share-based retirement
Salaries and bonuses payment benefit
Name Fees allowances (Note (iv)) (Note (v)) scheme Total
RERL  JROREE EIHEKE
£ Me  HeREd (i) 2B sz a5
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
7 7 FEr 7 7 7
Executive Directors BirEs
Mr. Yao Cha Fai Andrew HERLE - 7,194 3,500 - 18 10,712
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace (Note (i) ER&K&L(#2() - 1,312 827 19 66 2,224
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu R hined = 1,237 - 1 61 1,309
Independent Non-executive %I
Directors FUTES
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny BRILE 225 - - - - 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHELE 207 - - - - 207
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy (Note (i) SEZ 5 E (4 (i) 69 - - - - 69
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BRLTE 701 - - - - 701
Mr. Li Yinquan (Note (ii)) Zo|REEW i) 133 - - - - 133
1,335 9,743 4,327 30 145 15,580
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Directors’ and Senior Management’s 9 ESREAEEAEM: (&)
Emoluments (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEM=(E)
The remuneration of every Director for the year BE—_T—)/\F=ZA=1+—HIEFE -
ended 31st March 2018 is set out below: BUNESEEHFMBT ¢
Employer's
contribution
toa
Discretionary  Share-based retirement
Salaries and bonuses payment benefit
Name Fees  allowances (Note (iv)) (Note (v)) scheme Total
) MEEL  HRAAEE  EIHRAE
£ Me  HeREE (Hitlv) 2B y) Madlzis ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
Executive Directors HiES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew HEELE — 1,950 8,000 — 18 9,968
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace (Note (i)~ BER#KZT(#:2() — 1887 — 77 94 2,058
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Iy — 1,236 — 28 61 1,325
Independent Non-executive By
Directors FUTES
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERILE 225 = = = = 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao fRELE 207 - - - - 207
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy (Note (i) AfEZ£E0 2 () 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike AREEE 180 - - - - 180
ar2 5073 8,000 105 173 14,323
Notes: et -

(i)

(iii)

Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace resigned as an executive director
of the Company on 13th December 2018. The amounts
represent emoluments to be paid or payable in respect of
her services as an executive director of the Company. Ms.
Luk confirmed that she has no disagreement with the Board
of Directors and that she is not aware of any matters in
relation to her resignation that needs to be brought to the
attention of the shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy retired as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 17th August
2018. The amounts represent emoluments to be paid or
payable in respect of his services as an independent non-
executive of the Company. Mr. Tse confirmed that he has
no disagreement with the Board of Directors and that he is
not aware of any matters in relation to his resignation that
needs to be brought to the attention of the shareholders of
the Company.

Mr. Li Yinquan was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 5th July 2018. The
amounts represent emoluments to be paid or payable in
respect of his services as an independent non-executive
director of the Company.

)

(if)

(iii)

RZFB-N\E+=A+=H" BEMALL
B EARBEMITEETRL - 2 EHAEM
HAERARRAITE F AR 2 IR A
NNz BT HRREEER
BWEBRDE  MRLETABEREH
HEHEZ FHARBARAIRRET °

RZF-NAFENA+TLH #HEELER
EARRBIIFATESRY - ZERA
B E AR RBBIIFATESMRM
Z BR7G T #5 < AS Sk A 2 B & o Fi 5t AR
RNEEEGWEES R 5k KL
BERNEREREZEFERARFARAMR
REF ©

RZZE-N\FLtARH " F5IRELEEZ
EARRBBILIFRTES - ZFHIAKE
EFERARNARBULIFNTESMAREM] L
ARSI R S ShRE S 2 B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

B IR M

9 Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Emoluments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv) The executive directors are entitled to discretionary bonuses
which are determined with reference their performance and
the financial performance of different business units of the
Group.

(v) Share-based payment represents charges to the
consolidated income statement of the fair value of the share
options under the share option scheme measured at the
respective grant dates, regardless of whether the share
options would be exercised or not.

No incentive payment (2018: Nil) as an inducement
for joining the Group or compensation for loss of
office was paid to any director during the years
ended 31st March 2018 and 2019.

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the years ended 31st
March 2018 and 2019.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 31st
March 2018 and 2019.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31st March 2018 and 2019,
no consideration was paid by the Company to third
parties for making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the years ended 31st March 2018 and 2019,
there are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by any connected entities with
such directors.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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EEREREEASHE (H)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EEME (&)
Kzt - (%)

(iv) BITEFATRBRBIEEL  EA2EER
BRAEETNREGEMN M BERALRE °

(v) UBROAEMRZINOBRESE TR
BEHABFEIRNERRERIMERARZ
BREAAEE MIRBERESSEST
% -

RBE-_Z-N\FER-_T-NF=A
=+t—HLEFE #BECZE-N\F:
BE)ENNE TEMESAERBIMA
REBENBERAE -

EERRER

MEEENERE - \ER_T—
F=A=+—HBIEFE 2 KERFAUKER
ERERKAEF] -

ESRIEREER

MEEENHE_ZT-\FR_F—
F=ZA=1—BLLFEC KK WRER
R LB RREF -

RERHCEEBRBEEFE =M
ZRE

RBE-F-N\ER-F-NF=A
St—RLFE  BERERHZEE
BRIS E= XTI -

FBNES ZRSESEEF2ZE
ABERZEESCEABERRS
BAZER  EERRHEMRZ 2

WBE-F-\FR-F-NF=A
St—AILFE  BERANLEE 2
SEEERHANBBRYSEEY
MBERAREAZEN  ERRRA
32 3R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Emoluments (Continued)

()

(9)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company has a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of 31st March 2018 and 2019 or at any time during
the years ended 31st March 2018 and 2019.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals with highest emoluments in
the Group include two directors (2018: two) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
in Note 9(a) above. The emoluments paid/payable
to the remaining three (2018: three) individuals
during the year are as follows:

e SRR MR

9 EEKSREBEAESMEUR)

(f)

(9)

ESNRZ > REFEGHFZEKX
R

AEBEREREXBITIART /RS
AR RAAPETEHEAFERER
BEXEEMR -E-N\EFEER_F-NF
A=t HARKRIHE—T-/N\F
RZZB-NF=A=+—HILFEAE
ABEDATEZEARS - HEE
# o

TEEEFAL

AEBRLARSHEALEREMUES
(ZZ2—N\F W) BEZMER L
XHFE9(a) RPN DT RAR - REEE
/A ESREA(ZT—N\FE : =f1)
AT ZBET

2019 2018
—E-hF AN
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances Fre MOERL 4,345 9,031
Bonus 14T 1,758 426
6,103 9,457
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MENFATEE :
Number of individuals
AH

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
— HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 — 1,000,001 7L % 2,000,000 AT 2 1
— HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 — 2,000,001 72 3,000,000 87T 1 1

— HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000

— 4,000,001 /87T & 5,000,000 8 7T

— 1

No emoluments were paid/payable to the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the year.

AEEW BN EREAMES RS
RE A T AR IR B S ERE
BEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

10

11

B IR M

Finance Income and Costs 10 BIBUAREHR
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHETT FET
Finance income IR ON
Interest income: FEHA -
— short-term bank deposits — RHASRITIE K 4,920 5,010
4,929 5,019_"
Finance costs B8 A
Interest expenses: FEZH
— bank borrowings — RITEE (74,721) (63,925)
Bank charges IR1TTEH (5,917) (6,783)
 (80,638) _(70,708)
Net finance costs R B (75,718) (65,698)
Income Tax Expense/(Credit) 11 FigHixd (E&R)

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group

operates.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit

for the year.

During the year, subsidiaries established in Mainland
China are subject to China corporate income tax at 25%

(2018: 25%).

The amount of income tax expense/(credit) recorded in
the consolidated income statement represents:

AEBEREEMERRZRITIRERFER
EFHERBUE N Gt EBINE N 2 BIA

BB RS DIRE AT E Gt ERES M IE
HEA16.5%(=F—/)\F : 16.5% ) 1EH#E -

REE » PR B R 2 KB A Rl iR f &
25% (= Z— \4F : 25%) B B ¥ TS
i o

REGEBRBERTIIRZAEHH(ER)
B

2019 2018
—E-NF —FE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FEIT

Current income tax EHASH
— Hong Kong profits tax — BAFNEH 7,093 3,706
— China corporate income tax — PR EREH 3,465 3,025
Deferred-income tax (Note 22) BEEFTBHL (At 22) 2,889 (8,503)
13,447 (1,772)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income Tax Expense/(Credit) (Continued) 11

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the
consolidated entities is as follows:

e SRR MR

FrgBixx (%) (&)

AEBERBIDEF,(BE) 2 HBERES
ERGENERZINEFOREAEZERES
BMAEMEER  FBU0T

2019 2018
—E-NE == \F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Profit/(loss) before income tax B ADE A, (EE) 17,826 (142,012)
Tax calculated at domestic tax RAERIBIZR 2 7
rates applicable to profit in the iz & T8
respective countries ZTRIR 13,358 (27,195)
Income not subject to tax BERH Z WA (1,394) (2,008)
Expenses not deductible for tax R
purposes s gus! 9,644 5,108
Tax losses not recognised as WEERELEFSMEE 2
deferred income tax assets HIAEE 10,313 26,179
Deferred income tax liabilities A B A
in respect of withholding tax RAIRBER 2
on Mainland China unremitted b
earnings 2B AR (307) (951)
Utilisation of previously 15 FB 95 Al R FERR BV
unrecognised tax loss I%E1E (872) (2,910)
Recognition of tax losses HERR GHER Y
previously not recognised FRIAE 18 (17,295) —
Income tax expense/(credit) FRSHH,(E%R) 13,447 (1.772)
Dividends 12 RE
2019 2018
—E-NF T N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FETT FAET
Proposed final dividend of HK2.00  ##J& & #if% &
cents (2018: HK1.57 cents) BiRE A% 2.00 1L
per ordinary share —F—)\F : 1.5781) 12,825 10,057
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

12

13.

B IR M

Dividends (Continued)

A final dividend for the year ended 31st March 2019
of HK2.00 cents (2018: HK1.57 cents) per ordinary
share, totalling approximately HK$12,825,000 (2018:
HK$10,057,000) has been recommended by the Board of
Directors for approval at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. The proposed final dividend
has not been dealt with as dividend payable as at 31st
March 2019.

The proposed final dividend for the year ended
31st March 2019 in the amount of approximately
HK$12,825,000 is calculated on the basis of 641,232,315
shares in issue as at 26th June 2019.

Earnings/(loss) Per Ordinary Share

(a) Basic

Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share is
calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable

12

13.

fRE (&)

EZEHRARFRICEERRAGSRg L2
HFEEZE-NF=-A=1+—HLEFERXR
HRR B B AR TR 2,008 1I(=ZZF — )\ F :
1.577%810) - m/\?\’712825000/%7n(_7
— A% : 10,057,000/ 70 ) ° #k R HIR B
WEAZE-NF=ZA=+—HZEEB$7
BIERRS o

@i_7 hE=RA=+—HItEE &%
REARK B 412,825,000/ c HERE -F
fﬂﬁ/\ﬂ_+/\E|E§§L‘TTE@641,232,315
IR DETE o

SREERERN,(EE)
(a) EX

FREBRERRF, (BB DEAR
ﬂ%ﬁ)\!ﬂﬁ}ﬁ?ﬁ/(Eﬁ%)[ﬁ%uﬁiﬁi

to owners of the Company by the weighted average O3 1TEmAR 2 IR &G
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2019 2018
o — N\
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners ANA &R A FE(RHF], (&)
of the Company (HK$'000) (F3¥T) 13,888 (147,712)
Weighted average number of BEITE R
ordinary shares in issue Z INHE I8
('000) (TH) 640,861 641,719
Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary &% E @R EARER](EE)
share (HK cents) CEMl) 2.17 (23.02)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

13 Earnings/(Loss) Per Ordinary Share 13 BRZERERN (FHE) (&)

(Continued)

(b) Diluted (b) #H

Diluted earnings/(loss) per ordinary share is
calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
The Company’s dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from share options, for which a calculation
is done to determine the number of shares that
could have been acquired at fair value (determined
as the average annual market share price of the
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of
the share options.

FREBEREERN,(B1E) DIERERR
RBEEEEEE 2 B RRE2HERM
TR R EITHEING B I F 1
A ARRABEEEEE 2B
AEEmEL - HFEREBERRTRE
BREMMREEZEEEEEL - B
NEEREBARABEEERANAR
eth 2 2FFHHIHRE ) WE 2B
8B - ENFIEBHZROH#E BREZ
FEAERTRME BT Z B B A (FLt

2019 2018
— —F-)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit/(loss) attributable to RAEHE ARG =T
owners of the Company and (BE)MAUERE
used to determine diluted BRI B
earnings/(loss) per ordinary HERA,(EE)
share (HK$'000) (F#) 13,888 (147,712)
Weighted average number of BT E BRI E
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (FA) 640,861 641,719
Adjustment for share options FERRAE 2 A%
('000) (Note (i) (FA2)(Z (i) 5,692 —
Weighted average number of BRETBREERF(EBB)
ordinary shares for diluted 2 E
earnings/(loss) per ordinary IntEF 15
share ('000) (FA) 646,553 641,719
Diluted earnings/(loss) per SRTBREERT(E8)
ordinary share (HK cents) &) 2.15 (23.02)

Note:

(i) Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31st March 2018
was the same as basic loss per share since all potential
ordinary shares are anti-dilutive.

HRAEEEBRARBENE  HBE_F
—N\FZA=+—HALFENEREFTERAEKR
EARERAER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 Property, Plant and Equipment 14 PE - BERRE

Leasehold
improvement, Motor
furniture and vehicles
Buildings equipment Machinery  and vessels Total
BENE
65 BAR \
BT R i RERMM &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TET TAT TAT
st April 2017 R-Z—tEMA-A
Cost AR 162,159 53,599 32,759 20,902 269,419
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (39,051) (46,530) (9,855) (10,494) (105,930)
et book amount REFH 123,108 7,069 22,904 10,408 163,489
Year ended 31st March 2018 HE-T-\F=A=1-ALFE
Opening net hook amount HNEEFE 123,108 7,069 22,904 10,408 163,489
Transfer to inventory EERE - = (154) (22) (176)
Transfer to investment properties gEhamx
(Note 15) (M 15) (4,729) - - - (4,729)
Additions ME 7,000 2,628 1,107 1,098 11,833
Acquisition of a subsidiary D i L
(Note 36(b)) (/f/fzf%(b/) — 41 — 111 152
Disposals e - (11) (122) (59) (192)
Depreciation ne (32,149) (2,717) (3,285) (1,554) (39,705)
Currency translation differences ERELET 390 97 = 160 647
Closing net book amount HREETE 93,620 7,107 20,450 10,142 131,319
At 31st March 2018 RZE-\F=A=1-H
Cost AR 164,118 57,125 33,417 21,144 275,804
Accumulated depreciation Z2ithE (70,498) (50,018) (12,967) (11,002) (144,485)
et book amount RHFE 93,620 7,107 20,450 10,142 131,319
Year ended 31st March 2019 BE-T-NE-A-f-ALLFR
Opening net book amount YRR T 93,620 7,107 20,450 10,142 131,319
Transfer to inventory E ey e — = 3) - (3)
Additions ME - 255 103 2,094 2,452
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — B A A
(Note 36(a)) (/f/fﬂm(a)) - 3,292 25,671 204 29,167
Disposals & (926) (79) (67) (411) (1,483)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36(c)) & —HHB AR 36(c)) (2) - - - 2
Depreciation e (32,474) (3,342) (5,486) (1,893) (43,195)
Impairment loss HEBH — - (1,181) - (1,181)
Currency translation differences BEERER (65) (114) - (128) (307)
Closing net book amount R T8 60,153 7,119 39,487 10,008 116,767
At 31st March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-H
Cost AR 162,914 60,896 59,211 19,144 302,165
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMER
impairment it (102,761) (53,777) (19,724) (9,136) (185,398)
Net book amount RERE 60,153 7,119 39,487 10,008 116,767

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$5,208,000
(2018: HK$1,671,000) was charged to “cost of sales” and
approximately HK$37,987,000 (2018: HK$38,034,000)
to “general and administrative expenses” in the
consolidated income statement.

& & 1 495,208,000 (=T — )\ F :
1,671,000/% 7t ) & 437,987,000/ 8 L (=&
— J\£E : 38,084,000/ 7T ) # R 4R & B
R2ZIEHERAR R — M RATE S H JPEEA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Investment Properties REWE
2019 2018
—E-NE == )\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&ET
At fair value BRASERE
At beginning of year R EH] 1,389,377 1,222,682
Transfer from property, plant and BYME  BERLZEZ
equipment (Note 14) A (HfaF 14) — 4,729
Capitalised subsequent Higfx
expenditure BFEER 6,040 16,170
Fair value gain on investment BEYHE
properties Z A BEEWE 108,865 14,818
Currency translation differences EHEEIE N =5 (91,055) 130,978
At end of year RER 1,413,227 1,389,377
(i) Amount recognised in consolidated income (i) AFREBERRIBRAZREYE

(i)

statement for investment properties as
follows:

ESEWT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FHET
Rental income WA 58,124 30,631
Direct operating expenses from HKEEAFHSKAZ
properties that generated Mz
rental income HEELEERT (10,716) (12,114)
47,408 18,517
Non-current assets pledged as security (i) ERERBEE

An investment property of approximately
HK$1,404,990,000 (2018: HK$1,380,568,000) was
pledged as collaterals for certain of the Group’s
bank borrowings of approximately HK$484,616,000
(2018: HK$553,238,000) (Note 31).

& W) 2 #91,404,990,0008 T(— =
— J\4E : 1,380,568,000 7T ) B 1E A&
AEEE TIRITHEEH 484,616,000
7TT(—Z— \4 : 553,238,000/87T) 2
EIR@RER(FFEEST) ©
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15 Investment Properties (Continued)
(iii) Valuation technique

As at 31st March 2019, investment properties
of approximately HK$1,413,227,000 (2018:
HK$1,389,377,000) were stated at open market
value based on valuations assessed by an
independent professional qualified valuer and
reviewed by the directors.

The following table analyses the investment

properties carried at fair value, by valuation method.

Fair value hierarchy

REME(E)
(iii) 1A

R-BE—-NE=A=+—08  RE&EYME
#91,413,227,0008 L (=& — N\ F ¢
1,389,377,000/8 70 ) JY HE B I1X B L
BEAERGHEMTGEZHEEAAFAT
BEFI8E -

%LMEFTE&& DM AR A BEYIBRZ X

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2019 using
R=ZB-NE=A=+—-H

EATHEEETZOABENE
Quoted prices
in active Significant

markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
Description assets inputs inputs
RGBT 5 BERHAM
ARAEEZ GIE - E BEARA
fut HE BWABE BRGARE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(5—8) (5=/8) (%$=8E)
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FHET
Recurring fair value measurement &EME QA BETE
— Commercial units — HEBT
— Mainland China — FE R — — 1,413,227
Fair value measurement at
31st March 2018 using
= —)\¢ A=+—8H
ﬁﬁﬁTﬁlJlﬁﬁ ETZ AR BEFTE
Quoted prices
in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
Description assets inputs inputs
W BT 5 BEARHEAM
ABRIEEZ AIER Ep |
T WE BAZE BEAAZE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(£—8) (=) (F=FE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

Recurring fair value measurement &HM AL EBE =
— Commercial units — %%ﬁﬁ
— Mainland China — HE A

— — 1,389,377
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15 Investment Properties (Continued) 15 BREWE(E)
(iii) Valuation technique (Continued) (i) HERM (&)
Fair value measurement using significant EHEXT JBRBAZ A A EE
unobservable inputs (Level 3) B(F=F)
Mainland
China
R A it
HK$’000
FET
As at 1st April 2018 RZZE—N\FEA—H 1,389,377
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERAZBFER 6,040
Fair value gain on investment properties wEYEZ AR EBEKE 108,865
Currency translation differences BHE N AR (91,055)
As at 31st March 2019 R-ZZE-—hEFE=A=+—H 1,413,227
Total unrealised gains for the year included R-ZT—HFE=A=+—BHFEFEE
in the consolidated income statement for RAFE AGEBER
asset held at 31st March 2019 ZARER W B 108,865
As at 1st April 2017 R-F—+tFMA—H 1,222,682
Transfer from property, plant and B - BB REE
equipment ZEA 4,729
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HigMITBAER 16,170
Fair value gain on investment properties w"EYEZ AnBEYE 14,818
Currency translation differences EHE H R 130,978
As at 31st March 2018 RZE-\F=HA=+—H 1,389,377
Total unrealised gains for the year included R=-Z— \F=ZA=+—HFEEE
in the consolidated income statement for RAFEFT AL EER
asset held at 31st March 2018 ZARBH WS R 14,818
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15 Investment Properties (Continued)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

15 ®E
(iiii)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as follows:

Description

i

As at 31st March 2019
RZE-NE=A=1+—H
Investment properties

— Mainland China

RENZ
— RERY

As at 31st March 2018
RZE-N\E=A=+—H
Investment properties

— Mainland China

LS
— hER

Fair value

DAEE
(HK$°000)
(FA7x)

1,413,227

1,389,377

Valuation
technique

fhE R

Income capitalisation
approach and
direct comparison
approach

WHERMOER

Tﬁ(ttﬁ/ff@

Income capitalisation
approach and
direct comparison
approach

KaERMoER

Ezttﬁ/fﬁ

W= (&)
fEE M (48)

EHEAT TEEWAZ L 2 EE 2
(E=FE) (&)

EREAEATAREGA(EZE) 2
DR BEHEZ AT

Range of  Relationship of
Unobservable unobservable  unobservable inputs
inputs inputs  to fair value
ATHE FUBEZBARBEH
TURERARE BAREBEE QNAEEZBR
Adjusted market yields 4.00% to 5.00%  The higher the adopted
yields, the lower the
fair value
BRETZRRE BRAKEZEE
RAEEWE
Adjusted market yields 4.00% t0 5.00%  The higher the adopted
yields, the lower the
fair value
EREMEREE BRANEERS
A BEHE
KEYFZIEEREF

Valuation processes of the investment properties

The Group engages external,

Same).

independent and
qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the
investment properties at the end of every financial
year. As at 31st March 2019, the fair value of the
investment properties owned by the Group was
determined by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2018:

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 Investment Properties (Continued)
(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)
Valuation processes of the investment properties

The Group’s finance department reviews the
valuations performed by Knight Frank Petty
Limited for financial reporting purpose. These
valuation results are then reported to the Group’s
management for discussions and review in relation
to the valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

The main Level 3 input used by the Group is
derived and evaluated as follows:

Adjusted market yields

The adjusted market yields have been determined
by making reference to the investment returns
implied from recent sale transactions, with
adjustments to reflect the differences between the
comparables and the investment properties in terms
of location, building quality and other factors.

16 Land Use Rights

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent
prepaid operating lease payments and their net book
amounts are analysed as follows:

e SRR MR

15 REWE(E)
(iii) fHERM (&)

REWEZIGEESF

AEE 2 5P e R SR E B 0PT
FmAnES BT RIGHETT AR A RIVEH
Zith - FRAMEAREREAANEE
BEEER  UBRMGERFREESER
A EMETR W R o

AEEERHEESE =B ARIR LT
ERT

RPN ZRERNE2EZRHER
S E R E B R (KA EIARR A L]
MERREMEMENLE  BFEER
HEZTEEZR) TUEE -

+ 3t i P #E

AEERLEREZ B ERENE XA
HWREREREFEOMAT :

2019 2018

—E-hF AN

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FEIL

At beginning of year R E A 9,316 9,518

Amortisation 5 (202) (202)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HB AR

(Note 36(c)) (K1zF 36(c)) (95) —

At end of year RER 9,019 9,316

Amortisation of land use rights has been included
in “general and administrative expenses” in the
consolidated income statement.

T EREZEEE ARERERZ—
fRRATH ] -
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17 Intangible Assets

17 BFREE

Distribution Customer
Goodwill rights contracts Total
g Gk 4 EEAH ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T AT FEr
At 1st April 2017 RZZ—+EMA-A
Cost wA 10,664 7,939 ~ 18,603
Accumulated amortisation and impairment S B RAE (10,664) (7,939) - (18,603)
Net book amount REFE - — — -
Year ended 31st March 2018 HE-Z-N\5=A=f-HI%EE
Opening net book amount BRE = = - -
Additions AE - - 4,703 4703
Amortisation B - - (590) (590)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-HNEAT
(Note 36(b)) (Wi 36(b) 2,494 = = 2,494
Closing net book amount BREEFE 2,494 - 4,113 6,607
At 31st March 2018 RZE-\F=A=1-H
Cost A 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation and impairment R EE LA (10,664) (7,939) (590) (19,193)
Net book amount REFE 2,494 = 4,113 6,607
Year ended 31st March 2019 HE-Z-NF=A=+-RLEE
Opening net book amount BEEFE 2,494 - 4,113 6,607
Amortisation B - - (1,511) (1,511)
Impairment E (2,494) - - (2,494)
Closing net book amount BREEFE - - 2,602 2,602
At 31st March 2019 R-E-nF=A=1-H
Cost A 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZrEERAE (13,158) (7,939) (2,101) (23,198)
Net book amount FHFE - - 2,602 2,602
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17 Intangible Assets (Continued)

()

(i)

Customer contracts

The customer contracts were acquired as part of
a business, and are recognised at their fair value
at the date of acquisition and are subsequently
amortised on a straight-line based on the timing
of projected cash flows of the contracts over their
estimate useful lives.

Amortisation expense of customer contracts has
been included in the “general and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-
generating unit (*“CGU”) as follows:

B ERE &
HEHEBER

Property investment and project
management business
— Fanrich Consultants
(Shanghai) Limited
(“Fanrich”)

BRAE
([x#&F])

U)

(i)

— XEREER(LE)

e SRR MR

17 BEREEH)

BEFEN

BEFEANATERFHH —ab2 Mk -
WK WEE BB E AR EERER B
RIESOEARSREREAFAIER
FRZSRAEAREHH

BEPANBHTHE ARAEERT
M —RITHEERER] -
R R E A

HESEEAEENRSELEM (R
TELSBM DT :

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET

— 2,494

Note:

During the year ended 31st March 2019, management has
performed an impairment assessment for the CGU of Fanrich,
and concluded its value-in-use of the CGU was below its carrying
amount. Accordingly, impairment of goodwill of HK$2,494,000 was
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Bat -

R-ZZE—NE=A=1+—HIEER  TEEBEK
ERSEABMET-BRENE  YRAHRS
EEBEMzEREARNEREE - Bt - 58
82,494,000 B LE RER G IBm R P IER ©
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18 Financial Instruments by Category 18 @RI EDE

Fair value
Fair value  through other
Loan and  through profit comprehensive

receivables or loss income Total
EXR FABREZ FARMRE
EWES MEE WAZAAEE aE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET AT FET
As at 31st March 2019 R-B-NE=A=t-A
Assets as per consolidated statement AR BHRARA
of financial position ZEE
Financial asset at fair value through STAEMZERA
other comprehensive income LANERE - - 144 144
Trade and other receivables R Rt R 5
(excluding non-financial assets) (TREELREE) 513,037 - - 513,037
Financial asset at fair value through EINIELHPN b
profit or loss LEREE - 36,698 - 36,698
Pledged bank deposits BEARTER 38,884 - - 38,884
Cash and cash equivalents BelkBe% 126,775 - - 126,775
Total et 678,696 36,698 144 715,538
At amortised
cost
12 85 B AR
HK$’000
FET
As at 31st March 2019 R-ZFE-h&E=A=+—H
Liabilities as per consolidated statement FERBERRERA
of financial position Z8afE
Borrowings (R 1,492,549
Trade and bill payables FE S BR TR e A5 189,093
Other payables e BR 5K
(excluding non-financial liabilities) (TEEFELRAR) 50,600
Total R 1,732,242
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18 Financial Instruments by Category

18 €WMIEBESE(E)

(Continued)
Fair value
Loan and through profit Available-
receivables or loss for-sale Total
B HABEZ A
R MEE e g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT
As at 31st March 2018 R=B-N§=A=t1-H
Assets as per consolidated statement GRUERRRA
of financial position LEE
Available-for-sale financial asset ARNESHAE - - 286 286
Amount due from a joint venture Eh-FHaERFFE 17,593 = = 17,593
Trade and other receivables IR RE AR
(excluding non-financial assets) (TofEkeREE) 580,178 - — 580,178
Financial asset at fair value through BAABETABR
prafit or loss LEHAE = 135,535 = 135,535
Pledged bank deposits BERRAER 57,807 = — 57,807
Cash and cash equivalents RekResR 312,766 — = 312,766
Total ] 968,344 135,535 286 1,104,165

At amortised

cost
S S EIDWIN
HK$'000
TET

As at 31st March 2018 R-ZB-\$=A=1+-H

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of SEMBMRREA
financial position Z8fE

Borrowings BEE 1,558,857
Trade and bill payables ERTBRTRREE 284,811
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) HbEMNERX(TBEELHERE) 40,695
Total B3 1,884,363
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 Subsidiaries 19 BT

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March

2019 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of

Particulars of
issued share capitall

R-B-NEF=A=+—BZXENBRF

ZFIRIR

Percentage of equity interest

Principal activities and

Name legal entity reglstered capital attributable to the Company place of operations
SHAT/ RISER ERfRA/ A0FER -
£ EEERNE AfEAz#E REERADY IEXBRAELY
2019 2018
Z®-0F “EN\E
Asia Infrastructure Resources Cayman Islands, HK$0.2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Group Limited limited \\abmy company o in Hong Kong
TNEEEREEARAT REHE ARAMLA 0.27 REBRRERR
Fanrich Consultants (Shanghai) Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 42% 42%  Provision of investment
Limited* limited liability company consultancy services in
o . - . Mainland China
KEREFN(LE)BRAA hERY - BRELA AR#%10,000,0007T RPERRRRER AR
He Tai Steel Co., Limited Hong Kong, HK$35,000,000 100% 100% Tradmg of recycling steel in
\ imited liabilit y company o ng Kon
NEREBRAA Bh BRELL 35,000,000 7 RERRERRAE
Hongkong and Shanghai Land Cayman Islands, US$s 60% 60%  Fund management outside
Capital Ltd. limited liability company Hong Kong and Mainland
EEBEERRRAA REHS  ARALLA SETT W.S /E&*IWW%?\\%%@
Hongkong and Shanghai Land Group  British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
Limited . limited liability company ~ Kong and Mainland China
EEWESERRAT ABRAEE BRAMRLA %7 REBRPERBRERR
HSL Asset Management (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong, HK$1 60% 60%  Provision of management
P limited liability company o services in Hong Kong
BEREER(BE)ERAT BE BRAMAT 1A REARUERRK
HSL Investment Advisory (HK) Limited  Hong Kong, HK$1 60% 60%  Provision of investment
limited liability company advisory services in Hong
Kong
EERAZN(ER)BRAA &% BRREAD 1T RERRMRE TR
Plentiful Praise Limited British Virgin Islands, US$100 62% 62%  Investment holding
limited liability company m Hong Kong and Mainland
BHARAT ABRABE ARALAF 100%7T M%&EPIWM A2k
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang Interational - Mainland China, RMB55,000,000 80.9% 80.9%  Stockholding and trading of
Trading Co., Ltd.* limited Hab\\ny company ’ - _ steelin Mainland China
/@E\!ﬁalﬁ“‘ﬁ%ﬁ RAR hEAD  BREERA ARH55,000,0007 R BRs i EREE RN
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of

19

Particulars of

issued share capital/

B8 A =) ()

Percentage of equity interest

Principal activities and

Name legal entity reg|stered capital attributable to the Company place of operations
CLTANENELY EERE/ KOTEE -
£H EERRNEE AfMEAz#E REERADY IZERREEHE
2019 2018
ZE-NF “T-\F
Van Shung Chong (B.V..) British Virgin Islands, US$6 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
Limited (i) limited liability company ~ Kong.
ABRABE  AREMARA CES REBRERR
Van Shung Chong Hong Limited Hong Kong, HK$2,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company and HK$10,000,000 services in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
EIREfTRRAT Eh BREMAR 2,000 8T Bk RERREEE R
%10,000,000%7
ERFEETRG
VSC Building Products Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
Company Limited limited liability company and kitchen cabinets and
kitchen cabme installation
in Hong
BIEEREMHARA BE ERAMAT 28T F%é%%;é?ﬁ&ﬁfu&
£
VSC Building Products (Macau) Macau, MOP$30,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares in
Company Limited limited liabilit y company . Macau
BIBSEEH (2R) ARAT 1 ARRER RF% 30,0007 RRFEEERZA
VSC Construction Steel Hong Kong, HK$156,568,000 100% 50% (ii)  Principally engaged in
Solutions Limited (Formerly known as  limited liability company the provision of steel
TVSC Construction Steel Solutions processing services in
Limited) Hong Kon
VSC Construction Steel Solutions Limited &7 * AREFAT 156,568,000 7 R %Ex»ﬁ REmT
(AITATVSC Construction Steel [
Solutions Limited!)
VSC Plastics Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of engingering
[imited liabilit y company plastics in Hong Kong
ElEE2BERAT B4 BREEAR 2RI REREETREE
VSC Steel Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$38,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Stockholding and trading of
limited liability company and HK$20,000,000 steel in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
ElEEHEERAR &% BRAMAD 38,0008 & Mk REBFRREE MM
%20,000,000 57
ERRERTRG
VSC Steel Processing Holdings Limited ~ Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
limited liability company Kong, and provision of
logistic and management
service of steel
BRESHNTIARARAH &% AREEAR 1T RERRERRR AR RN

//\L&EEEHW&
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19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of

19

Particulars of
issued share capital/

GBS A=) ()

Percentage of equity interest

Principal activities and

Name legal entity reg|stered capital attributable to the Company place of operations
T/ RIRER ERfkE/ .73 -
£ EERRNEE AMER2HE RAERADY IZERREERS
2019 2018
ZB-0F “T-\F
VSC Steel Processing Limited Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Principally engaged
limited liability company in the operation of the
. ‘ . land situated in Tsing Yi
EIRERMNIARAR &k ARARAR 157 FEEEMNBR LM
BRI REXERAA Mainland China, RMB429,130,000 100% 100%  Holding property in Mainland
limited liability ¢ pany . ~ . China
RER - EE%&/ A AR#429,130,0007T MERBERRIE
EBIREXERAA Mainland China, RMB92,835,165 100% 100% Ho\dmg property in Mainland
limited liability company . ~
hEnL BRE E@u AR%92,835,16570 W@mi@hﬁ%mé
LEEEAEERERDA Mainland China, HK$20,000,000 60% 60%  Provision of asset and
limited liability company investment management
services in Mainland
o _ China i
hERY - BRAELA 20,000,000/ 7 Wﬂmmimﬁﬁﬁ&&'ﬁﬁfﬁ
LETHEHELRERAR Mainland China, US$1,500,000 60% 60%  Property agent in Mainland
limited Habmry company B _ China
hEIA  BREERA 1,500,007 RERBANERE
M EERES (L5 ERAR Mainland China, US$6,500,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares in
limited Habwhy company ~ _ Mainland China
hEIAD  BREERA 6,500,000 %7 RERMEEEAZE
BIRE (L8 ARERBRAA Mainland China, 1S$7,280,000 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company service and trading of
sanitary wares and kitchen
cabinets in Mainland
China
EAY - AREMDT 7280,000% 7 HAERARAEBRHIRE
BEERZARER
REZH(LF)BRAA Mainland China, RMB35,440,694 100% 100%  Trading of engineering
limited liability company . ~ plastics tham\and China
ek AREERE AR 35,440,694 0 ROBRMEETREE
RE=SRHERAA Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares in
limited liability company . B _ Mainland China
MY BRARAR ARE10,000,00078 ReEAEEEAZA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The shares of Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited are held directly
by the Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are held
indirectly.

(i) VSC Construction Steel Solutions Limited was a 50% joint venture
of the Company as at 31st March 2018. During the year ended
31st March 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 50%
equity interest of VSC Construction Steel Solutions Limited and it
becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. See Note
36(a) for details.

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of directors, principally affected
the result of the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive
length.

For identification only
Investments in Associates

Set out below are the associates of the Company as at
31st March 2019. The associates as listed below have
share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which
are held indirectly by the Company.

Details of the principal investments in associates as at
31st March 2019 are as follows:

Place of business/
country establishment/

19

20

e SRR MR

B8 2 B ()

(i) Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) Limited 2 i% {3 B A2
BEERS - R EBARZROEESS -

(i) R=ZZF—N\F=A=+—H ' VSC Construction
PAYT VAN

Steel Solutions Limited AR R 50% H& & A
Al e RBEE-_T—NE=ZA=1t—HLEER
AR R B UYHEVSC Construction Steel Solutions
Limited 88 T 50% K # s © MEKBEARARZEHE
BB AR o F1E R 36(a)

AEREEDNESRRUARE 2 RE
EEGIZVEZMBAR - EFRRIIE
HitE AR 2 HBETERBRILE -

)
REERR2RE
ATHINARAR -E-NF=

A= H
ZHENT c LTAABE  AREER LR
fg 2 xR - AR R EEREE -

“NF=A=t-ARBEA
BRAHENT :

AlZE

Nature of the

Name of entity incorporation % of ownership interest relationship Measurement method
BRER EXil/ HERRIER REREZADIL BELE ARIE
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
China Able Limited Mainland China/ British 33.33% 33.33% Notei Equity method
(“China Able”) Virgin Islands
$IW%/%%F§%% lif=d &%
Changshu Baoshunchang Steel  Mainland China 59.99% 49.99%  Note i Equity method
Processing Co., Ltd.*
(“Changshu Baoshunchang”)
EABIEEANMIERAT G MizEi ERA

(I%#AZIRE])
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20 Investments in Associates (Continued) 20 REELNTRIZRE(E)

Notes: Mz -

(i) China Able was engaged in the property business. It is a (i) China Able*EEMESER - EAKA G —RMH
contractual joint venture which is held in equal shares among Fit 2 & W B2 R Fit Team Holdings Limited @ —
Team Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of BYE=HmFEIE(FR)BRARRS 2B
the Company, Nanyang Industrial (China) Limited, an independent % =77 Marvel Champ Investments Limited JA$&
third-party and Marvel Champ Investments Limited, another RHESHERND 2 —HEELE - ERBEERM
independent third-party. It remains inactive since distribution was BEREEDIREEEER REBD B ERRZ
made to shareholders in prior years. The Group has shared the RSO S NT 28 -
losses of the associate to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
associate.

(i) Changshu Baoshunchang is engaged in the processing of steel. (i) HERABIBEERKZMEMT - SRFE AU L Z
It is a contractual joint venture established in Mainland China AERNE  KEHERANFEZE_ZT=FIfF - R
with an operating period of 30 years to 2034. On 3rd December —T-N\F+ZA=H" ' AARBEZEHEEK
2018, VSC (China) Investments Limited, an indirect wholly-owned BAREIEE(FE)KEEFRA A UKHE Wishing
subsidiary of the Company, acquired the entire issued share Pond Group Limited ¥ & ZE /TR - KEA 1
capital of Wishing Pond Group Limited at a consideration of US$1 7T ¢ il Wishing Pond Group Limited #75 %2
and Wishing Pond Group Limited holds 10% equity interest of EZBE 10% Mz - Eitk - RUEE Wishing Pond
Changshu Baoshunchang. As such, the Company indirectly holds Group Limited® ' A ARHEFEEAEIES
59.99% equity interest of Changshu Baoshunchang after the 59.99% By o AU EE Wishing Pond Group
acquisition of Wishing Pond Group Limited. Management assessed Limited R E = G HEK R REL BET) aym
the Company maintained significant influence and no control over BEFEAARUZERBZRETHRFEAY
the operating activities of the entity since there is no change in the 77 M NI S | A o
composition of board and the voting right after the acquisition of
Wishing Pond Group Limited.

During the year ended 31st March 2019, the Group has shared the RBEE-Z-NF=ZA=+—HIFERXN &K
losses of the associate to the extent of the Group’s interest in the EEpBE ARz ERENHE AR EE(ZE
associate (2018: Same). —/\%F : §HR) °

* For identification only * Xl

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the RABIREE R R Z RS RAAEIE -

Company’s interest in the associates.

21 Investments in Joint Ventures and Amount 21 REERFAIZRERER—BEEELQ
due from a Joint Venture AMIE
2019 2018
S =3\
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FAET
Investment in HSL Shanghai Office M HSL Shanghai Office Partners |
Partners | Limited (“HSQ”) Limited ([HSO ) 2 #& & 299,747 —
Investment in VSC Construction M VSC Construction Steel
Steel Solutions Limited Solutions Limited ([ VSC
(“VSC Construction”) Construction|) 2 & & = 19,931
Amount due from VSC Construction EYVSC Construction & I8 — 17,593
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR MR

Investments in Joint Ventures and Amount 21 RAEE

due from a Joint Venture (Continued) BIFRIE (&)
The amount due from a joint venture was unsecured, non- S =
interest bearing and without pre-determined repayment WIBTFE R T
terms. The carrying amount is denominated in HK$ and ’Ajﬂ%@ﬁ** °

approximate its fair value.

The movements of interests in joint ventures are as

RAZRERER-—HBEEL

follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
At beginning of year R E A 19,931 110,631
Capital contribution to VSC [ VSC Construction
Construction (Note (i) EE (ML) — 45,000
Share of loss of VSC Construction  #{5& HVSC Construction
for current year [E5 18 (1,377) (24,420)
Share of loss of VSC Construction  #{5VSC Construction
for unrecognised losses in BAEFE
prior years KRR EE = (649)
Transfer to a subsidiary ERE—EE AT
(Note 36(a)) (K1at 36(a)) (18,554) —
Share of profit of HSL China J&{h HSL China Metropolitan Fund
Metropolitan Fund | L.P. (“HCM”) | L.P.(THCM/) Z & Fl
(Note (ii)) (HEz (i) — 50,478
Realisation of currency translation  FF#§HCM &
differences upon dissolution of INEESIR T R
HCM g3 — (11,043)
Distribution from HCM (Note (ii)) B HCM Z 5K (f 72 (ii)) — (167,123)
Investment in HSO (Note (iii)) M HSO 2% & (B4t (iii)) 289,590 —
Share of profit of HSO &5 HSO 23 Fll 20,653 —
Currency translation differences EHIE N =R (10,496) 17,057
At end of year iGN 299,747 19,931
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

Investments in Joint Ventures and Amount
due from a Joint Venture (Continued)

n‘/-ﬁ

21

Notes:

)

(if)

(iii)

During the year ended 31st March 2018, VSC Steel Processing
Limited (“VSC Processing”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, decided to convert an amount of HK$45,000,000
due from VSC Construction into capital contribution. This capital
contribution formed part of the investment in VSC Construction as
of 31st March 2018.

On 9th May 2018, VSC Processing and the joint venture
partner subscribed for 45,000,000 shares of VSC Construction,
respectively, and VSC Processing satisfied this shares subscription
through its capital contribution as recognised as of 31st March
2018. On the same day, VSC Processing acquired the remaining
50% equity interest of VSC Construction from the joint venture
partner upon the completion of shares subscription (Note 36(a)).

On 13th September 2017, HCM entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, whereby it agreed to
sell 100% of the equity of its subsidiary, Ruskin Overseas Limited,
at an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB812,539,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$960,923,000). The disposal was
completed on 28th September 2017, resulting in a gain on disposal
of approximately HK$239,980,000 in the financial statements of
HCM.

On 28th December 2017, the general partner of HCM declared the
distribution of all capital and profit of HCM to all partners on a pro
rata basis. The Company received approximately HK$167,123,000
from the distribution. HCM was further dissolved on 16th February
2018.

On 18th April 2018, the Company, Plentiful Praise Limited
(“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62% subsidiary of the Company), Reco
Wisteria Private Limited (“RECO”) (an independent third party),
Hongkong and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd. (“Venture Manager”)
(an indirect 60% subsidiary of the Company) and HSO entered
into the subscription and shareholders’ agreement, pursuant to
which Plentiful subscribed for 0.45 shares of HSO at US$4,500
and RECO subscribed for 2.55 shares of HSO at US$25,500 (the
“Transaction”). The Transaction was completed on 1st June 2018,
HSO is owned as to 15% by Plentiful and 85% by RECO.

Following completion and upon request by the Venture Manager,
RECO and Plentiful agreed to contribute further capital of up to
an aggregate amount of US$350,000,000 on a pro rata basis for
operation of HSO. The maximum commitment from Plentiful would
be US$52,500,000, while the maximum commitment from RECO
would be US$297,500,000.

During the year ended 31st March 2019, Plentiful contributed
USD36,909,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$289,590,000) to
HSO.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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i)

EAFAZRENRER—HEER

AR ()

Hiat -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

REBEZE-_Z— N\F=A=+—HALEER " XA
AZEEZEMNBAREIES MM NI ERA AR
([B)EE& T ])RE # FEYKVSC Construction
2450000008 THEESHERARN R =ZF
—NE=ZA=+—8 ' ZHEBRAFERVSC
Construction Z P& -

RZF—\GERANE BIEENIEHEEZHS

wﬁ%VSC Construction #J 45,000,000 f& A& 5
BIEENMIHSARNABEERE—-T—/\F=A
=+—B2ZHERAEK -FAA - BIEEMIRBRHR
ek ERE EZHUEEVSC Construction Z £
T 50% ik (Fif = 36(a)) °

R—ZTE—tFhA+=B HCMEBIE=}
FIVEEWZE Bt HREUNERENARE
812,539,000 JT. (18 & M %7960,923,0007% 7t ) i
& H [ff & A 5] Ruskin Overseas Limited 100%

BE- R=T—+tFENLA-TNBERHEE  ©
HCM B/ 765 3 % 7 = A& Y & U 2% 49 239,980,000 78
=

R=T—tF+=-A=1+/N\H HCM—REEA
M2EA B AKLHEIRHCM 2 EPE AN KEF o
AR A YWEL D R #167,123,000 % 7T ° HCM % M
RZT—-NE-A+ B8

R=Z—/\FMA+N\HB " AR" - - BHERA
a([EH ] ARA)Z62%MEWEARF)  Reco
Wisteria Private Limited ([RECO] -« % 3 & =
7)) BAMEERAGRAR([EEEREA]l AA
A] 2 60% MM & A E) RHSOFT M R RARE
W - B UL 0 MR A 4,500 TR B HSO /9 0.45
AR » i RECO LA 25,500 = TR HSOH) 2.55
BB ([ZXB]) - ZRENR=F—\FA—H
SeAk  MEHAEAR HSO 15% K RECO # A 85% ©

RPERERBEEEEAER - RECO REWE
b Bl 3 — 25 HH & & % & £ 350,000,000 2 7t BA 4
HSO & & - ME# & = A& 1% /% 52,500,000 % 7T
i RECO &= & #5 /& 297,500,000 =T, ©

REBE_Z-NE=A=1t—HLEER ' EKH
HSO #% A 36,909,000 % 7t (8 F 70 49 289,590,000
BIT) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 Investments in Joint Ventures and Amount
due from a Joint Venture (Continued)

Set out below are the joint ventures of the Company as at
31st March 2019. The joint ventures as listed below have
share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which
are held indirectly by the Company.

Details of the principal investments in joint ventures as at
31st March 2019 are as follows:

Place of business/
country of establishment/

e SRR MR

21 REERAZREREK—BEELD
AIRIE ()

ATHIARBTR =T NF=

A=+—H
Zé‘é’&?‘)%?ﬁﬁﬂéﬁ@ EAFER
f& 2 BEA - AR REERE -

—NE=ZA=+—HZ2TERAERQ
Tz&:\pilﬂzﬂ -

Nature of the

Name of entity incorporation % of ownership interest relationship Measurement method
{4 g4/ ERMAIAEAR REREZAIN BELE T BAE
2019 2018
“B-nE ZT\E
HSL China Metropolitan Fund | L.P. Mainland China/ — — Notei Equity method
Cayman Islands
hEN,/ FEHE liEd ERA
HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Mainland China/ 15% — Noteii Equity method
Limited and its subsidiaries British Virgin Islands
hEAN, EBRAHS Wizt i ERA
VSC Construction Steel Hong Kong 100% 50%  Note iii Equity method
Solutions Limited &b Rl ER%
Notes: Hist -

(i) HCM is a property investment fund, which is held by the Company
and certain independent third parties. HCM was dissolved on 16th
February 2018.

(i) HSO and its subsidiaries focus on acquiring under-utilised office
buildings in prime locations in Shanghai with value-add potential,
and implementing value enhancement with efficient capital
expenditure and other asset management initiatives. It is held by
the Company and an independent third party.

(iii) ~ VSC Construction is engaged in the provision of steel processing
services in Hong Kong. VSC Construction is a contractual joint
venture, which was held by the Company and an independent
third party. During the year ended 31st March 2019, the Company
acquired the remaining 50% equity interest of VSC Construction
and it becomes an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. See Note 36(a) for details.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the
Company’s interests in the joint ventures.

(i) HCMARMERERS  AARBARETELF
=718 cHCMR —ZE—N\F - A +/XBEH -

(i)  HSOREKERBKFEINKBMLR LBHEH
B ifn B2 A RAEAE BRI EE DV A8 - SR RE
REAREHRAMEEEIRRE - LIRAEE - It
HARBIRBLE=THA °

(iiiy  VSC Construction A & /& #¢ = 2 # & & hn T ARk
7% o VSC Construction® —H & & 2 7' H
RARARR—BIE=FHE - RBEE=T— "I
FZA=Z+—BHLEFER AR AKEVSC
Construction 2 T~ 50% ) # & © H K AR A FH
HEEZEWNB AR o F1BERMHFE36(a)

ARBRNBERRZEEWES RHARAIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 Investments in Joint Ventures and Amount 21 REEQNFZREREN—BEER

due from a Joint Venture (Continued) RIMIE (&)
Summarised financial information for joint SENTHEERME
ventures
Set out below are the summarised financial information TR AR EARZEE AR ZHBE
for joint ventures which are accounted for using equity PHEE -
method.

HSO

(Note (i)) HCM VSC Construction Total

(it () &t

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Z9-AF T\F ZERE CTF CE-AE CEAF ZR-RE TN
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
i Tht AT At FRn TRt T TEr

Summarised statement of  BIEHRE

financial position Bz
Cash and cash equivalents ~ B2RELZE 10,757 - - 2813 10,757 2813
Other current assets EthnEEE 121,705 - - 14,41 121,705 14412
Total current assets RYAELE 132,462 = - 17005 132,462 17,025
Financial liabilities and SRARR

total current liabilities BraaE (60,195) = - (96,841)  (60,195)  (96,841)
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,112,486 = - 20478 4,112,486 29,478
Other non-current liabilities ~ Etb3EREIA(E (2,186,440) = - —  (2,186,440) =
Net assets/(liabilities) FEE/(88) 1,998,313 = - (50,138) 1,998,313 (50,138)
Summarised statement of ~ 2EERK

comprehensive income BE
Revenue ON 66,207 4310 5,087 71,699 71,494 76,009
Gain on disposal of HERBAFZ

subsidiaries Wa - 239,980 - - = 239,980
Depreciation ik - = (311) (3,667) (311) (3,667)
Finance income BT 2,039 7175 - — 2,039 7175
Finance cost fIkER (69,669) (15,456) (20) (264)  (69,689)  (15,720)
Profit/(loss) before tax REtaER/ (88 194,262 273,222 (,753)  (45644) 191,500 227578
Income tax expense AER L (56,575) (101,762) - (3,196)  (56,575) (104,958
Prafit/(loss) for the year EEEH/(BiR) 137,687 171,460 (2,753)  (48.840) 134,934 122,620
Currency translation BHER

differences =8 (69,974) 57938 - - (69,974) 57938
Total comprehensive income/  EE2ERA/

(loss) for the year (BB)eE 67,713 229,398 (2,753)  (48,840) 64,90 180,558
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANC|AL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ | /Z]-ﬁ%#&%%lzfj

21 Investments in Joint Ventures and Amount 21 REELRFAIZRERER—BEE A
due from a Joint Venture (Continued) TIFRIE (&)
Summarised financial information for joint EELNTNBERBE(E)
ventures (Continued)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in J:?Lﬁ’é(ﬂliﬂ%?é%@THM‘%W%%@JH%
the financial statements of the joint ventures (and not the AEEHSEAR ST HREEELAR 2
Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences @%"E(I?EZ@%IEMZ&%E)
in accounting policies between the Group and the joint
ventures.
Reconciliation of summarised financial information BIEE R ES R
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information FIERMBERBBEEARNTREERFZ
presented to the carrying amount of the Company MRS 7 BRE 4 B ER
interests in joint ventures
HSO HCM VSC Construction Total
A
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

L I o L S S
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Fr  Tht Tt Bt Fhn TEt T TEr

Summarised financial HHERNE

information
Net assets at beginning REA]

of year LBERE - - - 375785 (50,138) (1,208)  (50,138) 374,487
Capital injection by BT

shareholders (Note (i) (B (i) 1,930,600 = - = 90,000 — 2,020,600 =
Profit/(loss) for the year ERaH/(58) 137,687 ~ - 171460 (2753) (48840 134,934 122620
Distribution of capital injected  HEEABRR

and profit it - - —  (567,679) - - —  (567,673)
Currency translation EREY

differences £8 (69,974) - - 579 - — (69974) 57,938
Realisation of currency EHEE

franslation difference -3 - = - (37,510) - = = (37,510)
Transfer to a subsidiary eRz-AHELH — - = = (37,109) — (37,109) -
Net assets/(liabilities) at end ~ REFKZEE /(8

of year e 1,998,313 — - — - (50,138) 1,998,313 (50,138)
Investments in joint ventures  NAERAIZIRE

— Carrying value —FHE 299,747 — - = - 19,931 299,747 19,931
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21

B IR M

Investments in Joint Ventures and Amount
due from a Joint Venture (Continued)

Summarised financial information for joint
ventures (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information
(Continued)

Notes:

)

(if)

HSO engages external, independent and qualified valuer to
determine the fair value of the investment properties at the end
of the financial year. As at 31st March 2019, the fair value of the
investment properties was determined by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited.

During the year ended 31st March 2018, VSC Processing has
decided to convert an amount of HK$45,000,000 due from VSC
Construction into capital contribution. This capital contribution
forms part of the investment in VSC Construction as of 31st March
2018.

On 9th May 2018, VSC Processing and the joint venture
partner subscribed for 45,000,000 shares of VSC Construction,
respectively, and the Group satisfied this shares subscription
through its capital contribution as recognised as of 31st March
2018. On the same day, the VSC Processing acquired the
remaining 50% equity interest of VSC Construction from the joint
venture partner upon the completion of shares subscription and
VSC Construction became an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company since then. No summarised statement of financial
position as of 31st March 2019 is shown above, the summarised
statement of comprehensive income is presented for the period
from 1st April 2018 to 9th May 2018. Details of the acquisition are
disclosed in Note 36(a).

During the year ended 31st March 2019, Plentiful and RECO made
a capital injection, totaled to HK$1,930,600 to HSO on a pro rata
basis.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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MEE

(i)

E@%;“é;ﬁﬂZ?ﬁﬁ&@L& BMegn

MBEEHBEL R (E)

HSOZEIN BB A ERMEEE - AEENEH
BEEFRREMEZAABE -R_T—NF=
A=1+—0 REVEZAABEAFEBRITEE
HEREAERAREE

BHE-_Z-—N\F=A=t+—BLFERN" BB
g N T B & TE # & UkVSC Construction 3k I8
45,000,000 TEREAHE - EAXRHEEK
VSC Construction®&Z=2=Z—/\F=A=+—H
ZIREES ©

Eﬁfi;—/\ﬁﬁﬂjlﬁ BIEBEMIRALEHE

BII7REE VSC Construction 45,000,000 f&f& {5 -
ﬁﬁﬂ‘%@aﬁi@iﬁ\ﬁif? —NE=A=+—
EﬁEE@ZEKHﬂE%%&tHx@;E% B A - VSC
ProcessingiR R D RIEZEA & - #A EBHIK
B VSC Construction# T 50% % ﬁ% B 1t VSC
Construction X AR A RHEEZENB AR - #HE

—NEF=ZA=T—BZHBERRARBEL &5
TREN - MEABHREEIR - \FHA
—BE=Z—/\ERANBHEEY - BEFERBER
M5E36(a) FHEE ©

BE_Z-NF=ZA=+—BLFE BHE
RECO ﬁ HSO #Z Lt il i & #£ 1,930,600 B 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 Deferred Income Tax Assets/(Liabilities)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities
and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net
basis. The offset amounts are as follows:

22

e SRR MR

BEFEHEE (BE)

ERAKHMEREERNBPAERAR
B2 A ERBIMTE - ARER —HB#
BARZERTERBATRERY B RIELT
S EE MREMSHABEWMEH -
Hh G AR FREAESER - BT
SHEEHEABEH P EREE - HiESHEN
T

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZT—)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Deferred income tax assets: BEFTRBREE ¢
— Deferred income tax assets to ~ — #R+ @A RBIKE ~
be recovered after 12 months FIEFTEIREE 33,215 18,010
— Deferred income tax assets to ~ — ¥R+ @A RKEZ
be recovered within 12 months EEFTISTHEE 13,867 6,807
47,082 24 817
Deferred income tax liabilities: BEFTBREE
— Deferred income tax liabilities — BR+ =@ R%EEZ
to be settled after 12 months ELFTSFHAaE (92,162) (71,156)
Net deferred income tax liabilities  IEIEFFSH: B (E/F 5 (45,080) (46,339)
The movements in net deferred income tax liabilities are BEFTGERABEFHEEHINT
as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hE —T—N\F
HK$°’000 HK$’000
FET FET
At beginning of year R E A (46,339) (48,268)
(Charged)/credited to the ERGEBmET
consolidated income statement ($BR)FA
(Note 11) (Htat 11) (2,889) 8,503
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRNB A
(Note 36(c)) (K17 36(c)) (490) —
Currency translation differences EHSEN =58 4,638 (6,574)
At end of year RER (45,080) (46,339)
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B IR M

(Continued)

22 Deferred Income Tax Assets/(Liabilities)

The movements in deferred income tax assets
and liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets:

22 EEFBHEE (8F) (&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AERREMEHREERBB(LESKRF—
WG AR R N Z AEERIREH ) < E T ¢

EXLFSREE

Cumulative Decelerated

tax losses depreciation Total
At HIEEE g E #Er
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT FET
At 1st April 2017 EAfy —+FPA—H 26,415 389 26,804
Credited to the consolidated REFEIBRERF
income statement )\,HE 6,511 72 6,583
Currency translation EHETE 5,
differences =% 646 — 646
At 31st March 2018 RZZE—N\F=HA=+—H 33,572 461 34,033
Credited/(charged) to the ERfGEIBRERT
consolidated income A
statement (0Bx) 22,790 (53) 22,737
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMHBA A
(Note 36(c)) (H1:£36(c)) (490) — (490)
Currency translation B E 5,
differences =58 (562) — (562)
At 31st March 2019 RZZE-NAF=A=1+—H 55,310 408 55,718
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

22 Deferred Income Tax Assets/(Liabilities)

22 EEFEHEE (AE) (&)

(Continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities: BEREFTEMBIE
Investment  Withholding  Accelerated
property tax depreciation Total
REME BB mERE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET AT
At 1st April 2017 RZE—+FmMA—B (66,233) (1,561) (7,278) (75,072)
(Charged)/credited to the BERGEBERT(1R),/
consolidated income statement A (3,704) 951 4,673 1,920
Currency translation differences BHlE = (7,220) — — (7,220)
At 31st March 2018 RZZ—-\E=A=+—H (77,157) (610) (2,605) (80,372)
(Charged)/credited to the ERGARSERT (1K),
consolidated income statement A (27,216) 307 1,283 (25,626)
Currency translation differences EENZE 5,200 — - 5,200
At 31st March 2019 RZE-NE=A=+—H (99,173) (303) (1,322) (100,798)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the

BEFFSREE DA BHEBREMNREBR
PR FERR Bt M) 3R T B PR 45 88 2 W IR B 1R A

related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31st March 2019, the deferred income
tax assets recognised from tax losses of approximately
HK$47,167,000 (2018: HK$24,861,000) can be carried
forward indefinitely. The remaining deferred income
tax assets recognised from tax losses of approximately
HK$8,143,000 (2018: HK$8,713,000) will expire in five
years from the year they were incurred.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of approximately HK$46,929,000 (2018: HK$33,129,000)
and approximately HK$6,390,000 (2018: HK$3,950,000)
in respect of tax losses amounting to approximately
HK$284,419,000 (2018: HK$200,782,000) that can
be carried forward indefinitely and approximately
HK$25,558,000 (2018: HK$15,800,000) will be expired in
five years from the year they were incurred respectively.
The above includes the tax losses of HK$146,027,000
arising from the acquisition of VSC Construction which
did not recognise as deferred income tax assets of
approximately HK$24,094,000 during the year ended
31st March 2019.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$19,000
(2018: HK$168,000) have not been recognised for the
~ withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of certain subsidiaries, as management currently
has no intention to remit those earnings.

R -N-_EBE—AE=A=+—8 B
THEGERER ZELEMSHEEL 47,167,000
B IL(=Z — )\ £ : 24,861,000 7T ) A JA
ERHEE R TN 2 ERRELCHEREE
i I8 [B5 18 498,143,000 L (= & — )\ 4 :
8,713,000 B L ) BRELEFEERAF AL
R o

A& B EFL L) 284,419,0008 L ( —ZF— N\
200,782,000 ) 2 HIBE B EERLD
46,929,000 ;L (=ZF — J\ £ : 33,129,000
BIL) ZBEEFTSHEE » 5] LAERH
sEaE . N #9725 558,0008 L (=T — )\ & ¢
15,800,000/ 7L ) 2 FHRIEEEER - HER
#76,390,000%8 L (= Z — /A £ : 3,950,000
BILICBEMSHEE  HEERELEFE
BRFAKRK - LM FHAFESEBKEVSC
Construction 2 % I8 /& 18 146,027,000 %8
T EREE =T - NF=ZA=F+—HIEHF
fEARMERR A #) 24,094,000 76 7T 2 IEIE A 1S HT
BE -

S E T H B AR 2 AE L U2 ~ FE A
T8 0 % 7 2R 4719,000%8 (= T — )\ & :
168,0008 L) C ELEFEHEAE  BAER
EBIRFESE HZERT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 Financial Asset At Fair Value Through Other 23 %
Comprehensive Income (2018: Available- &
For-Sale Financial Asset) &

b EE AR 2 E WA Z & B
g)( ZE-NF OHftHEZEH

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FBEIT

At beginning of year RE AT 286 506
Change in fair value recognised AL 2 TE WA R AR

in other comprehensive income R EEES)

(Note 34) (Hiat34) (142) (220)
At end of year RER 144 286
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive BRARBEFAEMZAVAZEREE(Z
income (2018: available-for-sale financial asset), which is =T — /\¢ AL EZEMEE)RARBE
stated at fair value and denominated in HK$, represents PR LB Tt E - EREBBMARSAAE
shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong [RAR EmZI&m -

Limited.
24 Financial Assets At Fair Value Through 24 BAAREBEITABGZZEREE
Profit or Loss
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ET—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Investments in unit trusts, BRAEERERE

at quoted price (Note (i) (B ()) = 111,861
Structured bank products, HEHEMRTERRE

at quoted price (Note (ii)) (H1a (i) 36,698 23,674

36,698 185,535
Notes: Htet -
(i) The investments in unit trusts were denominated in HK$. Changes (i) BAETRENBITE - DA EBEEFNGEE
in fair value were recognised in “other gains — net” in the mx[ Hnlas — B PR
consolidated income statement.
(i)  The investments in structured bank products were denominated in (if) ﬁt% MEERITEMIRE UARYEE - A/LF‘@@
RMB. Changes in fair value were recognised in “other gains — net” AERFERIEMUE — F5 |PrER

in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

Inventories 25 ®E
2019 2018
=E-hF AN S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Finished goods UK fh 289,156 289,566
Work in progress E8 M 1,503 —
290,659 289,566
The costs of inventories recognised as expenses and #92,533,767,000.(= T — J\ F:

included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated income
statement amounted to approximately HK$2,533,767,000
(2018: HK$2,765,195,000).

The Group made inventory provision for obsolete
inventories and write-down of the inventories to net
realisable value. As at 31st March 2019, there is a
provision of HK$15,035,000 (2018: HK$13,891,000) was
net off with the inventories in the consolidated statement
of financial position. A provision for impairment of
inventories of HK$1,594,000 (2018: HK$1,007,000) was
included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated income
statement.

2,765,195,0008 ) 2 T EM A E R A X
o WEFFAZEBRRZEERA |F -

AEERBEFENREEREILEFEEM
BER#FREE R2BE—NWE=RA=+—
B £ {%15,035,000/8 (=& — )\ & :
13,891,000/ 7T ) AR & M B MK & R 17
BRI o FERERME 1,594,000 (=
T — \£F : 1,007,000/87C) Bt AL A B
FZSHERA]F o

Trade and Bill Receivables 26 EWRRKREE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT—)\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade and bill receivables JE U BR 3k K 2= 4%
— from third parties — REBFE=H 483,688 504,249
— from an associate and — REEER A&
a joint venture X -WNC] 20,049 41,525
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (23,214) (17,536)
Trade and bill receivables — net EUERFR R =R — F5E 480,523 528,238

Sales are either covered by letters of credit or open
account with credit terms of 0 to 90 days.

HEHUUEAEXAGERN 2R #E
7 EEH—RBNFOEWNQATE -
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e RS ERAR MY EE

26 Trade and Bill Receivables (Continued)

Ageing analysis of trade and bill receivables by invoice
date is as follows:

26 BUWHRARRERE(E)

FEW IR R R BAR BB T B2 R 0 A a0
T

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\EF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

0 to 60 days 0260H 340,981 349,681
61 to 120 days 612120 H 82,306 99,638
121 to 180 days 1212180 H 39,709 12,464
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 16,813 42,460
Over 365 days H#38 365 H 23,928 41,531
503,737 545,774

Less: Provision for impairment B R E R (23,214) (17,536)
480,523 528,238

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, these receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the aging from
billing. See Note 3.1(b) for further information about
expected credit loss provision.

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and
bill receivables are as follows:

AEBEA BB EHREFEIFRA B LA

FHRTEHEEESE - B 4 ot e RER R E

BB ERRE  HTE2BHEEE

B WEREKGFIEE R AR EERR TR

ZREREE FHENEEEEREZE
—FSER RT3 1(b) °

YRR L RE 2 REREZSHNAT

2019 2018

—E-NEF —ZT-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

At 1st April RIYA—H 17,536 14,609
Change in accounting policy SRR ZEE)

(Note 2.2) (Htt2.2) 5,190 —
Restated total at 1st April RIMA—HE5&%E 22,726 14,609
Provision for impairment VEREREE 4,262 1,218
Written off during the year as FRME A

uncollectible AU El (2,283) (3)
Currency translation differences BHEIE N = (1,491) 1,712
At 31st March R=A=+—H 23,214 17,536
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26 Trade and Bill Receivables (Continued) 26 FEWERRKREE(E)
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables KRR ERFHE RO SHEEER-F

—NWE=ZA=+t—B2Z2RARBEHEE -

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2019.

EUEARZBRFE LTS RATIER

The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables

27

were denominated in the following currencies:

SHE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E—N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

RMB AR 238,736 275,703
HK$ BT 226,068 218,950
us$ ETT 15,719 33,585
480,523 528,238

Prepayments, Deposits and Other

Receivables

27 BNFHE - REREBEUIRR

2019 2018

—E-hF —F-N\F

HK$°000 HK$000

FET FAET

Prepayments for purchases TR ER IR 79,129 124,235
Prepayments for property, plant GENEZE

and equipment HAERIE 133 2,639

Rental and other deposits HekHEMiLe 16,890 18,201

Value-added tax recoverable Al U [e] $E(E 7 22,718 30,016
Compensation receivable in REITE LB

relation to an unfulfilled contract BEERIE 2,915 18,944

Others HAh 12,709 14,795

134,494 208,730

Less: Non-current B JERNHER (19,084) (22,628)

Current B HA 115,410 186,102
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e BRI

27 Prepayments, Deposits and Other
Receivables (Continued)

27 FEMARIE - RERH MEVIRMR(E)

ANFIE - BEREMEKRERZEASHE

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and

other receivables approximated their fair values as at HER-ZT-NF=ZA=+—RHZAREE
31st March 2019. They were denominated in the following HE - BNFUE - e REMEWERIUAT
currencies: P E¥ETE -
2019 2018
—E-hF — N\
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
RMB AR 86,982 138,155
HK$ BT 47,072 69,691
US$ e 241 884
Others H A 199 —
134,494 208,730
28 Pledged Bank Deposits/Cash and Cash 28 EEARTER BHekELEE
Equivalents
2019 2018
—E-hF —F-N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Cash on hand FERe 210 189
Cash at bank RITFR 165,449 277,697
Short-term bank deposits 2 HAR1 T BRfE K = 92,687
165,659 370,573
Less: Pledged bank deposits W BERRITIER (38,884) (57,807)
Cash and cash equivalents BHeMIREEE 126,775 312,766
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28 Pledged Bank Deposits/Cash and Cash

Equivalents (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in the following currencies:

e SRR MR

(Eiéﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%k/ﬁﬁ&iﬁﬁ%ﬁ

B RTERRE S RIS SE T
HHHE -

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

HK$ BT 76,182 178,897
RMB AR 69,082 167,300
us$ ETT 20,349 24,299
Others Hib 46 77
165,659 370,573

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair values
as at 31st March 2019.

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit is 1.11%
(2018: 1.22%) per annum. These deposits have an
average maturity of 11 days (2018: 20 days).

As at 31st March 2019, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$38,884,000 (2018: HK$57,807,000)
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables.

As at 31st March 2019, pledged bank deposits and
cash and bank deposits totalling approximately
HK$63,029,000 (2018: HK$85,971,000) were
denominated in RMB and kept in banks in Mainland
China. These funds are not freely convertible in the
international market with exchange rate determined by
the People’s Bank of China.

EEMRTERNRESMAECFECFES
BMEHER-_Z-NF=A=+—B2Z2iE
BHEE -

BOIERZEBRAEREBF111%(ZF—N
F:1.02%) - ZEEFZRNTFHEHAH+—
B(ZZ—N\F: =—+H) -

RZZE—HhhE=A=+—08 ~AEEHR
1717 38 #9 7 38,884,000 o ( —F — N\ 4F :
57,807,000/ ) EHRBIEAAEB RN E
B IEEG o

R-ZBE—AF=A=+—0 BEARTHE
KA RIRE© RIRITF KA £ 463,029,000 7%
TT(=Z— )\ : 85,971,000/87C) AA R
SHEXFERTE R o th S &I L E
EMEERLAREERATEARBTE

}:'_Eo
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29 Trade and Bill Payables 29 BENERIAREE

Payment terms with suppliers are either on letters of EEER ZNRIERE N ERESR A EEH
credit or open account with credit period of 30 to 60 ZHEBEFTRNET FEH—MRNFI0ZE60
days. BAE o

ERNERREBREZZBHZRES TN

Ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice

date is as follows: T

2019 2018
—E-hF —E—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T8
0 to 60 days 0£60H 188,702 239,723
61 to 120 days 612120 H 18 43,961
121 to 180 days 1212180 H 174 299
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 22 74
Over 365 days 818 365 H 177 754
189,093 284,811

The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables FERNEZNEE VERSHEEEN T —H

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2019.
They were denominated in the following currencies:

FZA=T—HZAABERE - BNER
REBATIIEHE

2019 2018

e —z N\

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

RMB 114,764 146,265
HK$ 26,412 12,086
US$ 47,917 126,460
189,093 284,811
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N 3 ;
30 Accrued Liabilities and Other Payables 30 EFFEERHEMESIRR
2019 2018
—E-AF = N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Accrual for employee benefit fEETEE
expenses B = 14,597 9,895
Accrual for operating expenses JEET & T 33,875 27,526
Provision for onerous contracts BEZOEME — 40,656
Rental deposits received BWHERS 16,725 13,169
Value-added tax payables eI E R 2,868 2,171
68,065 93,417
Less: Non-current B - FERIHEA (15,246) (11,813)
Current RIVER 52,819 81,604
The carrying amounts of accrued liabilities and other st EREMBEMNERERZRESFEELRN

payables approximated their fair values as at 31st March

2019.

Accrued liabilities and other payables were denominated

in the following currencies:

—E-NAFZA=t+—RZAAEBEEE -

et a B REMEMNERFUA TG, E :

2019 2018
—E-NE —Z=—\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

HK$ BT 29,075 65,443
RMB AR 32,954 27,724
us$ ETT 6,036 250
68,065 93,417
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n‘/-ﬁ

31 Borrowings 31 BE
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current BIVER
— Trust receipts bank loans (i) SREBIRIRITE R (1) 658,918 749,879
— Short-term bank loans (i) — MHESRITE () 90,818 155,958
— Current portion of long-term — EHBEIHAREIRITE R
bank loans, secured (ii) B (i) 37,974 41,728
787,710 947,565
Non-current JERNER
— Long-term bank loans, — RARITER
secured (ii) B (i) 704,839 611,292
Total borrowings BEBE 1,492,549 1,558,857
Notes: Btz
(i) As at 31st March 2019 and 2018, trust receipts bank loans and (i) —NER=E /\i ﬂ +—A - F5Ek
short-term bank loans were secured by corporate guarantee. TF%E{TE R % 5G HASRITE A R Rl B (R (B -
(i) As at 31st March 2019, the long-term bank loans of approximately (ii) T—NEFE=A=1+—H ' 4484,616,000/7C
HK$484,616,000 (2018: HK$553,238,000) were secured by the (== — )\ : 553,238,000/ L) 2 KHRITE
pledge of the Group’s investment property of approximately T AN E IR B Y ¥ 491,404,990,0008 T (=T
HK$1,404,990,000 (2018: HK$1,380,568,000) (Note 15) and —/\4 : 1,380,568,00078 70 ) {E & 1 (Ffi £ 15) K%
corporate guarantee. The remaining long-term bank loans of 1 EER - FI82258,197,0008 T (=8 — \&F :
approximately HK$258,197,000 (2018: HK$99,782,000) were 99,782,000 77 ) 2 REARITE A EER KA
secured by corporate guarantee and secured by the Company KAGRETH BB A SR -
equity interests in certain subsidiaries.
The maturity of the Group’s borrowings in accordance AEBEEBEEREXRFERZE BB RN
with the repayment schedule: T
2019 2018
—B-hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year 1FR 787,710 947,565
Between one and two years 1E24F 91,158 128,179
Between two and five years 2FEGEF 613,681 483,113
1,492,549 1,558,857
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Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings were denominated in the following
currencies:

31 BE(#\)

EEATIEMEEHE

2019 2018

—F-hF —T-N\F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET T

HK$ BT 822,565 589,034
USs$ xTT 115,468 325,626
RMB AR 554,516 644,197
1,492,549 1,558,857

The effective interest rates of borrowings (per annum) at
the reporting dates are as follows:

RMB AR
HK$ BT
US$ ETT

RHER - EEZERMNXR(BF)MT :

2019
ZE-hF
HK$°000
FET

5.8%
4.5%
4.0%

2018
—Z-N\F
HK$'000
FEIT

5.7%
2.8%
3.0%

All the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March 2019 are
on floating rate basis and the carrying amounts of the
borrowings approximated their fair values.

The Group has the following floating rate undrawn
borrowing facilities:

AEBBNATRERZFESIEERE

2019 2018

—E-hF —FE-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

— expiring within one year — —FRE|H 451,468 292,919
— expiring beyond one year — —F1& 5| H 250,755 673,511
702,223 966,430
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32 Share Capital 32 R
Issued and fully paid
Authorised (Ordinary shares (Ordinary shares of
of HK$0.10 each) HK$0.10 each)
ETE ERTRAR
(BRO10BTZEER) (BRO.10EBTZEER)
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
ROHE HE R EE HE
‘000 HK$000 ‘000 HK$'000
Fi FET Fik FET
As at 31st March 2017 RZZ—tF=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 641,883 64,188
Shares repurchased and RinEER &
cancelled (i) i (i) — — (1,336) (133)
As at 31st March 2018 N_E—\F=ZA=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 640,547 64,055
Exercise of share options d- 1 — — 685 68
As at 31st March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 641,232 64,123
Note: Bt
(i) During the year ended 31st March 2018, pursuant to the (i) REBE-ZT-N\F=A=+—HILFE ' BEEQ

mandate to buy-back shares of the Company obtained from the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 18th August 2017, the Company repurchased an aggregate of
1,336,000 shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited at
an aggregate consideration of HK$940,000 (after expenses) during
the year. All these shares were subsequently cancelled by the
Company.
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33 Share Options

The Company has two share option schemes in which
the share option scheme adopted since 12th November
2001 (the “2001 Share Option Scheme”) was terminated
on 11th August 2011 and the other share option scheme
was adopted since 11th August 2011 (the “2011 Share
Option Scheme”). Upon termination of the 2001 Share
Option Scheme, no further options will be granted by
the Company thereunder but in all other respects the
provisions of the 2001 Share Option Scheme shall remain
in force and all options granted prior to such termination
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
therewith. The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on
the adoption date (i.e. 11th August 2011) and will expire
on 10th August 2021. The 2011 Share Option Scheme
may grant options to any person being an employee,
agent, consultant or representative (including executive
directors and non-executive directors) of the Group
to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
maximum of 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time, excluding for the shares
issued on the exercise of options. The exercise price will
be determined by the Company’s board of directors and
must be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares quoted on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on the date of grant of the options,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
prices of the Company’s shares quoted on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares of HK$0.10 each.

33

e SRR MR

B

RNARIZREMIBERETE  ERAR T
—F+—A+ZBRAZBEREFTE(=Z
T -FEREFEDERZ=ZZE—FNA
+—H&IE MBS —EBEREFE(=ZZ
—— FEREFE DR =T ——FNA+—
BEM -  — T —FHERETEIRILEE K
RRAIETEBE _ T —FEREEIE
R - MEEEEMIERIDABR - MR
ZETEIRIERT R 2 T E BRI A B K
AR ERITE - S —— FHRETEIZE
HHAEHEA AR —E——F N \A+—H)
RET BETF YHER=_ZT—_—FNA+
HEm —ZT——FHERENS - EJET
FRHACRAEEZ2EE - REA - BRI
REBEXATESRIFENTES) BIREN
REARNBZKD  BERZAEARRTED
BITIRARZ230% ' ER T EEREITEERE
METZRD - TEERKBERRRESSE
EREDVPUANTI&REERBE ()RR F)
R REERERB(MNEAEEH)ED
BEAER AR A BT WmE ; (i) A
RERONEER L ERERD AT A EE3
HEBBHAERZMER AR FHIK
mE  R(i)ANARRMEESKRO0.10BT °
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n\/-ﬁ
33 Share Options (Continued) 33 HERE(E)
Movements of share options for the year ended 31st REBEE-_ZT—NF=ZA=1+—"HBHItFEZE
March 2019 were as follows: AR REEEEIAOT ¢
Adjusted
Exercise  exercise As at As at
price per  price per  1st April Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period share share (i) 2018 Granted lapsed  Exercised 2019
BEE R2B-N\F R=B-N%
BFRE BHH BRTEE SROEEGH MA-H BT i#/%% BfTf =A=1+-H
HK$ HK$ 000 000 000 000 000
BT BT T & K K T
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 0.928 0.928 10,800 — (7,700) — 3,100
19th January 2025
—T-1f “E-fA%-A-TR%
—A=1H ZZZRE-ATNA
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to 1.300 1.043 9,474 — (8,228) — 1,246
26th November 2023
“T-=F I R I S =k
+-A=++AH ZE-ZEt-AZ1KA
16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to 0.670 0.537 8,078 — (5,360) (374) 2,344
15th November 2022
“2-—F “T——F+-At+5BZE
+—A17~H :2::¢+ A+®A
13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to 0.504 0.404 12,206 — — — 12,206
12th October 2019
=3 ZEENETRATZRE
TAT=H -4 TATZH
18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to 0.586 0.470 937 — — (312) 625
17th September 2019
ZZENE ZEENENATNRE
NATNAH ZE-NERATER
19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to 0.780 0.626 1,247 — (1,247 — —
18th June 2018
ZET)\E ZRENEXATNEE
~ATNA ZE-N\EXATNH
Total b 42,742 — (22,535) (686) 19,521
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Share Options (Continued)

Movements of share options for the year ended 31st

33

e SRR MR

BRE(R

RBE_T-N\F=ZA=+—BHIEFEZE

March 2018 were as follows: ARIEZE T
Adjusted
Exercise  exercise As at As at
price per  price per  1st April Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period share share (i) 2017 Granted lapsed  Exercised 2018
BRE R-B-F RZB-N\F
BFEH BuH BRTRE SROEEGH MA-A B H#/%% Bfff ZR=1+-H
HK$ HK$ 000 000 000 000 000
AT AT TR 7K 7&K T &
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 0.928 0.928 10,800 — — — 10,800
19th January 2025
—T-1F “2-RE-A-fHZE
—E=1F —Z-R§-A+NA
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to 1.300 1.043 9,474 — — - 9,474
26th November 2023
“T-=F “E-=f1t-A-TtRE
+-A=++A it Sk Bt i UN=
16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to 0.670 0.537 8,078 — — — 8,078
15th November 2022
S I RN =K
T—R+iA ZE-E+t—ATHhA
13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to 0.504 0.404 12,206 — — — 12,206
12th October 2019
It ik “2TNETATZRAZE
TAT=H “E-NETATZH
18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to 0.586 0.470 937 — — — 937
17th September 2019
“TTNEF EENFAATNRE
RATNA “T-NFARTLR
19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to 0.780 0.626 1,247 — — — 1,247
18th June 2018
ZEEN\E “EE\EXATNRE
~ATHA “E-\EXAT\R
Total it 42,742 - - — 42,742
Note: Hiat -
(i) The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior (i) RIE-—TT—EERETZ R - — —ERERES

to 17th December 2014 under the 2001 Share Option Scheme
and 2011 Share Option Scheme were adjusted for the open offer
completed in December 2014.

R =T —MFE+= AT AR KRR 2 BRES
BITREER T -—NF+ AR AREEFEH

A -
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33 Share Options (Continued)

Options exercised during the year revolted in
approximately 686,000 share (2018: Nil) being issued, at
weighted average exercise price of HK$0.5 (2018: Nil)
per ordinary share with total proceeds of approximately
HK$344,000 (2018: Nil). The related weighted average
price at the time of exercise was HK$0.68 (2018: Nil).
During the year ended 31st March 2019, approximately
22,535,000 share options (2018: Nil) were lapsed.

No share options were granted during the year ended
31st March 2019 (2018: Nil).

34 Reserves

Share Capital

Share option redemption  Statutory
premium  reserve  reserve (i) reserves (i)

&%

Bite® BRERS REER) LRER)
HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSO0D  HKS000

33

34

BRE(R)

FNFTTE 2 B AR 28 B 49 686,000 A% A% 15
—E-NF B AMEFHTEESRE
BROSBIL(ZT—N\F : #)3(T 7
I 488 4 5 344,000 T(ZE — )\ F :
M) o (TR AR NN (B /0688 T
—E-N\F:8) REBEE_ZT—NLF=A
=+—HIFER » 422,535,000 % E %
(Z2E—N\F : EBEXK -

BE_Z-NF=A=T—"BLFE HE
BRHEABRE(CE-N\F : &) -

R
Cumulative

foreign
Available-  currency

Capital Other ~ for-sale translation  Retained
reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings Total

2t

BrER  RMEE THEERSE EXRR  REN 2]
HKS000  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSDOD  HK$000

ér  TEr  FEr  TEr  TEr  FEr FEr TEr AT TEn

At 1st April 2017 R=E-+EmA-A 426,676 7311 79,684 12,804 58,355 (10,137) 17 (48934) 519487 1,045,323
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - = = — (47712 (47,71)
Currency translation HYES

differences £ = - - - - - — 115818 — 115818
Change in fairvalue of  WHHEZEBEEL

avallable-for-sale financial 24 EEZE

asset (Note 29) Wi#23) = = = = = = (220) = = (220)
Appropriation of statutory 2T

feserves e = = = 3944 = = = = (3944) =
Share-based payment  MRIAER 2N = 2861 = = = = = = = 2861
Shares repurchased and ~ RIAEER

cancelled i (807) = 940 - = = = - (940) (807)
Change in ownership interest HBAEZ

insubsidiaries without ~ ERERREYH

change of control B

(Note 37) (B37) - - - - — [5560) - (10 66 (56%)
Dividends paid to owners of 2RAAZERA

the Company L8 - - - - - - = — (15983  (15983)
At 31st March 2018 RZE-NE=A=1-H 425,869 10,232 80,624 16,748 58,355 (15,703) (203) 66,874 360,852 993,648
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

34 Reserves (Continued) 34 fEfE(E)
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
other Cumulative
compre- foreign
Share  Capital Available-  hensive  currency
Share option redemption  Statutory  Capital Other ~ for-sale  income translation  Retained
premium  reserve reserve (ii) reserves (i  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings Total
RAARE
fHARE
&% SHEE B

BiiR HREGE REGR() LRER() AAEE  REBR THIERR SEBRUA  ERBR  REWA 8
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HK000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSDOO  HKSUOO
tér  TET  TEr T TET  TEL  TEr TET  TET TEr TET

AttstAprl 2018 WZF-N\E

mA-A 425,869 10,232 80,624 16,748 58,365 (15,703) (203) - 06874 350852 993,648
Changes in SRR
accounting A1)
volcies (Noie 22) ~ (#22) - - - - - - 203 (209) — W) (46T

Restated balance as H=5—/\ERA

at 1st April 2018 —AZEfIEs 425,869 10,232 80,624 16,748 58,365 (15,703) - (203) 66,874 346,180 988,976
Proft for the year A& - - - - - - - = — 13888 13888
Currency ranslation  EHE R

differences = - — - - - - - - (69,0%9) - (69,0%9)
Change in financial A4 EEA
assefs at fairvalue ~ EBZERA
through other NepAE
comprehensive 229
income (Note 23)  (#1223) - = = - = = = (142) = = (142)
Appropriation o 1RAEE
staiutory reserves it - = = 1,275 = = = = = (1,275) =
Share-based W AERZ
payment xff - 2311 - - - - - - - - 2311
Exercise of share 7768
options e 384 (108) = = - = = - = = 216
Lapse of share options ki 2 B g — (5244 - - - - - - - 5,244 -
Dividends paidto ~ BAAAR
owners of the BEA
Company 28 - - - - - - - - —  (10057)  (10,057)
At31stMarch 2019 H-F-NE
ZA=t-A 426,263 7191 80,624 18,023 58,356 (15,703) - (345) (2,155) 363980 926,223
Notes: Wiz
(i) Statutory reserves represent enterprise expansion reserve fund (i) EEREBEI AT B A E THEARRY 2 D%
and general reserve fund set up by certain subsidiaries in BREGBEE R —REEHEES - REHBERNMERET
Mainland China. As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, B - AR B b K L R A 2 B R A R ZE R ELRR A
the subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are BmA(CEHBEEFEBR) BEX D ECXER
required to appropriate a portion of their after-tax profit (after REEe L —RHFEEES X TESEBEZSE
offsetting prior year losses) to the enterprise expansion reserve E o —MFHEES T AERHEEERIEMRAE - m
fund and general reserve fund, at rates determined by their TEBERBEES ] AEGMRAE o
respective boards of directors. The general reserve fund may
be used for making up losses and increasing capital, while the
enterprise expansion reserve fund may be used for increasing
capital.
(ii)= The capital redemption reserve has been established upon (i) EBARERFEEDNERRGRRT

repurchase of shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 35 MEBRERER

(a) RABHRAER (BE)ELE
(i) / FEBzRSFEYRN

(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income
tax to net cash (used in)/generated from

operations is as follows: T
2019 2018
—2-nE —F-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETB R DG A, (E518) 17,826 (142,012)
Share of results of joint ventures E(hE & ARz EE
— net = aa%éi (19,276) (14,366)
Interest income PSRN (4,920) (5,010)
Interest expenses MBS 80,638 70,708
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BB R
equipment ZHTE 43,195 39,705
Gain on bargain purchase arising from 4 [ E& Uk i — R B B 2 7
the acquisition of a subsidiary BEA 2 W (B W (18,554) —
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, HEMHE - BEREZHEZ
plant and equipment (Wz) A (1,006) 39
Unrealised exchange loss REIRE N BB 16,860 18,607
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMRB AR 2 W (5,313) —
Impairment of goodwill EEERE] 2,494 —
Impairment of property, plant and Y - BB Mi&tE
equipment 2B 1,181 —
Amortisation of land use rights o 3 5E A4 2 Mk 8H 202 202
Amortisation of intangible assets B A B 2 1,511 590
Fair value gain on investment properties &M 7 A1 BEKE (108,865) (14,818)
Provision for impairment of trade and FE W BR FOR B B 1
bill receivables — net — FFE 4,262 1,218
Provision for impairment of inventories  1F & R{EREE
— net — FE 1,594 1,007
Unrealised fair value loss on financial &AL BETAEREZS
assets at fair value through profit or wEﬁFZﬂimiﬁQﬁE
loss ERE — 2,133
Share-based payment VAR (7 B 2R 2 S+t 2,311 2,859
(Reversal of)/provision for BEZHz (@),
onerous contracts B (40,656) 26,656
Operating loss before working capital  &E &€ E &A1~
changes KEEE (26,516) (12,482)
— Inventories — 78 (2,627) 105,231
— Trade and bill receivables — BUEER R EER 30,459 (34,076)
— Prepayments, deposits and — BFE  EZE R
other receivables Hﬁﬁ}ﬂi&ﬁ%m 66,200 9,834
— Amounts due from joint ventures — EWE L RRIFIA (2,403) (78,133)
— Trade and bill payables = JEHEETA&KF (116,810) 141,207
— Receipts in advance — TEYRIE 3,782 (4,522)
— Accrued liabilities and — B EER
other payables H b fE T BR K 10,993 (107,660)
Net cash (used in)/generated from &R/ Bzie
operations HEE (36,922) 19,399
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

35 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 35 MEHEREKR(E)
(continued)
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REEHRERERT HEWE -

proceeds from disposals of property, plant
and equipment comprise:

BERREZRERARE :

2019 2018
—E-hF A S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net book amount (Note 14) REFRE(AT ez 14) 1,483 192
Gain/(loss) on disposals of property, HEWE - BE L& E
plant and equipment (Note 7) ZWas (Es18) (KiiF7) 1,006 (39)
Sales proceeds of disposals of HEWME - BEREZEE
property, plant and equipment ZSHEFTSRIE 2,489 153
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (c) METE2EEHER
activities
Liabilities from financing activities
mEITEAE
Borrowing Borrowing
due within due after
1 year 1 year Total
—FREH —F &2
ZER ZER B
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET BT
Net debt as at AT —N\F
1st April 2018 MA— B2 #E 947,565 611,292 1,558,857
Proceeds from bank RITHEE
borrowings FR18 518 55,997 254,372 310,369
Repayment of bank Bz
borrowings RITEE (120,531) (129,683) (250,214)
Net decrease in trust receipt ErEKIERITER
bank loans R A (90,962) — (90,962)
Other non-cash movements H i IEIR & & &) 3,621 2,759 6,380
Foreign exchange SNGE
adjustments THEE (7,980) (33,901) (41,881)
Net debt as at RZZE—NEF
31st March 2019 ZRA=+—B2FES 787,710 704,839 1,492,549
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

B IR M

36 Acquisitions and Disposal

(a) Acquisition of VSC Construction Steel

Solutions Limited

On 30th April 2018, NatSteel Holdings Pte. Ltd.
(“NatSteel”), VSC Steel Processing, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, VSC Steel
Processing Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, the Company
and VSC Construction (formerly known as TVSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited) entered into
an agreement for certain arrangement in relation to
VSC Construction, among others:

(i) each of NatSteel and VSC Processing agreed
to subscribe for 45,000,000 shares of VSC
Construction at HK$1 per share respectively
(the “Share Subscriptions”); and

(iiy following the completion of the Share
Subscriptions, NatSteel transferred the legal
and beneficial interests of all its shares of VSC
Construction held or owned by itself to VSC
Processing at a nominal consideration of HK$1
payable by VSC Processing.

The Group satisfied the Share Subscriptions of
HK$45,000,000 through the conversion of amount
due from a joint venture into capital contribution and
such conversion formed a part of the investment in
VSC Construction as at 31st March 2018.

The transfer of shares from NatSteel to VSC
Processing was completed on 9th May 2018, since
then VSC Construction has become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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36

W BE I &

(a)

Yy B VSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited

RZ—ZZ—A\FWMA =+ A8 ' NatSteel
Holdings Pte. Ltd.([NatSteell) - & &
EMMINT - AR TZF'?&iéfMﬂ%
7)) - BIES MM I TERER AT (RA
RZAEZEWBAR) - "AFKVSC
Construction(Fi#8 TVSC Construction
Steel Solutions Limited)zT 3 175 @ AA
AR VSC Construction 2 & T %5 - Hep
BIE

(i) NatSteel X BIEEHMMMLTE A

ﬁ/_\)DJ‘H !’HX1 /%71::: ﬁﬁVSC

Construction 2 45, ooo 000 & (n
([BmREEIAE])

(i) MRMHREFETKE  NatSteel
ARBIBS MM I TEE AR
sl A 2 A VSC Construction
BhzEEREmER  BIES
8 # 0n THEA REVERE 1B

7T|:o

$EILL%§W—ﬁG*Qﬂ
45,000,000/ 7T 2 X 18 ¥ % &
BEX RO RBRESE ZEREX
RZZE—N\NF=ZA=+—HRVSC
Construction % & 2 — &% °

NatSteel R —Z— \FH A NLH /K E
ERHTEIESHAMINT - BUL#EVSC
Construction X B2 A 7 Z 2 E K
NG



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 Acquisitions and Disposal (Continued)

(a) Acquisition of VSC Construction Steel

Solutions Limited (Continued)

e SRR MR

36 WERHEGHE)

(a) Y B VSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited (&)

HK$’000
FETT
Consideration: RE :
— Cash paid — BEftR& —
— Fair value of 50% shares held by — ANABFTEF50% XD
the Company ZAREE 18,699
18,69_5_9"__
Less: Net assets acquired B AT 2B AR EEKE
at fair value of: ZFEERR -
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - BEREE 29,167
— Trade and other receivables, — R REAERER - ZE &
deposits and prepayments AT IR 10,643
— Cash and cash equivalents — BeMReFE 47,497
— Pledged bank deposits — BEFRITER 1,156
— Inventories — FE 6,804
— Trade and other payables — BT R E A FE T AR TR (32,710)
— Borrowings — EBE (5,308)
— Amount due to the Group — ERAEBERR (19,996)
37,25_’%_"
Gain on bargain purchase W B R B 2 Wias 18,554
An analysis on net cash flows arising from DRERKESHEEL 2B REFE
the step acquisition: DT
Net cash consideration HeREFH —
Add: Cash and cash equivalents acquired i : FTREEIR & RIREEHE 47,497
Net cash acquired from the acquisition of  YE&E—FEIH B A A
a subsidiary 2 P38 & 7t F RE 47,497

The gain on bargain purchase of HK$18,554,000
was mainly resulted from the commercial negotiation
of NatSteel and VSC Processing after considering
liquidity and operation needs of VSC Construction.

The acquired business contributed revenue of
HK$114,237,000 and net loss of HK$36,123,000 to the
Company for the period from 10th May 2018 to 31st
March 2019. If the acquisition had occurred on 1st
April 2018, the consolidated revenue and consolidated
profit after tax of the Company for the year ended 31st
March 2019 would have been HK$2,884,447,000 and
HK$3,003,000 respectively.

Uk B% 5% {8 U 25 18,554,000/8 7t £ E A R
NatSteel &2 & JIB § & # 11 T & & B VSC
ConstructionZ iEN B & M & ET BB ETT
P SERER MELE °

FINBEBR _TE—\FRAT+HE_Z
—NE=ZA=T—HHMALRRERKA
114,237,0007%8 7T K& /& 18 /% 836,123,000
BT o MWEBEEEN -2 /\EmA— B3
A RARREE_T—NAF=ZA=+—HIt
FEZBRBELEEVAREE BFED R A
2,884,447,0007% 7T & 3,003,000 B 7T ©

Annual Report 2018/19 42

195



NOTES TO THE CONSOUDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 Acquisitions and Disposal (Continued) 36 WEREHE(E)
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary (b) Wi —REKMIE AR
On 1st December 2017, Top Praise Ventures (HK) R-ZE—+FE+=-H—08 - KEEE
Limited, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary (BEB)ABRAR(KARzHEEEEE
of the Company completed the acquisition of BB A Al ) SERK A KB 43,549, OOO/%
100% equity interest of Fanrich Consultants TWEKEREZRALEE)BERA
(Shanghai) Limited (“Fanrich”) at a consideration of ([5k3 1) 100% B °

approximately HK$3,549,000.

Fanrich is principally engaged in the provision of KEFERE FBRFRELELAR
the investment consultancy service in Shanghai. % o

The relative fair values of assets acquired and RIERKE EEREIEZBEZ
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date is HMEAREESTWT

analysed as follows:

HK$’000
FET
Consideration paid as at acquisition date  FAULEE B 87 2 (8 3,549
Assets and liabilities: EERBE:
— Property and equipment — MEREAE 152
— Trade and other receivables — FEUNBR Fk N E fih E W BR FX 771
— Cash and cash equivalents — BHehHREEE 855
— Accruals and other payables — A ERANRHEMEMERER (723)
Total identifiable net assets acquired 2T B A EAE 1,055
Add: Goodwill (Note 17) n: mERZE17) 2,494
3,549
An analysis on net cash flows arising from the WHEEZREREFEIDN
acquisition:
HK$°000
FET
Net cash consideration e KRB FEEE 3,549
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired g : 2 WWER S KESZE (855)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a Wi — B AR EE
subsidiary ZIRE L FEE 2,694
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 Acquisitions and Disposal (Continued)

(c) Disposal of a subsidiary

On 30th November 2018, the Company disposed its
100% equity interest of Vantage Godown Company
Limited (“Vantage”) to an independent third party at
a consideration of HK$5,900,000.

e SRR MR

36 WERHEGHE)
(c) HE—BHBLRA

R-F-N\F+—H=1+8 " A2
rﬂ—%ﬁjfﬁ_ﬁﬂjmﬁnﬁﬁ*if%ﬁ
BRAB(MNEZ])Z 100% B HE - KER
5,900,000 7T

Vantage is principally engaged in provision of EZE = ZR BB SIRE R ER -
warehousing services in Hong Kong.
The carrying values of assets disposed and REEBHRZEEFEEMEREAE
liabilities assumed at the disposal date is analysed ZEREEITAT
as follows:
HK$’000
FET
Consideration received as at disposal date RHEEHHZ 2 WAE 5,900
Assets and liabilities: BEIAE:
— Land use rights — T {E AR 95
— Property and equipment — MEREAE 2
— Deferred tax asset — RREFIEEE 490
Total identifiable net assets disposed BEMHAEEFEER 587
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE — B A Rz W 5,313
An analysis on net cash flows arising AR EEEMBSRFESTET
from the disposal:
HK$’000
FET
Net cash consideration WL FERE 5,900
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed g : 2 E€Re MRS ZE —
Net cash inflow from the disposal of a HE— B AR
subsidiary ZHEERAFRE 5,900
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BRI

37 Transactions With Non-Controlling Interests

(a)

(b)

(c)

Deemed disposal of China Sources
Technology Limited and its subsidiaries

On 20th November 2017, VSC China Property
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
transferred its 100% equity interest in China
Sources Technology Limited and its subsidiaries
to Hongkong and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd., a
60% owned subsidiary of the Company. As such,
the Company deemed to dispose of 40% equity
interest in China Sources Technology Limited
and its subsidiaries. The Company recorded an
increase in non-controlling interest of approximately
HK$8,044,000 and a decrease in other reserve of
approximately HK$8,044,000.

Deemed disposal of Optimum Sage (HK)
Limited

On 27th December 2017, SC Renewable Resources
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, transferred its 100% equity interest
in Optimum Sage (HK) Limited (formerly known as
VSC Engineering Products Company Limited), to
Optimum Sage Limited, a 60% owned subsidiary
of the Company. As such, the Company deemed
to dispose of 40% equity interest in Optimum Sage
(HK) Limited. The Company recorded an increase in
non-controlling interest of approximately HK$20,000
and a decrease in other reserve of approximately
HK$20,000.

Disposal of 30% of equity interest in Top
Praise Ventures Limited and Optimum Sage
Limited

On 2nd February 2018, Hongkong and Shanghai
Land Capital Ltd. entered into a share transfer
agreement with Alpha Knight Limited, an
independent third party, for the sale of 30% of
equity interest in Top Praise Ventures Limited
and Optimum Sage Limited at a consideration of
approximately HK$1,042,000 and HK$1,411,000
respectively. The Company recorded an increase in
non-controlling interest of approximately HK$45,000
and an increase in other reserve of approximately
HK$2,498,000.
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37

B EGIMRRETHIRS

(a)

(b)

(c)

# | 1 H EChina Sources
Technology Limited X i 82
Gl

R_Z—+tF+—HF=+8 ' A2FRZ
& KB A7) VSC China Property Limited
#5E 7 China Sources Technology Limited
REKERAZ100% KR EEETIE
BHWEEAABR AR —RARD A
HEEORBEEZHNBE AR AL
N A A # R & & China Sources
Technology Limited X HHfE A &l 2
40% FRHE o AN EIERAS FE1E il M R a0
JN#%)8,044,000 7 7T K E A i I A &
8,044,000 T ©

BREHEEE(FR)ARLQA

R-ZZE—+E+-_A=++8 A2 7A
ZEEWNBARAIESBEERKEE
BRERARBEREE(FE)ERA
RAIEEIEE TRRERER AR )
100% RiEEZE TEEBRAA 0 —X
RAREEHG0%REZHBAF -
I AREHRAELEES (BB)AR
AR 40% PEHE o A R RS IEEFI
HE 25 3 10 49 20,000 78 7T K2 £ A {6 48 8
A4920,0008 7T ©

HERBEERATIRRERKRE
PR A B 2 30% fR &

R-ZEBE—N\E=-A=H  EBSHEEN
B R AR EIE 7 5 = 75 Alpha Knight
Limited AT M2 Bk D B & 7% - A B &
HEEEER AR REEERARZ30%
Atz - RE DRI A% 1,042,000
T 1,411,0008 7T © ANA A 815 FE1E
) 14 5 25 12 AN 49 45,000 78 7T & H b
R %)2,498,0008 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 Commitments

(a) Commitments under operating leases

()

(ii)

Lessor

The Group leases investment properties under
non-cancellable operating lease agreements.
The lease agreements are renewable at the
end of the lease period at market rate.

Total commitments receivable under various
non-cancellable operating lease agreements

e SRR MR

38 &L
(a) EXBEERE
(i) HHEA
AEMMBETAIBE LAY

HEREYZE - B AEHBAE
MR ATISREER ©

SR EMEMRI L2 Z (0T AR
HEXHEZ RUAEBESN

in respect of rented premises are analysed as R
follows:
2019 2018
—®-NF —T )\
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Not later than one year ARign 1 F 30,829 23,043
Lessee (i) FEHEA

The Group leases various retail outlets, offices,
warehouses and site under non-cancellable
operating lease agreements. The majority of
lease agreements are renewable at the end of
the lease period at market rate.

Total commitments payable under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements in

ASEERENAHEEXHED
EEZETERE HAE B
BRI - KeBoHA R £
JEmEATISTHEER

AT E M R] L2 &0 Al
HEXBO B RERES T

respect of rented premises are analysed as JURNE
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Not later than one year R 1 F 28,258 33,490
Later than one year and not later #1114 M K#E5F
than five years 29,751 48,298
58,009 81,788
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RS ERAR MY EE

38 Commitments (Continued) 38 A&IE(HE)
(b) Capital commitments (b) EAREE
Capital commitments at the end of the reporting RIRE R 2 BEARNEAENT :

period are as follows:

2019 2018
—E-NE —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contracted but not provided for: B RTAE # AR B
Renovation work for an investment —{ERE%E 2 BE T2
property 1,403 3,865
39 Related Party Transactions 39 HEAMAZXS
(a) Transactions @ X3
The following is a summary of significant related MAREFEEEBIEPETZ2EKRHA
party transactions, which were carried out in the BALTRSGBENT :
normal course of the Group’s business:
2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Management fee income from RERE T
services provided to =XVNE]
joint ventures ZBEBERA (i) 40,800 60,799
Sales of goods to: HEEmT :
— a joint venture — —fEAEERNT (ii) 3,256 34,230
— an associate —EH = A A (iii) 76,489 42,753
79,745 76,983
Purchase of goods from: BEEmE -
— a joint venture — *F&ﬁé%@ﬁj (iv) 189 1,922
— an associate — —[EEtE A A (v) 56,856 23,034
57,045 24,956
Disposal service income received BdE —E&L AT
from a joint venture H &S RS 2 WA (vi) — 11,703
Service fee paid to a NF—HEEe&ERAH
joint venture Z R E (vii) — 9,029
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(a) Transactions (Continued)

(b)

e SRR MR

39 EEEAMEL 2% (&)
(a) X% (#)

Notes: et -

(i) Management services were provided by E/&#EREHEL (i) AARRNEENBAR ST ERE
42 HPR AR, Hongkong and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd. and RELERAT  BAEMEEAER AR R
VSC Steel Processing Holdings Limited, indirect subsidiaries EIEE MM TEER AR A GIRE S ERF
of the Company, to joint ventures at prices mutually agreed BEZBERRASEQARREZEBR
by both parties.

(i)  Goods were sold by VSC Steel Company Limited, an (i) AAEW—HEREMNBARSIESWES
indirect subsidiary of the Company, to a joint venture at RARIAERREZ BRA—HEERF
prices mutually agreed by both parties. HEEY -

(i)  Goods were sold by Shanghai Bao Shun Chang International (i) A2FAM—HBEENERAR LEEIES
Trading Co., Ltd., an indirect subsidiary of the Company, to BRESERARINEFRE ZER M
an associate at prices mutually agreed by both parties. AAELEEY -

(iv)  VSC Steel Company Limited and He Tai Steel Co., Limited, (iv) ZAARHEERBAREIESMEERA
indirect subsidiaries of the Company, purchased goods AIRMEMEERARANETRE ZER
from a joint venture at prices mutually agreed by both m—HEEEAREESER -
parties.

(v)  Shanghai Bao Shun Chang International Trading Co., Ltd., (v) AR HEEWNERARLEEIESR
an indirect subsidiary of the Company, purchased goods BRESERARNESTREZ ZEKR—ME
from an associate at prices mutually agreed by both parties. BENEEEER -

(viy  Disposal service income was received by Hongkong and (viy HERBKABERQRR—HEEEHBA
Shanghai Land Capital Ltd., an indirect subsidiary of the RAEBMEERERARBAAG—Ha
Company, from HCM, a joint venture, in relation to the EARHCMIRE - REHFRE Z BB
provision of consultancy service for the disposal of the EHCM Z I8 A Rl &R ARES ©
subsidiary of HCM at prices mutually agreed by both
parties.

(vii)  Service fee was paid by VSC China Property Limited, an (vii) AR A& EE KB 2 "VSC China
indirect subsidiary of the Company, to a joint venture, for Property Limited X4 F—fH& & A RZMR
providing consultancy and referral service at prices mutually BB RERTHEZERREHBZRALEN
agreed by both parties. BR7s o

Key management compensation (b) FEEEEHRM

2019 2018
—®-nE ——)N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

Salaries and allowances e KOERG 14,282 13,760

Bonus TE4T 5,483 8,426

Pension costs RIRE KA

— defined contribution schemes — REHREE 315 367

Share-based payment VAR 1 B ERE 2 T 33 358

20,113 22,911
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

B IR M

39 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(c) Corporate guarantee

As of 31st March 2018, the Company provides
corporate guarantee of HK$2,806,000 to VSC
Construction for bank facilities amounting to
HK$5,611,000, which was fully utilised and the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that it
is not probable that the above guarantee would be
called upon.

39 EHERAMAL 23X % (&)
(c) ARER

R-_ZTE—NE=ZF=+—H ' &AQ
7l 3 88 17 R & 5,611,000 JT [ VSC
Construction #2 f£ 2,806,000 7 JT H) A
AR - EERECEBEHA  mARQ

AIESRA LR ERT AR

BT °

EEEWENR

40 Statement of Financial Position and Reserve 40 ZAAQATHERARREBEEE
Movement of The Company
2019 2018
—E-hEF — \F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB AR 2% E 657,564 670,466
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits FERFRIE - e
and other receivables T oA e U BR 3k 66 68
Cash and cash equivalents RekFeEE 802 621
868 689
Total assets WEE 658,432 671,155
Equity Em
Capital and reserves attributable to &2 F#EE A
owners of the Company BRRAR FE
Share capital A& X 64,123 64,055
Reserves (=] 593,456 606,359
Total equity R 657,579 670,414
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables fEzt & & K H {th fE 5 BR 7% 853 741
Total equity and liabilities EEkBEEE 658,432 671,155
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40 Statement of Financial Position and Reserve 40 XA THERRIRZEEEE (&)
Movement of The Company (Continued)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) AATRREEERS
Share Capital
Share option redemption Contributed Retained
premium reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
RiEE BRERSE EXEDRE HARE REEF g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
Note (i) Note (ii)
iz () i (i)
At 1st April 2017 RZZ—tENA—-H 426,676 7,247 79,684 53,986 7,573 575,166
Profit for the year FE&EF — — — = 47,539 47,539
Share-based payment IR BERE 2 21 — 444 — — — 444
Shares repurchased and RipEE
cancelled & (807) = 940 = (940) (807)
Dividends paid BfRE — — — — (15,983) (15,983)
At 31st March 2018 RZZ-N\F=A=1—H 425,869 7,691 80,624 53,986 38,189 606,359
Loss for the year FEEE — — — — (3,178) (3,178)
Share-based payment IR AERE 2 21 — 56 — — — 56
Exercise of share option IR E 384 (108) — — — 276
Lapse of share option BRERY — (5,244) — — 5,244 =
Dividends paid BERRE — — — — (10,057 (10,057
At 31st March 2019 R=E-N$=zA=1-H 426,253 2,395 80,624 53,986 30,198 593,456
Notes: et -
(i) The capital redemption reserve has been established upon (i) B REE O B B R BB O I D B 5R AL ©
repurchase of shares.
(i)  The contributed surplus of the Company represents the (i) ARFHARBEREEEBRERE R

difference between the aggregate of the nominal values
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired at the date of
acquisition, over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange thereof.

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus
is also available for distribution to shareholders. However,
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) the Company
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value
of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.

A2 B A7) T (B 48 78 B2 AN 2 B (& L B 9T LA ME
R D EEME R 5 o

BRERBEFN  REARE-AN-FA
BDAEIERT)  BABRKITA DK TR
o AT ¢ i (i) AR B SR SR R 12 1
PREXNEIHZ 8 F : K (i) ARRZATE
REEARENERBEREETRARBRND
wERZAE  AIARATEEHRARER
HEIRFERERBHAELDIK
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Subsequent Events

On 17th April 2019, Green Success Global Limited
(“Green Success”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, and an independent third party entered
into a sales and purchase agreement pursuant to which
the independent third party has agreed to acquire and
Green Success has agreed to sell, the entire issued
share capital of He Tai Steel Co., Limited (“He Tai”) at
a consideration of HK$15,000,000. An impairment loss
of approximately HK$1,181,000 on property, plant and
equipment of He Tai was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31st March 2019
based on the net asset value of He Tai as at 31st March
2019.

Upon completion of the transfer of shares of He Tai from
Green Success to the independent third party on 30th
April 2019, He Tai ceased to be an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBB&ERER QA
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REBREE

—NLFNA++EH  AARZHEESR
E KB /A5 Green Success Global Limited
([Green Success|)EB 75 = F 5] B
EWE Bl BYF=— sERBEWEM
Green SuccessNE REHEMEMEHF
ANE([FZE D E2HEBHTRA REA
15,000,000 7T ° REBFFMFR _ZE—NF=
B=+—HZEEFE EVE BEER
HREEEZA1,181,0008T REE 2
—NEZA=Z+—BHLEFEZHERBIRERF

B Green Success? —NFHA=+H
TERR HE N 2R 2 BR AP E%;t?%i%_ﬁé AN
FIBEAARRZEZEZENBEAR -
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